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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors of Yashili International Holdings Ltd (the
“Company”), | hereby present the annual report of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred as the “Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2011 to all shareholders. Year 2011 was full of challenges in
the course of our development. Upholding our corporate objectives of
quality maintenance and development with reputation, the Group insists
on the strict management and control of all products from milk sources
to final products during the year, laying a solid foundation for our future
growth and development.

During the year under review, our operating revenue increased slightly
from 2010. Under the impact of the decrease in gross profit due to the
surge in the cost of raw materials, the decrease in tax subsidies, the surge
in advertising expenses and the termination of certain taxation
concessions previously enjoyed by the Group, in 2011, net profit
attributable to shareholders of the Group has dropped to RMB306.3
million and the basic earnings per share amounted to RMB8.7 cents. To
reward our shareholders’ support, the board of directors has proposed to
distribute a final dividend of RMB5.68 cents per share, totaling RMB200.1
million and representing a payout ratio of 65.3%.

Letter to Shareholders
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Letter to Shareholders (continued)

FRRBE (R

Strengthening quality control of our products and
providing value-added services to consumers

In 2011, we insisted on adopting premium raw milk sources
completely imported from overseas (mainly from New Zealand) for
the production of our pediatric milk formula. In addition, apart from
the establishment of the Food Quality and Safety Advisory
Committee of the Group in August 2010, in April 2011, we
specifically established an authoritative academic research
institution, named “Yashili Professional Nursery Team with National
Qualification”, which consists of nationally renowned top experts in
fields such as maternity, pregnancy care, pediatrics, infants,
nutrition and immunity, inheritance, psychology, prenatal education
and preschool education. The team would provide guidance on the
research and development of our new products, upgrading of
safety and quality as well as provide training on after-sales services
with its professional advices, which has enabled the Group to
provide professional, comprehensive and intimate care to pregnant
mothers and mothers of newborn babies in respect of childbirth,
nursing and education. The Group has also participated in the
maternal and child projects in China, and compiled with Association
on Eugenics and Quality Education of China (FElE4AEEH =)
the Guidance on Eugenics and Children Nursery of China ({/ B &
H R EF 515 E)) which is distributed across China. The General
Administration of Quality Supervision has also required that all
enterprises engaging in the manufacturing of dairy products and
pediatric milk formula shall re-apply for production permits and
those without the new production permits shall be suspended from
production by the end of March 2011, and all dairy enterprises
comprising the Group have successfully obtained the production
permits. In May 2011, the Standardization Administration of the
People’s Republic of China conferred the “Product Logo on the
Adoption of International Standard (% /8 BFR 12 % & 2 8)"
certificate to Yashili. In November 2011, Guangdong Yashili Group
Company Limited (“Yashili (Guangdong)”), our subsidiary, has
passed the assessment on the Credibility Management System (CMS)
on Food and Industrial Enterprises (IR B m TE D EAEE B
52 %), and has become the first food production enterprise to
participate in the credibility assessment and ultimately conferred
with the certificate in Guangdong Province. In the same month,
Scient (Guangzhou) Baby Nourishment Co., Ltd. (”Scient
(Guangzhou)”) was awarded the “Model Enterprise for Food
Safety” by the ninth China Food Safety Annual Conference.

Yashili International Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2011
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Resources integration and promotion of long term
development

To meet the development needs of the Group, we have conducted
the reconstruction and division of the marketing structure to form
different departments, namely the milk powder business
department, brewed food business department and liquid business
department. The milk powder business department is mainly
responsible for the operations related to pediatric milk powder, rice
flour and milk powder for adults; the brewed food business
department is mainly responsible for the operations related to soy
milk powder and cereal; the liquid business department is mainly
responsible for the development and sales of new liquid products.

The Group has always upheld the concept that talents represent the
most important asset. Via integration of internal and external
talents, the Group places focus on internal training while acts
actively on recruitment, thereby attracting a number of senior
management talents and elites in the industry to join. On top of the
above, the Group also strives to create a desirable environment for
talents to put their efforts in full play and realize the appreciation in
terms of talents, which in turn plays a significant role in maintaining
our sustainable development.

Letter to Shareholders (continued)
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Letter to Shareholders (continued)

FRRBE (R

According to the forecast of most economists, the outlook of global
economy in 2012 is not quite optimistic. Nevertheless, as the impact on
dairy industry imposed by macro-economic environment is relatively small
and with its relatively strong degree of independence, it is estimated that
the industry would still maintain a steady growth. With the general
expectation of a higher birth rate within 2012, the year of dragon, in
China, the demand for pediatric products, including pediatric milk
powder, would in turn be stimulated, thereby showing a quite promising
picture for the industry’s development. The Group will capture such
opportunities and gradually launch out a number of new products,
including products imported in their original forms and innovative milk
formulas. Apart from that, the Group will continue to enhance its sales
network and strengthen the co-operation with its suppliers and
distributors. The Group believes that it would maintain a significant
growth during the year and hopes to reward all shareholders with fruitful
returns.

Lastly, on behalf of the board of directors, | hereby express my sincere
gratitude to the management and all employees for their commitment to
the Group, to shareholders for their strong support and to customers for
their trust in our products. In the coming year, starting on a higher
benchmark with more uncertainties, in spite of countless difficulties and
great challenges are awaiting us ahead, | strongly believe that, with
specific objectives and firm implementation, our hard work and efforts
would lay a solid foundation for our next cycle of rapid growth.

Zhang Lidian
Chairman

20 March 2012
Chaozhou, Guangdong Province
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Selected Financial Data

PR 22 B9 B 55 BUE

Year ended 31 December 2011 2010 Change
BZNRANMBLEE & &
SUMMARY OF OPERATIONS EERE
Turnover =3 2,957.8 2,954.4 +0.1%
Profit attributable to PiN/NE]

equity shareholders fRERE A

of the Company FEAE & FI 306.3 502.4 -39.0%
Net operating cashflow KeReRe 78 458.3 313.0 +46.4%
PER SHARE DATA BREE
Basic earnings per share BREARNEF

(RMB cents) (AR¥5) 8.7 16.6 ~47.6%
Diluted earnings per share BREERTF

(RMB cents) (AR#5) 8.6 16.3 47 2%
Proposed final dividend BEEK

per share (RMB cents) AR E(ARED) 5.68 7.00 -18.9%
Dividend payout ratio* % 8.5 K £ =& * 65.3% 49.0% +16.3%
Net asset value per share (RMB) BRFEE (AR 1.08 1.07 +0.9%
BALANCE SHEET DATA EEEBERYE
Total assets BEE 4,643.6 4,480.7 +3.6%
Net assets FEE 3,804.0 3,729.9 +2.0%

* Proposed final dividend per share of RMB5.68 cents times 3,522,946,132 *
shares, and divided by profit attributable to shareholders of the Company of

RMB306,258,000

A 2% 306,258,000

HEFERERERAT 2011FFR
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Amidst the fluctuation in global economy and the unexpected outbreak
of the European debt crisis in 2011, the Chinese economy still achieved a
steady growth, yet investment remained the major driving force for
economic growth. Driven by the increase in salary cost and raw material
cost under mounting inflation, the manufacturing cost of our products
surged significantly.

For the dairy industry, dairy enterprises in China have increased their
focus on products and enhanced control on milk sources with a view to
optimize the industry chain. Some enterprises conduct extensive
construction of farms and modifications on production techniques
domestically, while others choose to acquire upstream milk source
enterprises overseas to launch high-end differentiated products for
expansion and penetration in terms of market shares. Foreign milk
powder enterprises also continue to expand their sales channels
downward to more second-tier and third-tier cities, while some new
entrants outsource their production processes to upstream enterprises
overseas and only involve in branding and sales in order to penetrate into
the largest pediatric milk powder market in the world. Market
competition is gradually keener at the moment given the rising number
of emerging industry players.

W
\\
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In respect of government policies, the Ministry of Health has promulgated
the “National Food Safety Standard — Older Infants and Young Children
Formula ((ERMZEZBRIFE — BWABRMHEAEHLRM) ) and
“National Food Safety Standard — Infant Formula ( (B & 2 BKIZ%E
— BFEHEM)Y ) (hereunder abbreviated as the “New National
Standards”) in 2010, which were duly implemented on 1 April 2011. The
New National Standards focus on imposing more stringent quality
requirements for the health and safety standards and nutrition standards
of pediatric milk formula. The General Administration of Quality
Supervision has also required that all enterprises engaging in the
manufacturing of dairy products and pediatric milk formula shall re-apply
for production permits and those without the new production permits
shall be suspended from production by the end of March 2011, and all
dairy enterprises in the Group have successfully obtained the production
permits.

In respect of the import of milk source, in the first half of 2011, the price
of raw milk powder in New Zealand has shown a relatively significant
surge under the influence of drought and earthquake. In the second half
of 2011, the price began to drop gradually along with the gradual
recovery of the supply.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (continued)
EEE & B AT ()

Established in 1983, we mainly focus on the production and sales of
pediatric milk formula products and nutrition food since 1998. In 2002,
we launched the Scient brand pediatric milk formula. Our headquarter is
situated in Chaozhou, Guangdong province with plants distributed in
Guangdong, Shanxi and Heilongjiang, etc.

We are a leading player in China’s pediatric milk formula industry, and
also have a leading position in the soymilk powder market in China. Our
business mode integrates high brand recognition, imported premium
dairy raw materials and proprietary formula, striving to establish a high
standard of quality supervision and quality assurance system. For aspects
such as supply, production and distribution chain, quality control
measures are improved continuously in the pursuit of becoming a first-
class enterprise in the research and production of pediatric milk formula.
We strictly follows the national standard to formulate a comprehensive
quality assurance plan, which is fully implemented in the corporate level,
striving for providing the consumers with safe and premium products.

Leveraging on the product series under well recognized brands such as
Yashily, Scient, Zhengwei and Youyi, we strive to develop trustworthy
nutrition products for consumers,with a view to facilitate the healthy
growth of infants and young children nationwide and satisfy the nutrition
needs of adults. Our business model integrates key factors including
imported premium dairy raw materials, proprietary milk formula and
various nutrient food, production conditions meeting top international
standards, consultant system formed by national children nursery experts,
quality assurance committee formed by internationally authoritative food
technology experts and professional marketing team with thorough
knowledge on the consumer market in China, thereby providing all
consumers with products of assurance.

The Group's products mainly include:

J Yashily Pediatric infant formula powder

o Scient Pediatric infant formula powder

o Nutrition Food including milk powder for adults and teenagers

under Youyi Brand, soymilk powder, rice flour and cereal under
Yashily brand and cereal series under Zhengwei brand

Yashili International Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2011

REBIBAIR1983F - B1998F RF B H
AREEMHEEBDRE SN ERRE
ERMEB - 002FHHEERBEEYT
B R D o REB BB ERBINT - £
EE U BEETIEHES TR -

AEBELATHRENDREDDMITENR
BELEX ETPEZPIMEEMSTIBES
Wh  AEEEBHRALES BEOSRA
EEOBEIRRMA 8 THBERT
HOARBYSKINEEEENEERE
BE EHE LEMEHBREE T E
TN ETEXBER SHERKAMH
REBENDEZESPHHO—REE NREEE
RETEREE FIE2EMNEEREZS
g YHECEEEEEET DRABES

RHZEMELEMR -

AEBBRERELHN 8 ERRERE
mhE BIRREECSHFEENERE
mo WHREZEZHENREKRE MR
ERAEEFTE - AKBENEBEANGES
TEOBENIBRME HEEB MR
ERNESTHHRZBEERR BEKRIR
REEMEERG BRABEREFTAK
MEARS BEREEERMHMERERERK
MEEZ2ZBERATTEBEENESH
EXZHBEBRFREAREZ REANHES
RHEAFELRENER -

o HELFIon ke 245 ECTT D
s ERMEEBHRZETT NN
e ZERmM(BEERMEKXARETD

FOHW - FELAMREIIH - KB
BERARERmMBER)



Management’s Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Marketing and brand building

We sell our products via a comprehensive national sales and
distribution network, which covers all regions within mainland
China. Such network comprises of around 1,300 regional
distributors, who directly or indirectly distribute our products to
over 95,000 retail outlets, including supermarkets, department
stores, speciality stores and large membership chain supermarkets
as well as grocery stores. In particular, the Company has made
significant achievement in the exploration of the maternal and child
product channel, which has effectively boosted up the market share
of the channel. Our extensive distribution network is formed by
more than 2,000 marketing staff under the support of over 500
liaison locations.

We have implemented a system of sales management and an
efficient structure of incentives to continuously attract and motivate
capable distributors and staff to increase our revenue and market
share. Our stringent control over our distribution network ensures
that all distributors manage sales and customer contacts in their
designated sales territories according to our distribution policy and
sales strategy. Our effective tracking system, in which a unique two-
dimensional bar code is marked on each packing unit, allows us to
track the details and movement of every finished product by
distributors and effectively prevent distributors’ cross-territory sales.
Over our long operating history, by providing our distributors with
an effective system of sales management and superior sales and
distribution network, we have been able to develop a stable
network of distributors and establish close partnerships. Over 30%
of our distributors had maintained a business relationship with us
for over 5 years, of which some even span for more than 20 years.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (continued)
EEE & B AT ()

To provide more detailed and better services and realize
professionalism in our operation, in 2011, the Group has conducted
the reconstruction and division of the marketing structure to form
different departments, namely the milk powder business
department, brewed food business department, liquid business
department and nutrition department. The milk powder business
department is mainly responsible for the operations related to
pediatric milk powder, rice flour and milk powder for adults; the
brewed food business department is mainly responsible for the
operations related to soy milk powder and cereal; the liquid
business department is mainly responsible for the development and
sales of new liquid products; and the nutrition department is mainly
responsible for the advertisement and promotion of products and
the nutrient contents via organizing academic activities such as
medical salon to enhance the interaction with consumers.

In terms of brand building, in 2011, we have undertaken an
exercise to rationalize our positioning and image. Integrated
marketing broadcast for the brand was implemented through the
introduction of professional planning team, which, with the
promotion of high quality and 100% imported milk powder, has
enhanced consumers’ confidence in our Group's products.
Celebrities with healthy image were selected as our brand
spokespersons, and with the production of our new commercials,
the familiarity of our brand was strengthened, while highlighting
our products’ premium quality and safety.

In June 2011, the 2011 (8th session) World Brand Summit and the
press conference for the release of the 500 most valuable brand in
China was held in Beijing, and Yashili was named one of the 500
most valuable brand in China again with a brand value of
RMB7.775 billion, ranking 163 and representing its eighth
consecutive times being named.

Yashili International Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2011
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Along with the emergence and development of internet in recent
years, significant breakthroughs have been achieved in terms of the
innovative marketing for the industry, and hybrid marketing mode
(that is the complement of both online and offline marketing) has
gradually gained the recognition of many large corporations. As the
renowned national milk powder brand, Yashili also places its focus
on such marketing mode. In March 2011, Yashili opened its official
online flagship store in Taobao Mall, signifying the Group’s entry
into the online purchase market. The Group also opens its official
micro blog in Sina, currently being the most popular information
sharing and exchange platform. The micro blog does not only
distribute the latest news of the Group, but also serves as the
interaction channel with internet surfers on the exchange of
information and know-how for taking care of children.

Leveraging on all strong and powerful emerging platforms, Yashili
also makes interactive promotions on its products under its co-
operation with several large networking companies. In August
2011, the Group organized a large interactive event on the internet
named “Experience excellent milk sources with a trip in New
Zealand”, and the number of participants has exceeded 4 million as
at the end of 2011, which has greatly shortened the distance
between the Company and numerous consumers and achieved
excellent results of promotion. In 2012, we plan to continue to
launch out similar events.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (continued)
EEE & B AT ()

Quality control

We are dedicated to creating and continuously improving a
comprehensive system of quality control spanning across the entire
value chain from procurement to retail sales. As dairy material is the
key ingredient in pediatric milk formula, we have carefully selected
reputable suppliers located outside China to secure reliable and
high-quality raw milk sources. Even for the daily inspection, the
Group's headquarter as well as all subsidiaries spend a tremendous
amount every year. The Company implements strict inspection on
its own for every sampled batch. The number of samples for each
batch of products is no less than 5 and 64 kinds of inspection are
carried out for each batch of milk powder. With inspections at
different levels, safety could be ensured and quality production of
products is conducted in accordance with international standards.

We insist that the quality management for all products shall follow
the five principles below from milk sources to final products in the
process of production and management: (1) procure premium milk
sources and impose strict milk source management; (2)
comprehensively and reasonably adopt nutritious and safe formula
for production with the adoption of international leading
production facilities; (3) impose stringent procedure quality
management, strict inspection system and use advanced and
excellent inspection equipment; (4) strictly ensure the scientific
management of the whole supply chain from milk source to
production and from inspection to distribution; (5) continuously
attract outstanding talents to conduct production management in a
highly efficient manner.

The Group clearly sets out the objectives of enhancing the quality
of our products to ensure that all of our outputs satisfy the
qualification. In 2011, the Food Quality and Safety Committee,
formed by 6 experts on quality from countries and regions including
the United States, New Zealand, Australia, Hong Kong and China,
sent the Group’s milk powder to authoritative examination
institutions in the United States, New Zealand and Hong Kong for
examination, and the results showed that all batches and items of
milk powder sent for examination have satisfied the qualification
standard, which in turn shows that the quality of the Group’s milk
powder products has completely complied with the international
standard.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (continued)

According to the results of the monthly random examination
scheme conducted by the Administration Centre of Quality
Supervision, Inspection and Quarantine on Dairy Products of the
People’s Republic of China (BRI &G BEEEE®RBTL) as
commissioned by the China Dairy Industry Association, the quality
of pediatric milk powder products of the Group has been stable and
reliable, which complies with the requirements under the prevailing
compulsory national standard of China.

In May 2011, Yashili was awarded the “Product Logo on the
Adoption of International Standard (¥RFBFRIZAEE BIZ:)"
certificate by the Standardization Administration of the People’s
Republic of China.

In November 2011, Yashili (Guangdong), a subsidiary of the Group,
has passed the review on the Credibility Management System (CMS)
on Food and Industrial Enterprises (AR B M I EPEREEIEER),
and has become the first food production enterprise to participate
in creditability assessment and ultimately conferred with the
certificate in Guangdong Province.

In the same month, Scient (Guangzhou) was awarded the “Model
Enterprise for Food Safety” by the ninth China Food Safety Annual
Conference.

Research and development

Vegetable protein, the Group’s new product, has completed the
interim test in 2011, and the cooperation on the research of the
new production process of milk powder with the Massey University
in New Zealand has progressed smoothly. The Group also
cooperates with Agriculture University of China to conduct research
and development of high protein milk formula for the middle-aged
and elderly, which integrates plant protein and animal protein to
satisfy the intake requirement of multi-protein for the middle-aged
and elderly, raising their blood calcium level as well as improving
their bowel function.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (continued)
EEE & B AT ()

Human resources
As at 31 December 2011, the Group has a total of 5,313
employees.

We place high concern on the motivation of staff, and have
established a competitive and fair remuneration management
system. Staff remuneration includes basic salary, performance-
based bonus, welfare and benefits, such as medical, unemployment
and occupational injury insurance as well as pension. We have
adopted the share options scheme with the objectives of aligning
the interests of employees with the Group as well as attracting and
retaining more outstanding talents.

The Group aims at the long term development of its employees
with focus on the effective improvement and utilization of their
career development and capabilities as well as the formulation of
the long term growth and retaining plan for talents. A systematic
training structure is also established to provide professional training
on professional knowledge and management skills for all employees
in long term.

To continuously raise the standard of human resource management,
during the year, we have engaged a professional management
consultant firm to conduct optimization with focus on management
and control mode, organization structure, positions and duties as
well as performance management system and remuneration and
welfare policies, thereby realizing upgrades in respect of human
resources management platform and further promoting the
enhancement of effectiveness of human resources management.

The Group has also employed a software consultation company and
places focus on the upgrading of EHR in respect of every aspect of
human resources. With seamless integration with the existing office
automation system, working efficiency and information collection
would be enhanced, thereby greatly ramps up the effectiveness on
decision making and sharing of resources for the human resources
management of the Group.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Investor relations

The Group considers the effective communication with investors
and prospective investors is the essential element for enhancing
investor relations and allow investors to understand the business
performance and strategies of the Group. The Group maintains
good communication and exchange with investors with various
channels and means such as on-site reception, telephone
conference and non-trade roadshows, etc.

To foster effective communication, we have set up a website (www.
yashili.hk) available for public perusal, which contains the latest
information on our financial information, practices on corporate
governance and other data.

Social responsibilities

As a domestic dairy product enterprise, the Group has a very high
sense of social responsibilities, and performs corporate social
responsibilities in an active and passionate manner when developing
the enterprise. During the period, the Group has donated cash to
charitable organizations in “Poverty Alleviation Day in Guangdong”,
and also distributed financial support and materials to the poor and
handicapped in Chaozhou in the “National Assistance to Poor and
handicapped Day”.

Scient (Guangzhou) has always been putting efforts on the
development of charity and public welfare in China. With frequent
care and assistance placed on the orphans and disabled children in
poor and underdeveloped regions, Scient (Guangzhou) encourages
those children and their families to live their lives in a positive and
brave manner. Through Wenchuan earthquake, national massive
public welfare event “Show our care to the children” and charity
events such as “Caring Lunch” in 2011, it can be seen that Scient
(Guangzhou) expresses its love to infants and children by helping
poor families.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (continued)
EEE & B AT ()

In October 2011, China Foundation for Poverty Alleviation (/1 Bk
B X £ ) organized the donors’ meeting for the Foundation titled
“Invitation for Poverty Alleviation” in Beijing to recognize
enterprises and individuals with active participation in public welfare
for the year. Scient Company was conferred the “Public Welfare
and Care Award 2011" QO FERAZRE L ). In July 2011, Scient
(Guangzhou) was also awarded the “Advanced Unit on Arranging
the Employment of the Disabled” by the government of Luogang in
Guangzhou.

In 2011, the Group donated a total of money and materials of over
RMB2.0 million to charitable initiatives.

Analysis on Industry Trend

Along with the acceleration of urbanization in China, surge in
disposable income, sustainable increase in consumption level,
prolonged peak of birth rate and the increase in the number of
working mothers, unprecedented market opportunities have been
brought to enterprises of pediatric milk formula industry. According
to the estimates of Euromonitor International, for 2015, the scale of
pediatric food market in China is anticipated to reach RMB90
billion, of which, milk formula and supplementary food would
account for approximately RMB80 billion and RMB10 billion
respectively. The market scale in 2015 would be expanded twice as
compared with that in 2010.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (continued)

To facilitate the healthy development of the industry, the
government has introduced a series of policies in recent years to
modify standardization and raise the entry barrier, hence fostering
the integration of the industry to ensure the quality and safety of
products. In our opinion, as the government and leading enterprises
place high concern on food safety, the gradual optimization of
policies and system framework will effectively solve the safety
problem in the dairy product industry. Although it still requires a
relatively long process, consumers’ confidence on domestic brand is
set to be recovered gradually in the future. The pediatric milk
powder industry in China is now in a watershed with the
vanishment of old operation mode and no establishment of the
new mode. To all dairy enterprises, such situation marks an
opportunity yet also a challenge. For the entire dairy industry in
China, the way to explore into a larger market is to clearly
understand the current situation and actively solve the problems
existing in the development of the industry with a broad and long-
term vision, and hence the industry could continue to step forward.

It is expected that the growth rate of the pediatric food market in
second and third tier cities would significantly exceed that in first
tier cities. With its strong distribution capacity, the Group manages
to achieve a relatively high penetration rate in markets of all first,
second and third tier cities nationwide. Particularly, it is expected
that higher penetration rate would be achieved in second and third
tier cities, and even markets in counties and townships. We consider
that the popularity of Yashily in second and third tier cities would
enable us to possess competitive strengths as compared with multi-
national brand competitors.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (continued)
EEE & B AT ()

Furthermore, it is generally expected that birth rate would increase
in 2012, being the year of dragon, which would in turn stimulate
the demand for pediatric products, including pediatric milk powder.
On the other hand, the liquid drinks market in China has been
blooming in recent year with emergence of innovative products.
The general market scale of such product continues to expand and
contains opportunities for market differentiation, and the annual
sales volume has been growing rapidly. We intend to enter into the
liquid drinks market to explore a broader path of development for
the Group.

Corporate Strategies

The Group has always recognized competition on branding as the
comprehensive competition on quality management and influence
of brand. The ultimate goal of the Group is to places focus on the
quality and safety of its products to strive to become the most
outstanding company engaging in the production of pediatric milk
formula. In this regard, the Group insists on adopting the strategy
of importing premium dairy materials, upholds quality management
on all products from milk sources to final products, and strictly
implements its established principles on production management.
Leveraging on the consolidation of its quality and brand
competitiveness, the Group would continuously undergo product
innovation, market penetration and staff motivation to strengthen
itself via short, middle and long term objectives. In particular, in
2012, the Group will place focus on the followings:

o Enhancement on sales and management level: the Group will
continue to enhance the exploration of the maternal and child
channel with a view to double its sales in the channel.
Through launching increased number of extensive themed
events, online and offline promotion will be utilized to
continuously promote our brand. The Group will strengthen
the implementation of professional activities towards its
target consumers, such as mother class and preschool
education activities, and continue to foster detailed
management to raise its efficiency with effective cost
management. The Group will increase its scale via continuous
expansion of the number of stores with sales promotion
targeting the maternal and child market, and also raise the
activeness of low level sales personnel via the steady increase
in income of sales promoters in order to raise our operation
competitiveness.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Management of brand assets and creating strong brand: The
Group will continue to enhance the establishment of our
brands to polish brand image, and make further efforts on
brand accumulation and management. The new television
advertisements of Yashily brand in CCTV, all popular first-tier
channels and the local provincial channels of target markets
as well as the print and internet advertisements highlight the
import milk sources and premium quality. Promotion of our
brand is also made in influential entertainment channels and
variety shows, such as “Avenue of Stars” of CCTV. Scient
brand milk powder also places efforts on polishing its image
by retaining celebrity spokesperson for the newly launched
products and emphasizing on their uniqueness with a view to
capture more market shares in the high-end milk powder
market. Apart from the above, integration of the Group’s
branding strategies will be further made together with the
planning on brand structure, and the Group will manage its
brand identification system on such basis.

Research and development: The Group plans to establish a
food research and development centre equipped with
advanced laboratory equipment and facilities to centralize our
research and development. Such research and development
centre will focus on the research and development of
pediatric milk formula, nutrient bean products and other
nutrient food. In addition, the liquid business department will
further expand its team on the foundation of its preliminary
structure established in 2011 so as to facilitate the
development and promotion of liquid products.

Enhancement on production capabilities: The Group will strive
to complete the construction of its production base in
Zhengzhou and commence partial operation within the year,
and also commence the construction of a new production
plant in Chaozhou.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (continued)
EEE & B AT ()

Strengthening of the Group’s internal management and
sublimation of corporate culture: the Group will continue to
strengthen itself on budget management, performance
appraisal and brand protection, while sublimating its own
culture by getting its staff acknowledged of the culture in a
more practical and deepened manner to raise cohesion within
the Group.

Continuous search on acquisition or co-operation projects
overseas: As mentioned in our 2011 interim report, we intend
to acquire existing assets of overseas enterprises which
engage in the manufacturing of raw milk and raw milk
powder, so as to ensure a stable and premium source of raw
materials to us. In this regard, we have already made in-depth
contact with a specific subject of the asset acquisition. Given
that more choices are available under the fluctuations of
global economic environment in the second half of 2011, the
Group has not confirmed to regard such subject as a suitable
acquisition target. The Group will undergo overseas
acquisition or co-operation projects if the project could meet
the demand of the Group’s development and is with suitable
valuation.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Our key results and performance ratios are set out as follows:

Year ended 31 December
BZ 28 31BHLEE

EEEWED T (8)

AEBZTEZEREELEHIMT

2011

2010 Change

;5]
=

(All amounts in RMB million
unless otherwise stated)

Key results

Turnover

Gross profit

Operating profit

Profit attributable to equity
holders of the Company

Net operating cash flow (Note 1)
Basic earnings per share (RMB cents)

(Note 2)
Diluted earnings per share
(RMB cents) (Note 3)

Net asset value per share (RMB)

Key performance ratios
Profitability ratios
Gross profit margin
Operating profit margin
Net profit margin
Margin of profit attributable
to equity holders
Return to net asset

Net profit to total asset (Note 10)

Asset ratios
Current ratio (Note 4)

Inventory turnover days (Note 5)
Trade receivable turnover days

(Note 6)
Trade payable turnover days
(Note 7)
Debt to equity ratio (Note 8)
Gearing ratio (Note 9)

(BR%SRBIZIBAS - FTIE 8
UARBEETITR)
EX-3
e
EH
A8 & A
RRAPBHERTE A
J& 1 4t
reEReREFRMED
BREABN(ARED)
(B &E2)
BE#EEAN(ARED)
(B=E3)
BRFEE(ARBIT)

FEEEAER
B FH &
FF =
A N R R
AP
RHEiEE AES
i )
FEE R HE
FABEEER
(FfsE10)

BELR
BN R (K 5E4)
FEEE X (HES)
B 5 MW B R

(MtsE6)
B o RN HEAEBRE
(P 5E7)
BEYESL R (HES)
BEBMELR(MF)

2,957.8
1,538.3
313.0

306.3
458.3

8.7

8.6
1.08

52.0%
10.6%
10.4%

10.4%
8.1%

6.6%

4.5
149

74
22.1%
0.7%

2,954.4 +0.1%
1,681.7 -8.5%
590.6 -47.0%

502.4 -39.0%
313.0 +46.4%

16.6 -47.6%

16.3 -47.2%
1.07 +0.9%

56.9%
20.0%
17.0%

17.0%
13.5%

11.2%
5.0
112
24

70

20.1%
3.5%
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (continued)

EEE & B AT ()

Notes:

Cash inflow generated from operating activities for the year less cash
outflow generated from operating activities for the year.

Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company for the year divided by
the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue before dilution for
the year.

Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company for the year divided by
the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue after dilution for
the year.

Total current assets at year end divided by total current liabilities at year end.
Inventory balances at year end divided by cost of sales for the year and

multiplied by 365 days.

Balances of trade and bills receivables at year end divided by turnover for
the year and multiplied by 365 days.

Balances of trade and bills payables at year end divided by cost of sales for

the year and multiplied by 365 days.

Total liabilities at year end divided by equity attributable to total equity
holders of the Company at year end.

Total interest-bearing bank loans at year end divided by total assets at year

end.

Profit for the year divided by total assets at year end.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Turnover
The Group's revenue for the year 2011 amounted to RMB2,957.8 million,
representing a 0.1% increase compared to the preceding year.

EEEWED T (8)

AEBBR20MFEZ A BARE 29578
BB REFEIMN01% -

2011 2010
RMB million % RMB million % Change
AR AR
HET Bt BETT L= HaE)

Yashily pediatric milk HEHAELHR

formula products i 75 93 % 1,825.5 61.7 1,816.1 61.5 0.5%
Scient pediatric milk MR LT

formula products e 75 4 ¥ 608.6 20.6 624.3 21.1 -2.5%
Nutrition products LA M 473.3 16.0 466.7 15.8 1.4%
Others HAb 50.4 1.7 47.3 1.6 6.6%
Total BEt 2,957.8 100.0 2,954.4 100.0 0.1%

Revenue from our Yashily pediatric milk formula products increased by 0.5%
from RMB1,816.1 million in 2010 to RMB1,825.5 million in 2011. This
was mainly due to the fact that we were able to increase selling prices of
our products and improve our product mix. The increment was partially
offset by the increase in sales discount granted to distributors.

Revenue from our Scient pediatric milk formula decreased by 2.5% from
RMB624.3 million in 2010 to RMB608.6 million in 201 1. This was mainly
due to the decrease in sales volume caused by the fierce market
competition.

Revenue from our nutrition products increased by 1.4% from RMB466.7
million in 2010 to RMB473.3 million in 2011. This was mainly due to the
growth in sales revenue from milk powder for adults and oatmeal.

Revenue from other products increased by 6.6% from RMB47.3 million in
2010 to RMB50.4 million in 2011, primarily due to the increase in the
sales of surplus raw material.

WEREN TR DHHEDRNKAB2010
FMARE1,816.1 8 ELIEMN0.5% F2011
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LRTIH o

MR LA TS TN AB2010F 8 A
REEG2A3EB IR 25%E201MTFMHMAR
08 6E B L TEHAMHHEF R
SHE TR -

BELOWAB2010FE ARKA667TE BT
HIN1.4% 2011 F AREEL4733FH B T -
EXBREAMADH RER HE WA
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EMEZOWAH20IOEAREKI473FE
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (continued)
EEENWED (&)

Percentage of revenue by sales channel HHEREZ 7 Z2UABTL
2011 2010 Change
29
|
Wholesale to distributors HETLER 98.6% 98.4% 0.2%
Direct sales to retail outlets TEEHH 1.4% 1.6% -0.2%
100.0% 100.0% 0.0%
. . 21 4 T EPaNs N\
Percentage of revenue by city tiers HHHRFNE T2 WA B
—  Yashily pediatric milk formula — HBIFNEBHREBEDH
2011 2010 Change
=
|
First-tier cities"” —Em 14.4% 16.9% -2.5%
Second-tier cities” Z R m? 51.0% 55.4% —4.4%
Third-tier cities and others® =R T R E AR 34.6% 27.7% 6.9%
Total wsEt 100.0% 100.0% 0.0%
™ Includes direct-controlled municipalities, provincial capital cities and O BEER-LE - BEM- -BE EE-
capital cities of autonomous regions such as Beijing, Shanghai, ARHESEEM AWM hkEREE
Guangzhou, Nanchang, Chongging and Shijiazhuang. T o
@ Includes prefecture-level cities such as Dongguan, Nanyang, Jiujiang, @ BiEEIE @5 T B REGILE
Mianyang and Foshan. Mo AR T o
©Includes county-level cities such as Jinjiang, Yunmeng, Bozhou, Kunshan O BAREEI-EZ2. .2 BLUERETSE
and Luohe. BT o
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (continued)

EEENWED (&)

—  Scient pediatric milk formula — EREHRES B
2011 2010 Change
'
First-tier cities!” — &R 10.6% 14.6% -4.0%
Second-tier cities? s @ 71.9% 74.6% -2.7%
Third-tier cities and others® =T R E A 17.5% 10.8% 6.7%
Total et 100.0% 100.0% 0.0%

™" Includes direct-controlled municipalities, provincial capital cities and

capital cities of autonomous regions such as Beijing, Shanghai,
Guangzhou, Nanchang, Chongging and Shijiazhuang.

Includes prefecture-level cities such as Dongguan, Nanyang, Jiujiang,

Mianyang and Foshan.

Includes county-level cities such as Jinjiang, Yunmeng, Bozhou, Kunshan
and Luohe.

The above sales are classified based on the tier of the cities where the
distributors are registered.

In 2011, the Group has further expanded its distribution channel
downward. Some of the third-tier markets covered by distributors in first
and second-tier cities are operated by local distributors. The proportion of
sales in first and second-tier dropped while the proportion of sales in
third-tier cities increased mainly due to the above reason.

Gross Profit

For the year ended 31 December 2011, the Group recorded gross profit
of RMB1,538.3 million, representing a decline of 8.5% from last year,
and gross profit margin was 52% (2010: 56.9%). The decline of gross
profit was mainly due to the significant surge in both raw milk powder
and its supplements during the year and the increment in the operating
cost of our subsidiaries, which are foreign investment enterprises (FIE)
given that construction tax and educational surcharge are levied on FIE
since December 2010. In addition, to boost up the market, we granted
more sales discounts and sample gifts to the customers and such also led
to the decrease in gross profit. We offset part of the impact of the above
via the optimization of product structure.

BEREBRZERERAT 2011F5FH
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (continued)

EEE & B AT ()

Other Revenue
Other revenue amounted to RMB28.7 million,
decrease compared to the preceding year.

representing a 53.1%

Other revenue mainly consisted of government grants, compensation
income, write-off of trade payables, rental income, exemption of value-
added tax (“VAT") expenses and others. The decrease was mainly due to
the exemption of VAT expenses of RMB22.8 million (no such item in
2011) obtained by the Group in 2010.

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses consisted primarily of advertising
expenses, promotional expenses, transportation expenses, salaries and
employee benefits for sales personnel and other related expenses.

The Group's selling and distribution expenses amounted to RMB1,061.9
million, representing a 10.9% increase compared to the preceding year.
Selling and distribution expenses accounted for 35.9% (2010: 32.4%) of
the Group's revenue, which was due to the increase in advertising and
promotional expenses and salary. In the first half of 2011, to raise the
awareness and reputation of its products sustainably, the Group increased
its investment in the television advertisement in the prime time (19:30 to
19:32) of CCTV. The expense for the advertisement is RMB59.8 million.
The commercial has finished broadcasting in the first half of 2011.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses consisted primarily of salaries and employee
benefits of administrative and management staff, depreciation and
amortization expenses, travel and entertainment expenses, audit fees,
research and development expenses, provisions for doubtful receivables,
office rental expenses and other related expenses.

The Group’s administrative expenses amounted to RMB185.5 million,
representing a 1.5% increase compared to the preceding vyear.
Administrative expenses accounted for 6.3% (2010: 6.2%) of the Group’s
revenue.

The increase was primarily due to the growth in staff costs and office
expenses.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Finance income

The Group’s finance income amounted to RMB65.1 million, representing
an increase of 447.1% compared to the preceding year. Our finance
income mainly consisted of bank interest income. The increase was
primarily due to the growth in operating cash inflow and the interest
income arising from the listing proceeds.

Finance costs

The Group's finance costs amounted to RMB2.7 million, representing a
decrease of 79.2% compared to the preceding year. Finance costs
primarily consisted of interest expenses on bank borrowings. The decrease
was primarily due to the decrease in the weighted average balance on
our outstanding bank borrowings.

Income tax expense

In 2011, the Group has provided income tax expense of RMB67.0 million,
and the effective income tax rate was 17.8%, representing an increase as
compared to the effective income tax rate of 14.6% in 2010, which were
mainly due to the fact that the preferential taxation period for Yashili
(Guangdong), our major subsidiary, expired. The expiry of the preferential
taxation period resulted in an increase in income tax rate from 12.5% in
2010 to 25% in 2011, thereby raising the overall effective income tax
rate of the Group during the period. On the other hand, in 2011, our
subsidiary, Scient (Guangzhou) has recognized deferred tax asset on the
deductible tax loss brought forward from previous year and thereby
partially offset the increment in the tax rate caused by Yashili (Guangdong).

Inventory

As at 31 December 2011, inventory balance of the Group amounted to
RMB577.7 million, representing a 47.8% increase from the balance of
RMB390.8 million as at 31 December 2010. The increase was mainly
attributable to raw materials, work in progress and finished goods. To
satisfy the blooming market demand in Chinese New Year in January
2012, the Group had stored up more inventories. In addition, in the
fourth quarter in 2011, we adopted a strategic policy to purchase at a
lower price more raw materials in raw milk production peak season.
Besides, raw milk powder from New Zealand within the import quota will
enjoy the favorable custom duty at a rate of 5.8%. The custom duty rate
will be changed to 10% when the nation-wide imported quantity exceeds
the quota. As at 31 December 2011, the balance of our inventory
included raw material powder in transit amounted to RMB65.1 million,
which arrived in early 2012 and custom duty was levied at a favorable
rate.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (continued)
EEE B AT ()

Other investment

As at 31 December 2011, balance of other investment of the Group
amounted to RMB180.0 million, which consisted of two Renminbi
structural deposits and one wealth management products acquired from
banks. The above investments were redeemed by 31 January 2012,
representing annualized yield between 5.8% and 6.0%.

Trade and other payables

As at 31 December 2011, balance of trade and other payables of the
Group amounted to RMB720.1 million, representing a 44.0% increase
from the balance of RMB499.9 million as at 31 December 2010. The
increase in balance was mainly due to the substantial amount of payment
for goods to the Group for purchases in anticipation of the blooming
market demand during Chinese New Year in January 2012. Balance of
customers’ prepayments increased from RMB71.7 million as at 31
December 2010 to RMB255.5 million as at 31 December 2011.

Profit attributable to equity shareholders of the
Company

The Group's profit attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
amounted to RMB306.3 million, a 39.0% decrease compared to the
preceding year. This was mainly due to the impact of the decrease in
gross profit margin, increase in advertising expenses, surge in labour cost
and increase in income tax rate.

Provision for doubtful debts

At 31 December 2011, we had provision for doubtful debts of RMB1.6
million (2010: RMB1.6 million). The provision was for individually impaired
receivables relating to customers that were in default or delinquency of
payments. We do not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
over such amounts. We regularly reviewed aging of receivables and
considered provision based on a number of factors such as whether the
debtors encounter significant financial difficulties, the probability that the
debtor will file for bankruptcy or be subject to financial reorganization,
and the possibility of default or delinquent payments.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Provision for impairment and disposal losses of
inventories

At 31 December 2011, we had provisions for impairment of inventories
of RMB3.2 million (2010: RMBO0.7 million). In addition, we also recorded
losses on disposal of inventory of RMB2.6 million (2010: RMB8.0 million),
which were primarily relating to general stocktake losses, disposal of
dampened or deteriorated inventory and disposal of unused packaging
materials.

Pledge of assets

At 31 December 2011, bank deposits, bill receivables and certain
property, plant and equipment with aggregate carrying amounts of
approximately RMB92.5 million (31 December 2010: RMB150.9 million)
were pledged by the Group. Details are set out in the relevant notes to
the annual financial statements.

At 31 December 2011, property, plant and equipment with carrying
amounts of RMB20.0 million (2010: RMB108.6 million), no investment
properties (2010: RMB70.1 million), no lease prepayments (2010:
RMB38.4 million) and bank deposit with carrying amount of RMB63.1
million (2009: RMB32.9 million) were pledged to secure certain bank
borrowings and services of the Group. In addition, bank deposits
amounting to RMB9.4 million (2010: RMB9.4 million) were frozen by a
PRC court in relation to certain pending litigations.

Liquidity and capital resources

The Group’s liquidity has been strengthened due to the successful listing
in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange in the second half of 2010. The net
listing proceeds received from the listing amounted to RMB1,965.8
million (excluding the exchange loss arising from converting part of listing
proceeds and after deduction of related expenses).

EEEWED T (8)
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (continued)
EEE B AT ()

For the twelve months ended 31 December 2011, our operation provided
RMB458.3 million of cash, compared to the net cash outflow of
RMB313.0 million in the preceding year. The strong cash inflow was
mainly benefited from the improvement in credit limit control by the
Group, which lowered the balance of trade receivables.

For the twelve months ended 31 December 2011, net cash used in
investing activities amounted to RMB229.4 million, expenses for investing
activities were mainly used in the construction of facilities and plants.

For the twelve months ended 31 December 2011, net cash used in
financing activities amounted to RMB403.7 million, primarily reflecting
RMB36.2 million of proceeds from loans and borrowings, RMB163.3
million for the repayment of bank loan, RMB234.7 million for the
distribution of dividends and RMB15.5 million for share repurchase.

As at 31 December 2011, our bank loans amounted to RMB31.4 million (31
December 2010: RMB158.4 million), which were required to be repaid on
demand within a year.

As at 31 December 2011, our total equity amounted to RMB3,804.0
million (31 December 2010: RMB3,729.9 million), and the debt-to-equity
ratio (total bank loan balance at period end divided by total equity at
period end) was 0.8% (31 December 2010: 4.2%).
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (continued)
EEEWED T (8)

Application of net IPO Proceeds BXALAHEBRASHREFEAR
The net proceeds from IPO were approximately RMB1,965.8 million, after FH R MG EMER X BN AE RIEFE
deduction of related expenses. We have utilised such net proceeds in the %A AR # 196588 & 7T AN A A & 1% IR
manner consistent with that mentioned on the Company’s prospectus 20104E10 830 K B Z 2[R KM 8 &
dated 30 October 2010 under the section headed “Future Plans and Use  FriS sk BEA B | — M EN H N EHE L
of Proceeds”. As such, the net proceeds utilised up to 31 December 2011  FXIEFZ - A ItL > L 22011 F12 A31H BT
was as follows: BRIEFEACHAENT :

Net IPO proceeds
BRAHMBERSRETHE
Available for

utilisation Utilised Unutilised
it E A 28 A REA
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARET T ARET T
]

Expansion of production capacity for ARERE 4 5B 5 5
pediatric milk formula and nutritional NEBRMIER:
food products: 491,457 57,581 433,876

Acquisition of integrated dairy companies U881t = R 1 & R K
engaged in the production of raw milk 4 E 4R A L& F A 7

and raw milk powder 491,457 1,116 490,341
Promotional activities in television BRMPERRTEERE

networks and popular baby nursing Wl AR E B

forums as well as major magazines, AR N H b ED Rl i B2 Y

newspapers and other printed media E LR 491,457 59,776 431,681
Enhancement on our research and RS AN & B 8 i 3% ge

development capabilities 147,437 4,256 143,181

Development and promotion of sales of B % & #4538 B & @ &

existing and new products ¥ E o 147,437 44,617 102,820
Funding of our working capital and rEFEZBES N K

general corporate purposes TERE 196,584 39,317 157,267
Total &t 1,965,829 206,663 1,759,166
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Corporate Governance Report

Corporate governance practices

The Group is committed to achieving high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of shareholders and to enhance
corporate value and accountability. The Group also acknowledges the
vital importance of good corporate governance to the Group’s success
and sustainability appropriate to the conduct and growth of our business.

The Group has applied the principles set out in the Code on Corporate
Governance Practice (the “CG Code") contained in Appendix 14 of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”)

The Board is of the view that throughout the whole year ended 31
December 2011, the Company has complied with the code provisions as
set out in the CG Code, save for the deviation from the code provision
A.2.1, which deviation is explained in the relevant paragraphs of this
report.

The Company is committed to enhancing its corporate governance
practices appropriate to the conduct and the growth of its business and
to reviewing such practices from time to time to ensure that they comply
with statutory and professional standards and align with the latest
development.

The board of directors

Responsibilities

The board is responsible and has general powders for the management
and conduct of the Group’s business, strategic decisions and
performance. The board has delegated to the senior management the
authority and responsibility for the day-to-day management and
operation of the Group. In addition, the board has established board
committees and has delegated to these board committees various
responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of reference .

All directors carry out duties in good faith, in compliance with applicable
laws and regulations, and in the interests of the Company and its
shareholders at all times.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

TEERREE (B

The Company has adopted the recommended best practices under the ARARCHEMCEE AT THEZERE
CG Code to arrange for appropriate insurance cover for directors’ and E i U ECEEE MIELTHES =
officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its directorsand senior KSR EEEBNEZERAELANEZEZSE
management arising out of corporate activities. T AEERERTRABLHESBERR -

Board composition

EEEHE

During the year under review, the board comprises of ten members, REBEEEN - EFeH+EZKXEEK B
consisting of five executive directors, two non-executive directors and FERAELHITEE MEBIEHNTEETR=F
three independent non-executive directors. The composition of the board BV I FsiTE S -2k BN T :

is set out below.

Name

&

Position

B £

Mr. Zhang Lidian

SR N $ 5F A

Mr. Zhang Likun

SR M| 38 5 A

Mr. Zhang Liming
o K B8R 4 4

Mr. Zhang Libo

SR MR 9 4

Mr. Wu Xiaonan
REMELE

Mr. Zhang Yanpeng
o M5 5% 4

Mr. Zhang Chi

o ot 5 A

Mr. Luo Yi
‘A

Mr. Chang Herman Hsiu-Guo
SRR BN 5 A

Mr. Yu Shimao
REXEE

Mr. Chen Yongquan
BR K SR e A

Mr. Samuel King On Wong
BEMLEE

Chairman and executive director

EERFVTES

Executive director

HITEE

Executive director

HITES

Executive director

HITES

Executive director (resigned as a director on 19 April 2011)
HMITES (R201MF4 8198 B 1)

Executive director (appointed as a director on 2 June 2011)
HITEE(R2011F6 A28 EEZT)

Non-executive director

FHITES

Non-executive director (resigned as a non-executive director on 23 November 2011)
FEHITESE (2011511 A23AFHT)

Non-executive director (appointed as a non-executive director on 23 November 2011)
FEMITES (R201MF 11 A3 EET)

Independent non-executive director

BUFHITES

Independent non-executive director

BUEHITES

Independent non-executive director

BUFPITES
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

The list of directors (by category) is also disclosed in all corporate
communications issued by the Company pursuant to the Listing Rules
from time to time. The independent non-executive directors are expressly
identified in all corporate communications pursuant to the Listing Rules.

The relationships among the members of the board are disclosed under
“Directors and management biographies”in this annual report.

There are four changes of the Board during the year ended 31 December
2011:

° Mr. Wu Xiaonan, an executive director, resigned on 19 April 2011.

o Mr. Zhang Yanpeng was appointed as executive director at the
annual general meeting on 2 June 2011.

. Mr. Luo Yi, a non-executive director, resigned on 23 November
2011.

o Mr. Chang Herman Hsiu-Guo was appointed as non-executive
director on 23 November 2011.

During the year under review, the board at all times met the requirements
of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three
independent non-executive directors with at least one independent non-
executive director possessing appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each
independent non-executive director of his independence pursuant to the
requirements of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all independent
non-executive directors to be independent in accordance with the
independence guidelines as set out in the Listing Rules.

All directors, including non-executive directors and independent non-
executive directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business
experience, knowledge and professionalism to the board for its efficient
and effective functioning. Through active participation at board meetings,
taking the lead in managing issues involving potential conflict of interest
and serving on board committees, all non-executive directors make
various contributions to the effective direction of the Company.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)
TEERREE (B

The chairman

At present, the Company does not have any officer with the title of “Chief
Executive Office”. The Chairman of the board is Mr. Zhang Lidian who is
primarily responsible for the overall corporate strategic planning and
business development of the Group. Daily management is shared among
the executive directors and senior management.

The Company will continue to review the effectiveness of the Group’s
corporate governance structure and consider whether any changes,
including the appointment of a Chief Executive Officer and the separation
of the roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, are necessary.

Appointment and re-election of directors

Each of the directors (including executive, non-executive directors and
independent non-executive directors) of the Company is engaged on a
service contract for a term of three years. The appointment may be
terminated by not less than three months’ written notice.

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, all directors are
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years and any
director appointed to fill a causal vacancy shall hold office until the first
annual general meeting of members after his appointment and be subject
to re-election at such meeting and any director appointed as an addition
to the existing board shall hold office only until the next following annual
general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, Mr. Zhang
Likun, Mr. Zhang Chi and Mr. Yu Shimao shall retire by rotation and
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting. Mr. Chang Herman Hsiu-Gao, who was appointed by
the Board on 23 November 2011, shall be subject to re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting. The Company’s circular dated 27
April 2012 contains detailed information of the directors standing for re-
election.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

Nomination committee

The Company established a nomination committee on 8 October 2010.
The Committee comprises three members, Mr. Yu Shimao (Chairman),
Mr. Zhang Lidian and Mr. Chen Yongquan, the majority of them are
independent non-executive directors.

The principal duties of the nomination committee are to make
recommendation to the Board regarding candidates to fill vacancies on
the Board.

During the year ended 31 December 2011, the nomination committee
held one meeting. All of the committee members have attended the
meeting.

Induction and continuing development of
directors

Each newly appointed director receives formal, comprehensive and
tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment to ensure
appropriate understanding of the business and operations of the
Company and full awareness of director’s responsibilities and obligations
under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements. Such
induction shall be supplemented by visits to the Company’s key plant sites
and meetings with senior management of the Company.

Directors are continually updated on the statutory and regulatory regime
and the business environment to facilitate the discharge of their
responsibilities. Continuing briefing and professional development for
directors will be arranged where necessary.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)
TEERREE (B

Board meetings

Board practices and conduct of meetings
Annual meeting schedules and draft agenda of each meeting are normally
made available to directors in advance.

Notice of regular board meetings is served to all directors at least 14 days
before the meeting. For other board and committee meetings, reasonable
notice is generally given.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all directors at least 3 days before each board
meeting or committee meeting to keep directors apprised of the latest
development and financial position of the Company and to enable them
to make informed decisions. The board and each director also have
separate and independent access to the senior management where
necessary.

The senior management normally will attend regular board meetings and
where necessary, other board and committee meetings, to advise on
business development, financial and accounting matters, statutory and
regulatory compliance, corporate governance and other major aspects of
the Company.

The Company's articles of association contain provisions requiring
directors to abstain from voting and not to be counted in the quorum at
the meetings for approving transactions in which such directors or any of
their associates have a material interest.

The company secretary is responsible for taking and keeping minutes of
all board meetings and committee meetings. Draft minutes are normally
circulated to directors for comment within a reasonable time after each
meeting and final versions are open for director’s inspection.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)
TEERREE (B

Directors’ attendance records EEMEGSHERE
During the year ended 31 December 2011, 10 board meetings were held. R #EH Z2011FE 128318 1L 2 FE RN - 817
The attendance records of each director at the board meetings are setout T 102 EEET e e -BRLEEHER

below: BEEgganEgTHEHINT

Name of Director Attendance
E=nE HERE
-
Mr. Zhang Lidian 10
S ) 88 5 A4

Mr. Zhang Likun 10
SR ) 38 5E A

Mr. Zhang Liming 10
SR MR 5 A4

Mr. Zhang Libo 10
5k MR 5 4

Mr. Wu Xiaonan' 3
REEEEL

Mr. Zhang Yanpeng? 6
o JE 186 5% A

Mr. Luo Y#® 9
BEAS

Mr. Chang Herman Hsiu-Guo* 1
SR 5 A1

Mr. Zhang Chi 10
SR ot 55 A

Mr. Yu Shimao 10
REXEE

Mr. Chen Yongquan 10
PR oK SR 5 &

Mr. Samuel King On Wong 9
BT E

Notes: Bt &

1. Mr. Wu Xiaonan, resigned as an executive director of the Company on 19 1. REBELER20MF4A 9B B ERTE
April 2011, The Group has held three board meetings before his Ea X K% EEHEBIMBTT=ZRE
resignation. BEZgR

2. Mr. Zhang Yanpeng was appointed as an executive director of the Company 2. SRIEBSSE AR 201156 A2 H EFE IR K

on 2 June 2011. The Group has held six board meetings after Mr. Zhang BrREGAATESF AEEEREE
was appointed. WERBRBIT T ARZEERTER -

BEFBERERBERAFA 2011555 4 3



Corporate Governance Report (continued)

TERERBREE(E

3. Mr. Luo Yi, resigned as a non-executive director of the Company on 23
November 2011. The Group had held nine board meetings before his
resignation.

4. Mr. Chang Herman Hsiu-Guo was appointed as a non-executive director of

the Company on 23 November 2011. The Group has held one board

meeting after Mr. Chang was appointed.

Model code for securities transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
directors of Listing Issuers (the "Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules.

Specific enquiry has been made of all directors and the directors have
confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code throughout the
year ended 31 December 2011.

The Company has established written guidelines on no less exacting terms
than the Model Code (the “Employees Written Guidelines”) for securities
transactions by employees who are likely to be in possession of
unpublished price-sensitive information of the Company.

No incident of non-compliance of the Employee Written Guidelines by the
employees was noted by the Company.

Delegation by the board

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters of the Company,
including approval and monitoring of all policy matters, overall strategies
and budgets, internal control and risk management systems, material
transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of interest),
financial information, appointment of directors and other significant
financial and operational matters.

The day-to-day management, administration and operation of the

Company are delegated to the senior management. The delegated
functions and responsibilities are periodically reviewed.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

All directors have full and timely access to all relevant information as well
as the advice and services of the company secretary, with a view to
ensuring that board procedures and all applicable laws and regulations
are followed. Each director is normally able to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the Company’s
expense, upon making request to the Board.

The board has established three committees, namely, the nomination
committee, remuneration committee and audit committee,for overseeing
particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. All board committees of the
Company are established with defined written terms of reference which
are available to shareholders upon request.

Remuneration of directors and senior
management

The Company has established a formal and transparent procedure for
formulating policies on remuneration of directors and senior management
of the Group. Details of the remuneration of each of the directors of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2011 are set out in Note 10
to the consolidated financial statements.

Remuneration committee

The remuneration committee was established on 8 October 2010. It
comprises two independent non-executive directors, namely Mr. Yu
Shimao (Chairman) and Mr. Chen Yongquan and one executive director,
namely Mr. Zhang Lidian.

The roles and functions of the remuneration committee are set out in its
terms of reference. Its primary duties are to evaluate and make
recommendation to the board on the overall remuneration policy and
structure relating to all directors and senior management of the Group.

The remuneration has reviewed the remuneration policy and structure of
the Company, and the remuneration packages as well as the annual
bonuses of the executive directors and the senior management during the
year ended 31 December 2011.

The remuneration committee held one meeting during the year ended 31
December 2011. All of the committee members have attended the
meeting.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)
TEERREE (B

Accountability and audit

Directors’ responsibilities for financial reporting in
respect of financial statements

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2011.

The board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of annual and interim reports, price-sensitive
announcements and other disclosures required under the Listing Rules
and other statutory and regulatory requirements.

The management has provided to the board such explanation and
information as are necessary to enable the board to carry out an informed
assessment of the Company’s financial statements, which are put to the
board for approval.

The board is not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

Internal controls

The board is responsible for maintaining an adequate internal control
system to safeguard shareholder investments and Company assets and
reviewing the effectiveness of such system on an annual basis.

During the period under review, the board conducted a review of the
effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal control. It covers financial,
operational, compliance and risk management aspects of the Group
including adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of all staff
of the Group’s accounting and financial reporting function, and their
training programmes and budget.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

Audit committee

The audit committee was established on 8 October 2010 with written
terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. The
committee comprises two independent non-executive directors, namely
Mr. Samuel King On Wong (Chairman) and Mr. Yu Shimao and one non-
executive director, namely Mr. Zhang Chi (including one independent
non-executive director who possesses the appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise).
None of the members of the audit committee is a former partner of the
Company’s existing external auditor.

The primary duties of the audit committee are mainly to make
recommendation to the board on the appointment and removal of
external auditor; review the financial statements, provide material advise
in respect of financial reporting and oversee internal control procedures
of the Company.

During the year under review, the audit committee reviewed the Group’s
annual results and annual report for the year ended 31 December 2011,
the financial reporting and compliance procedures, the report from the
management on the Company’s internal control and risk management
systems and processes, and the re-appointment of the external auditor.

During the year under review, the external auditor was invited to attend
3meetings without the presence of the executive directors to discuss with
the audit committee issues arising from the audit and financial reporting
matters.

The audit committee held three meetings during the period under review
and the attendance records are set out below:

Name of Director
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Mr. Zhang Chi
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External auditor and auditor’'s remuneration

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities for the financial statements is set out in the
“Independent Auditor’s Report” in this annual report.

During the year under review, the remuneration paid/payable to the
Company’s independent external auditor, KPMG, in relation to audit and
review service are RMB2.5 million.

Communication with shareholders and
investors

The Company considers that effective communication with shareholders
is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor understanding of
the Group's business performance and strategies. The Company also
recognizes the importance of transparency and timely disclosure of
corporate information, which will enable shareholders and investors to
make the best investment decisions.

The general meetings of the Company provide a forum for
communication between the board and the shareholders. The Chairman
of the board as well as chairmen of the nomination committee,
remuneration committee and audit committee or, in their absence, other
members of the respective committees, are available to answer questions
at shareholder meetings.

To promote effective communication, the Company maintains a website
at www.yashili.hk, where up-to-date information and updates on the
Company’s financial information, corporate governance practices and
other information are available for public access.
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Shareholder rights

To safeguard shareholder interests and rights, a separate resolution is
proposed for each substantially separate issue at shareholding meetings,
including the election of individual directors.

All resolutions put forward at shareholder meetings will be voted on by
poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the
websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange after each
shareholder meeting.
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Directors and Management Biographies

EENEEERE

During the year under review, our board consists of ten directors, of
whom five are executive directors, two are non- executive directors and
three are independent non-executive directors.

Executive directors

Mr. Zhang Lidian

Aged 47, was appointed as our executive director on 3 June 2010 and he
is one of the co-founders of our Group and the chairman of the board of
our Company. Mr. Zhang is a member of the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee. He has over 20 years of experience in
food and dairy industry and is primarily responsible for the overall
corporate strategic planning and business development of our Group. He
has also been serving as the president and the vice chairman of Yashili
(Guangdong) since March 1998, as a director of Shanxi Yashili Dairy Co.,
Ltd. (“Yashili (Shanxi)”) since its incorporation in March 2006 and as a
director of Scient (Guangzhou) since March 2002. From June 1990 to
January 2003, Mr. Zhang was the deputy manager at Guangdong Yashili
Food Co., Ltd (“Yashili Food”). Currently Mr. Zhang is holding a number
of positions with various organizations. He serves as a representative of
the eleventh National People’s Congress (E+—@&2BAKRKAKRE), a
member of the China Committee of the International Dairy Federation,
vice chairman of the China Dairy Industry Association (FF B %25 T %1%
@g3EER), executive president of the 6th Committee of the
Guangdong Chamber of Commerce of Private Enterprises (B8R4 R& 1
¥HeFE NEEEEHITEER), executive vice-president of the
Guangdong Food Industry Association (ER&ARBmITEHE BIFEIER),
and vice-president of the Chaozhou Industry and Commerce Union (A
MIFEHAEeRI2R). He has also received a number of awards,
including the National Labor Medal (2B —458h#%%), the award of
National Model Worker in Light Industry (2 BI%8 T 2172 X818 %5), the
title of Outstanding Private Entrepreneurs in Construction of Communist
Countryside of Guangdong Province (ER A BZBRUHETHIHEMNESFE
BER), and the title of Model Worker of Chaozhou City (#7145

£ #). He received a master degree of Business Management from Sun
Yat-sen University (1K) in March 2007. He is a brother of Mr.
Zhang Likun, Mr. Zhang Liming and Mr. Zhang Libo, our directors. He is
also a brother of Mr. Zhang Lihui and a brother-in-law of Ms. She Lifang,
each a controlling shareholder. He is also an uncle of Mr. Zhang Yanpeng,
our director.
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Directors and Management Biographies (continued)

Mr. Zhang Likun

Aged 53, was appointed as our executive director on 25 June 2010 and
he is one of the co-founders of our Group and the chairman of Yashili
(Guangdong). Mr. Zhang has over 20 years of experience in the food and
dairy industry and is primarily responsible for the overall corporate
strategic planning and business development of our Group. He has been
serving as the chairman of Yashili (Guangdong) since March 1998. From
June 1990 to January 2003, Mr. Zhang was the deputy manager of
Yashili Food. He has also been appointed as the vice president of the
Technology Innovation Strategy Union of Dairy Industry (F|3£ 2 £ £ 4iT8)
HEYILEL BARIIE =K since September 2009. Mr. Zhang completed a
business management course at the Continuing Education Faculty of
Jinggangshan University (FFfE 1L A E2 48 20 5 E2B%) in February 2010. He
is also a brother of Mr. Zhang Lidian, Mr. Zhang Liming and Mr. Zhang
Libo, our directors. He is also a brother of Mr. Zhang Lihui and a brother-
in-law of Ms. She Lifang, each a controlling shareholder. He is also an
uncle of Mr. Zhang Yanpeng, our director.

Mr. Zhang Liming

Aged 50, was appointed as our executive director on 25 June 2010 and
he is one of the co-founders of our Group and an executive director. He
has over 20 years of experience in food industry and is primarily
responsible for the finance and taxation of our Group. He has also been
serving as a director of Yashili (Guangdong) since March 1998. From June
1990 to January 2003, Mr. Zhang held a position as deputy manager at
Yashili Food. He attended the Advanced Management Program for
general managers organized by the China Europe International Business
School from June 2007 to March 2008. He also completed a college
course in Public Administration by achieving 80 credits at the Southwest
University (FEG X 22) in January 2009. The courses taken at the university
included administration science, social science, public finance, and
political science. Currently he is attending the executive master of
business administration course at Xiaman University (EF9KE). He is a
brother of Mr. Zhang Lidian, Mr. Zhang Likun and Mr. Zhang Libo,our
directors. He is also a brother of Mr. Zhang Lihui and a brother-in-law of
Ms. She Lifang, each a controlling shareholder. He is also an uncle of Mr.
Zhang Yanpeng, our director.
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Directors and Management Biographies (continued)
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Mr. Zhang Libo

Aged 44, was appointed as our executive director on 25 June 2010 and
he is one of the co-founders of our Group and an executive director. He
has over 18 years of experience in food industry and is primarily
responsible for the administration and procurement of our Group. He has
been serving as a director of Yashili (Guangdong) since March 1998 and
as a director of Chaoan Bisheng Decoration and Printing Co., Ltd.
("Bisheng”) since its incorporation in May 2007. From June 1990 to
January 2003, Mr. Zhang held position as the deputy manager and the
chief engineer at Yashili Food. He studied business management at the
Continuing Education Faculty of Jinggangshan University (LA 42
E205 EB57) in February 2010. He is also a brother of Mr. Zhang Lidian,
Mr. Zhang Likun, Mr. Zhang Liming, our directors. He is also a brother of
Mr. Zhang Lihui and a brother-in-law of Ms. She Lifang, each a controlling
shareholder. He is also an uncle of Mr. Zhang Yanpeng, our director.

Mr. Zhang Yanpeng (appointed on 2 June 2011)

Aged 35, an executive director and deputy general manager of Scient
(Guangzhou), is mainly responsible for the management of various
departments of Scient (Guangzhou), including general office, finance
department, procurement department, plants, quality control department,
research and development department as well as storage and delivery
department. In January 2003, Mr. Zhang acted as the special assistant to
the marketing head of Yashili (Guangdong). From June 2003 to July
2004, Mr. Zhang was the sales manager of eastern Guangdong of Yashili
(Guangdong ). From August 2004 till now, Mr. Zhang acts as the deputy
general manager of Scient (Guangzhou). Mr. Zhang graduated form
Sichuan Education Institute (P9)I|Z8E2Fz) in 1999, majoring in
marketing and was awarded the bachelor degree in economics. In 2001,
Mr. Zhang studied oversea in the Auckland Business School in New
Zealand. Mr. Zhang graduated from the University of Electronics and
Technology (& FFHE KE) in 2010 with a master degree in engineering.
He is also the son of Zhang Lihui and nephew of Zhang Lidian, Zhang
Likun, Zhang Liming, Zhang Libo and She Lifang, each a controlling
shareholder.
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Directors and Management Biographies (continued)

Non-executive directors

Mr. Chang Herman Hsiu-Guo (appointed on 23 November 2011)
Aged 53, was appointed as a non-executive director on 23 November
2011. Mr. Zhang has approximately ten years of experience in direct
investment. He is currently a senior director of Carlyle Asia Investment
Advisor Limited (“Carlyle”). He joined Carlyle in 2006. Prior to joining
Carlyle, Herman ran a global business unit and was in charge of business
of Asia Pacific region for Delphi. He held positions in products, operations
and general management in the twenty years with General Motors and
Delphi with eleven years of presence in China, Mr. Chang obtained a
Ph.D. degree in engineering from Northwestern University, lllinois, USA in
1986.

Mr. Zhang Chi

Aged 36, was appointed as a non-executive director on 8 October 2010.
Mr. Zhang is a member of the Audit Committee. Mr. Zhang is also a
director at the Asia Buyout Fund of Carlyle Group and is primarily
responsible for executing investments in the PRC. Mr. Zhang has more
than 10 years of experience in equity investment in China, investment
banking and capital market. Prior to his joining Carlyle Group in 2006, he
was the Vice President of the Investment Banking Division of Credit Suisse
(Hong Kong) Limited. Prior to his position at Credit Suisse (Hong Kong)
Limited, he was the Vice President of the Investment Banking Department
of China International Capital Corporation Limited. Mr. Zhang has
obtained a master’'s degree in Economics from Shanghai University of
Finance and Economics (_E/&BF & A ) in 2000.
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Directors and Management Biographies (continued)
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Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Yu Shimao

Aged 70, was appointed as an independent non-executive director on 8
October 2010. Mr. Yu is the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee and a member of the Audit Committee.
From 1993 to 2003, Mr. Yu was a director of the System Research
Committee of the Guangdong People’s Congress (&R & AKXGIEME
@J8E). In 2003, he was the chief officer of the Overseas Chinese,
Ethnic, Religion and Foreign-related Affairs Committee of the Standing
Committee of the People’s Congress of Chaozhou (Bl AR T ZE g
BREFHINEIIEZES). In 1998, he was elected as a member of
the eleventh Standing Committee of the People’s Congress of Chaozhou
GBI TE AKREZES). From 1994 to 2003, he was an associate director
then a director of the Selection, Liaison and Nomination Committee (3&%2
i AR TIEZE ). From 1992 to 1998, Mr. Yu held the position
as an associate director of the Office of the Standing Committee of the
People’s Congress of Chaozhou (#I/NTH AKEZ &P Z). From 1989
to 1992, he was an associate director of the Office of the Standing
Committee of the People’s Congress of Raoping County, Guangdong
Province (EREETFHAAFEZEPAE). He graduated from Hunan
Normal University G#FERI&EAZ2) with a bachelor's degree in Russian
language in 1964.

Mr. Chen Yongquan

Aged 73, was appointed as an independent non-executive director on 8
October 2010. Mr. Chen is a member of the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee. He has been a professor at the Food
Science Faculty of South China Agricultural University (572 2 KE2)
since 1999. He performs researches on food biochemistry, additives and
functional ingredients, enzymology, and processing of agricultural and
livestock products. From 1995 to 1998, Mr. Chen was the Dean of the
Food Science Faculty of the South China Agricultural University. He has
been hired as a counselor by Guangdong Province Government since
2006. He was awarded as the Outstanding Expert Contributing to the
Food Industry during the Reform and the Opening-up of Guangdong (&
HNERNERITERE BB ER), the Pioneer Individual of the National
Starfire Scheme (2B 2 M =+2I5E# @A), and the Chinese Pioneer Work
of Industry Technology Enhancement in Food Industry (FF Bl & f8 T3 #H%
AT 1EE). Mr. Chen graduated from South China Agricultural
University (225 2 % KX 22) with a bachelor’s degree in botanical protection
in 1961.

o4
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Directors and Management Biographies (continued)

Mr. Samuel King On Wong

Aged 59, was appointed as an independent non-executive director on 8
October 2010. Mr. Wong is the Chairman of the Audit Committee. He
has over 30 years of experience in accounting and finance. Mr. Wong
joined Ernst & Young in 1979 and was elected to its partnership in 1993.
He was the Managing Partner, China Central of Ernst & Young from
2005 until his retirement at the end of 2009. He is a fellow member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a fellow member
of the Chartered Association of Certified Accountants (“ACCA") and the
Australian Society of Certified Public Accountants. He was the president
of ACCA Hong Kong from 1998 to 1999 and a member of the global
Council of ACCA from 1999 to 2005. He was also the first non-European
global President of ACCA in 2003-2004. He had been the adjunct
professor of the School of Accounting & Finance of the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University in 2002-2010. Mr. Wong was awarded the
Outstanding Accounting Alumni by the Hong Kong Polytechnic University
in 2002 and the Outstanding PolyU Alumni by the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University in 2003. He graduated from the University of Bradford with a
master degree of business administration in 1978 during which he was
awarded the Binder Hamlyn Prize for the best student in financial
management in 1978.
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Directors and Management Biographies (continued)
EEREEERE (&

Senior management

Mr. Wu Dinian

Aged 43, rejoined our Group in July 2010 as the Vice President and is
primarily responsible for the overall management of our Group’s sales &
marketing. Mr. Wu has approximately 16 years of experience in sales &
marketing. From July 2001 to July 2007, Mr. Wu has served as the Vice
President of Yashili (Guangdong) and in charge of the sales & marketing
team. Prior to rejoining our Group, Mr. Wu served as president of
Guangzhou Mingdi Investment Company from July 2007 to July 2010.
From October 1994 to July 2001, Mr. Wu was the manager and
supervisor of sales & marketing department of Instant Noodles Business
Group of Tingyi (Cayman lIslands) Holding Corp. (BERD{EEAY) (stock
code: 0322), a company listed on the Main Board of Stock Exchange. Mr.
Wu received an Executive Master of Business Administration (EMBA) from
South China University of Technology (ZEFg¥2 T A£2) in January 2006.
Mr. Wu graduated from Zhengzhou University of Light Industry (518 T
3 E07) with a Bachelor Degree of Plastics Engineering in July 1991. Mr.
Wu is currently an adjunct professor of Zhengzhou University of Light
Industry (¥FN#E T % 2387) and Honor Speaker of the MBA Forum of
South China University Technology (g2 T A £2).

Mr. Huang Baohua

Aged 45, joined our Group in 2010 as the vice president of Yashili
(Guangdong). He is primarily responsible for the overall management of
human resources as well as training and development of Yashili
(Guangdong), and has over 20 years of experience in human resources as
well as training and development. Mr. Huang acted as the human
resources manager in Guangdong Midea Group from November 1992 to
April 1999; the human resources department head in Guangdong Kelon
Group Fridge Company (BEREIEESLEKFMEAR]) from April 1999 to
August 2007; the vice president of Guangdong Aofei Animation and
Comics Company Ltd. (EREBREERMNAERAR]) from August 2007
to August 2009; and the vice president of Shenzhen Fuanna Bedding and
Furnishing Company Limited in February 2010 until joining our Group.
Mr. Huang graduated from Asia International Open University (Macau) in
September 2009 with a MBA degree. He obtained the qualification of
senior human resources management specialist (S4& A 71 & RE IR AMH)
from CIE of the University of Cambridge and the national qualification of
senior trainer in March 2006, and is also the core member of the
APHRRA.
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Directors and Management Biographies (continued)

Mr. Wu Xiaonan (resigned as executive director on 19 April 2011)

Aged 38, jointed our Group in February 2008. He is now the general
manager of the Investment Center, the legal director and company
secretary. He has over 10 years of experience in legal practice. Prior to
joining our Group, Mr. Wu was an attorney and a deputy director at
Guangdong Boneng Law Firm from 2007 to 2008. From 2000 to 2006,
he was an attorney then a partner at Guangdong Xinjie Law Firm. Mr.
Wu graduated from the China University of Political Science and Law (7
B HUAKER) with a college diploma in law in July 1996. He has also
completed undergraduate study in law at Sichuan University (Z9)!| X£2) in
December 2005.

Mr. Xie Xunpeng

Aged 40, is the general manager of sales & marketing of Yashili
(Guangdong) and is primarily responsible for sales and marketing of the
whole Group. Mr. Xie has been the general manager of sales & marketing
of Yashili (Guangdong) since 2008. From 2006 to 2007, he was our
deputy general manager of sales & marketing. From 2003 to 2005, he
was our provincial manager in charge of sales in Shanxi province. From
1999 to 2002, he was our regional manager in charge of sales in Shanxi,
Hunan and Hubei provinces. From 1993 to 1998, he was a sales person
of Yashili (Guangdong), then was promoted to and then progressed to be
a provincial manager.

Ms. Pan Jingzhi

Aged 36, is the special assistant to the president of Yashili (Guangdong),
the president of the worker union of Yashili (Guangdong) and the deputy
general manager of Scient (Guangzhou). She has been the special
assistant to the president of Yashili (Guangdong) since the end of 2004
and she is responsible for planning, general administration and internal
coordination among the Group. She has also been the deputy manager
of Scient (Guangzhou) since 2007. From 20071 to 2004, she was the
manager of the operation management department. From 2001 to mid
2003, she was a manager of the general administration department.
From 1996 to 2001, she was a manager of the general administration
department. Ms Pan graduated from Shantou University (I8 X22) with
a college diploma in law in 1996. She also completed a undergraduate
course of law at Sichuan University (79)I| X £2) in 2005.
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Directors and Management Biographies (continued)
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Ms. Wen Jieping

Aged 35, is the chief financial officer of our Company. Ms. Wen joined
the Group in May 2011 and is primarily responsible for the internal
financial controlling and investor relation management. Prior to Ms.
Wen's appointment as a joint CFO of the Company, Ms. Wen was the
department head and a senior manager of the audit department of
KPMG (Guangzhou office). She graduated from Guangdong University of
Foreign Studies with a combined bachelor degree in International
Commerce English and Accounting in 2001. Ms. Wen is a member of the
Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants .

Mr. Lee Fun-ya

Aged 51, joined Yashili (Guangdong) as the chief technical officer on 20
March 2010 and is primarily responsible for research and development.
He has 25 years of experience in food and beverage industry which has
no relationship with Wholesome Food. Prior to joining our Group, he was
the Managing Director from 2004 to 2008 of Wholesome Life Sciences
Co., Ltd. He was the Group Technical Director of Vitasoy International
Holdings Limited from 2000 to 2004. From 1993 to 2000, he was the
Product Development Manager of Taisun Enterprise Co., Ltd. From 1992
to 1993, he was a Food Scientist at the Taiwan Food Industry Research
and Development Institute. From 1998 to 2000, he was a adjunct
associate professor teaching courses relating to food technology at
Taiwan Shih Chien University. In 1999, he was recipient of the
Outstanding Food Plant Technologist Award, honored by the Taiwan
Association for Food Science and Technology in Taichung, Taiwan. Mr.
Lee received a Master of Science in 1989 and a Doctor of Philosophy in
Food Science and Technology in 1992 from Mississippi State University,
USA.

Mr. Lee is a professional member of the Institute of Food Technologist (IFT)
and American Dairy Science Association (ADSA). He was awarded the
Outstanding Food Plant Technologist Award by the Taiwan Association
for Food Science and Technology in 1999.

Mr. Chen Xiaohong

Aged 37, is the manager of external affairs of Yashili (Guangdong) and is
primarily responsible for liaison with authorities and agencies. He has
been the manager of external affairs of Yashili (Guangdong) since May
1997. He has also been the supervisor of the Supervisory Board of Yashili
(Guangdong) since March 2008. Mr. Chen graduated from Hanshan
Normal University (32 |LIAT#3£7) with a college diploma in finance in
June 1996.
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Directors and Management Biographies (continued)

Mr. Tong Chengfu

Aged 46, is the general manager of R&D and is primarily responsible for
research and development. Mr. Tong has been the general controller of
R&D at Yashili (Guangdong) since 2007. From 2005 to 2006, he was the
manager of external cooperation department. From 2000 to 2005, he
was the chief engineer and a factory manager of the milk powder plant.
From 1995 to 2000, he was a section head of manufacturing at
Heilongjiang Weiquan Dairy Co., Ltd. From 1988 to 1995, he was the
development manager at Heilongjiang Dairy Factory. He is a member of
the Technical Expert Committee of the Technology Innovation Strategy
Union of Dairy Industry (FLEEZERMAIFEEERIEE). He
graduated from the Northeast Agricultary University (324t 2 £85%) with a
college diploma in processing of livestock and agricultural products in
1988.

Mr. Li Mengchun

Aged 39, is the general manager of quality control of Yashili (Guangdong)
and is primarily responsible for quality control. Mr. Li has been the general
manager of quality control at Yashili (Guangdong) since June 2004. From
June 2003 to June 2004, Mr. Li was the quality control manager, the
project manager and the technology manager at Xiamen HEK Group.
From April 1996 to February 1999, he was the manager of quality control
at Ting Hisin Co., Ltd. Mr. Li graduated from the Xiangtan University (i
JE K ) with a bachelor’s degree in chemical engineering in June 1994.

Mr. Jiang Weijian

Aged 32, is the finance controller of Yashili (Guangdong) and is primarily
responsible for accounting, budgeting and finance. Mr. Jiang joined
Yashili (Guangdong) in September 2008. From June to August of 2008,
he was the accounting manager at HC360.com. From August 2005 to
June 2008, he was the senior project manager at Reanda Certified Public
Accountants Co., Ltd. From December 2003 to August 2005, he was a
certified public accountant the director of auditing at Heilongjiang
Yazhong Accounting Firm. From August 2000 to August 2003, he
worked at the China Agriculture Bank, Heilongjiang Branch. Mr. Jiang is a
professional member of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. He graduated from Harbin College of Finance (¥ /&8¢ &l
SEERER) with a college diploma in economic information
management & computer applications in 2000.
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Report of the Directors
EETHRE

The directors have pleasure in presenting their report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2011.

Principal activities

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of the
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in Note 19 to the
consolidated financial statements. There were no significant changes in
the nature of the Group’s principal activities during the year under review.

Financial statements

The profit of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2011 and the
state of the Company’s and the Group's affairs as at that date are set out
in the consolidated financial statements on pages 85 to 190 of this
annual report.

Final Dividends

The Board recommended a final dividend of RMB5.68 cents per share for
the year ended 31 December 2011 to the shareholders on the register of
members on 5 June 2012, subject to approval by the shareholders at the
annual general meeting to be held on 30 May 2012.

The total final dividends for the year ended 31 December 2011 amounted
to approximately RMB200.1 million and represented approximately
65.3% of the profit for the year. The payment of the final dividend will
be in cash.
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Such dividend for the year ended 31 December 2011, represented a
payout ratio of 65.3%. In the opinion of the directors, such distribution is
in compliance with the Articles of Association adopted by the Company
on 8 October 2010, which states that dividend may be declared and paid
out of the profits of the Company, realised or unrealised, or from any
reserve set aside from profits which the directors determine is no longer
needed. With the sanction of an ordinary resolution dividend may also be
declared and paid out of share premium account or any other fund or
account which can be authorised for this purpose in accordance with the
Companies Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised)
of the Cayman Islands, subject to the provisions of the Memorandum of
Association or Articles of Association and provided that immediately
following the distribution or paying dividend the Company will be able to
pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

Reserves

Details of movements in reserves of the Group during the year under
review are set out in Note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

Distributable reserves of the Company

As at 31 December 2011, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the Companies Law, Chapter
22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands,
amounted to approximately RMB1,675.1 million. It represents the
Company’s share premium account of approximately RMB1,680.4 million
and accumulated losses of approximately RMB5.3 million in aggregate as
at 31 December 2011 which may be distributed provided that
immediately following the date on which the dividend is proposed to be
distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as and
when they fall due in the ordinary course of business.
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Report of the Directors (continued)
EEERE (&

Charitable donations

Donations made by the Group during the year amounted to RMB2.0
million.

Property, plant and equipment

During the year ended 31 December 2011, the Group held property,
plant and equipment of approximately RMB729.5 million. Movements in
property, plant and equipment of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2011 are set out in Note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Share capital
Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during the

financial year are set out in Note 30 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Directors

The directors during the financial year and as of the date of this annual
report were:

Executive directors:

Mr. Zhang Lidian (Chairman)

Mr. Zhang Likun

Mr. Zhang Liming

Mr. Zhang Libo

Mr. Wu Xiaonan (resigned on 19 April 2011)

Mr. Zhang Yanpeng (appointed on 2 June 2011)

Non-executive directors:

Mr. Luo Yi (resigned on 23 November 2011)

Mr. Zhang Chi

Mr. Chang Herman Hsiu-Guo (appointed on 23 November 2011)

Independent non-executive directors:
Mr. Yu Shimao

Mr. Chen Yongquan

Mr. Samuel King On Wong

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence from
each of the existing independent non-executive directors in accordance
with Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”). The Company considers
that all the independent non-executive directors are independent in
accordance with the Listing Rules.

Directors’ and senior management’s biographies

Biographical details of the directors and senior management are set out
on pages 50 to 59 of this annual report.
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Report of the Directors (continued)
EEERE (&

Directors’ interests in contracts

Save as disclosed below, there was no contract of significance to which
the Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries was a party,
and in which a director of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted during or at the end of the year ended 31
December 2011.

Directors’ service contracts

Each of the directors in the board has entered into a service contract with
the Company for an initial fixed term of three years commencing from 1
November 2010 and will continue thereafter unless otherwise terminated
in accordance with the terms of the service contract, including by not less
than three months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other.
No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has an unexpired service contract which is not determinable by
the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year without payment
of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

Mr. Zhang Yanpeng has entered into a service contract with the Company
for an initial fixed term of three years commencing from 2 June 2011 and
will continue thereafter unless otherwise terminated in accordance with
the terms of the service contract, including by not less than three months’
notice in writing served by either party on the other.

Mr. Chang Herman Hsiu-Guo has entered into a service contract with the
Company for an initial fixed term of three years commencing from 23
November 2011 and will continue thereafter unless otherwise terminates
in accordance with the terms of the service contract, including by not less
than three months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other.

Yashili International Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2011

EESNER

BT X EEIN B Z=2011F 12A 318
HFERZFR ARF - EERARRHE
FRMNBARBMETEETRAARAESTE
BERHEREERBEZNEREGL -

EERBEL

BRTITXFEZREIN ET5ESDH
AABRMREEH OFEEHR AR
2000 MA1HRB:=ZF TBERERE
BEY HERERBSOERE E(BIER
PRS- AELETIOR=ZEANER
BT AR IE) BIBR AN - RA FE B IR R A F
AEeLtBEEEFT s EEMERAQFFHA
TR BRARGENAR—FRNTERFE
CEE B E RSN B AT 4R 1 &9 1 K f2 W A9 AR
HEH -

REBELECEARARBTLRBELH )
FEFHRRALB201MF6HA2B R =F -
WHREREELR EREREE K
AR (BREEP-—TRAZ—HELHTIR
AR EEBA T AL L) RIS -

RRBEEECEARARRTLREAL )
L EEHRAB2011FE11 A238 5 =
F OUBREBEELT ERERBEAYD
R E(BREEF—FRAS—HFERTD
RZEANEZEEN T AL BIBRIN -



Directors’ and chief executives’ interests and
short positions in shares, underlying shares
and debentures

As at 31 December 2011, the directors and the chief executives of the
Company and their respective associates had the following interests or
short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) (“SFO")) which have been notified to the Company and the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to Division 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO, including interests and short positions which the directors and
the chief executives of the Company are taken and deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO, or which are required to be and are
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO
or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Companies contained in the Listing Rules:

(i) Directors’ interests in the shares of Zhang
International Investment Ltd. (“Zhang
International”) (being a holding company of our
Company):

Name of director

EExEE gt EEnE

Capacity/nature of interest
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Percentage of the
issued share capital

Number of shares of the Company

Zhang Likun Beneficial owner
5% N1 e ERnEEA
Zhang Liming Beneficial owner
5% 7 BA BEHERA
Zhang Lidian Beneficial owner
bk EREBA
Zhang Libo Beneficial owner
SR R BERERA

EARDF

BEITRA

BB BAH
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18 18%

18 18%

18 18%
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(ii) Director’s interests in the share and underlying
shares of the Company:

Name of director

ExEE 56 HEME

Capacity/nature of interest

(i) EERAQ2TANRO RERR
D HIE R

Percentage of the
issued share capital

Number of shares of the Company

Zhang Lidian®” Beneficial owner
5 A1 48 Em#EAA
Zhang Yanpeng® Beneficial owner
o FE 5@ E=mBAA
Notes:

1. Zhang Lidian, an executive director, owns 3,109,448 Shares and Pre-IPO
Share Options to subscribe for 12,437,800 Shares of the listed company.

2. Zhang Yanpeng, an executive director, owns 474,896 Shares and Pre-IPO
Share Options to subscribe for 1,899,593 Shares of the listed company.

3. “L" denotes long position.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2011, none of the directors
or chief executive of the Company had, or was deemed to have any
interests or short position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO), which had been recorded in the register maintained
by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or which had been
notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Companies contained in the Listing Rules.

At no time was the Company, its holding company, or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors and chief
executive of the Company (including their spouse and children under 18
years of age) to hold any interest or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares in, or debentures of, the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO).
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Share option schemes

Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme

The Company has adopted a share option scheme on 8 October 2010 (the
"Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme”) for the purpose of giving its employees
an opportunity to have a personal stake in the Company and helping
motivate employees to optimize their performance and efficiency, and
retaining its employees whose contributions are important to the long-
term growth and profitability of the Group. Options to subscribe for an
aggregate of 94,975,662 Shares (the “Underlying Shares”) were granted
to 181 participants, including 2 executive directors and 8 members of the
senior management of the Group. These options represent share options
originally granted by our subsidiary, E R # 17| Yashili (Guangdong), to
the grantees on 1 January 2009 and 1 August 2010 in respect of the
shares in the Company, which were exchanged into the Pre-IPO Share
Options on 8 October 2010.

Options to subscribe for an aggregate of 73,525,056 Shares at an
exercise price of RMB0.11 per Share and options to subscribe for an
aggregate of 21,450,606 Shares at an exercise price RMB1.84 per Share
have been granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme.

No further options were granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
on or after the 1 November 2010, the date of our Shares first commenced
dealings on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (“Listing Date”). All options
granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (the “Pre-IPO Share
Options”) were vested and will vest and may only be exercised in the
following manner:

o one fifth of the options were vested on 1 January 2011, the date
which is two months after the Listing Date (the “First Vesting
Date”);

o one fifth of the options shall vest on the first anniversary of the First
Vesting Date;

o one fifth of the options shall vest on the second anniversary of the
First Vesting Date;
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o one fifth of the options shall vest on the third anniversary of the
First Vesting Date;

J one fifth of the options shall vest on the fourth anniversary of the
First Vesting Date; and

each option granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is
exercisable within 15 days from the date on which such option becomes

vested.

A summary of the grantees who have been granted options under the
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is set out below:

Number of share options

BREHE
As at Exercised Lapsed As at
1 January during curing 31 December
Name or class of participants 2011 the year the year 2011
JiS
R —E——&
—g2-——F +=A
2RELZBAER —-A—H FRTRE FREK =+-—H

s INZ-MEERESREERERS
“ERAFHS

s INZ-MEBRESXNAEERERF
R ENEES ) RS

BERARBEMBREIMRENEN
BREMZSBREEBEAMES R A
WA FITIE ©

AT # PR B B R A B 3% & Al e B T 8
ERTERENARANEE

Closing

market price

Exercise price per share

Date of grant of of share for exercised
share options options options

B TR G

REBRERS TEE SRUWE
RMB HK$

AR BT

Directors

=

Zhang Lidian 15,547,248 3,109,448 — 12,437,800
oK I

Wu Xiaonan 1,434,587 286,916 — 1,147,671
R

Zhang Yanpeng 2,374,489 474,896 — 1,899,593
oF FE g

Other staff 53,967,678 10,793,421 2,904,653 40,269,604
Ht8 T

Other staff 21,277,113 4,255,400 1,964,607 15,057,106
Ht8 T

1 January 2009 0.11 2.80
ZTThF—-R—H

1 January 2009 0.11 2.80
ZTThF—-R—H

1 January 2009 0.11 2.80
ZTThF—-R—H

1 January 2009 0.11 2.80
ZTThF—-R—H

1 August 2010 1.84 2.80
—E-ZTFNA—H

94,601,115 18,920,081 4,869,260 70,811,774
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Share Option Scheme

The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme on 8 October 2010
for the purpose of motivating eligible persons to optimize their future
contributions to the Group and/or reward them for their past
contributions, attracting and retaining or otherwise maintaining on-going
relationships with such eligible persons who are significant to and/or
whose contributions are or will be beneficial to the performance, growth
or success of the Group.

The maximum number of share which may be issued upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other
schemes of the Group shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the shares in
issued as at the Listing Date, that is, 350,000,000 Shares. No option may
be granted to any participant of the Share Option Scheme such that the
total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the
options granted and to be granted to that person in any 12-month period
up to the date of the latest grant exceeds 1% of the Company’s issued
share capital from time to time.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share
Option Scheme at any time during a period as determined by the board
and not exceeding 10 years from the date of the grant. There is no
minimum period for which an option must be held before it can be
exercised. Participants of the Share Option Scheme are required to pay
the Company HKD1.0 upon acceptance of the grant on or before the 28
days after the offer date. The exercise price of the options is determined
by the board in its absolute discretion and shall not be less than
whichever is the highest of:

(@)  the nominal value of a share;

(b) the closing price of a share as stated in the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheets on the offer date; and

(c)  the average closing price of a share as stated in the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the offer date.
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The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 AR s &1 B FH A BES10EHE R
years from the Listing Date, after which no further options will be granted B &4k - RZ AR - BT 2 HkiE
or offered. 2 HMABIAE -

As at 31 December 2011, under the Share Option Scheme the details of B 4EBE AT 2 - # 1E2011912 8318 1k

share subscriptions are below : RERNOFBEOT :
Number of Number of
Exercise Number of Number of shares Number of shares as at
price per shares as at shares granted exercised in shares lapsed 31 December
Day of Grant share 1 January 2011 in 2011 2011 in 2011 2011
20114 20114 20114 20114 20114
1818 R 76 KX 12A31H
£ A SRITEE RHBA KRG BE RHBA KRG BE REHHA
|
29 August 2011 HK$1.5 — 48,148,214 — — 48,148,214
201148 H29H 1.5%87T
The vesting schedule is as follows: EEHNEBRAROT
Vesting date percentage of share options to vest
FEBH 58 Bl
|
29 August 2011 25% of the share option
201148 H29H Hi#E 9 25%
29 August 2012 25% of the share option
201248 H29H Hi#E B9 25%
29 August 2013 25% of the share option
201348 A29H HIHEH925%
29 August 2014 25% of the share option
201448 A29H HIHEH925%

Subject to the Share Option Scheme, none of the Grantees with share 15 #& # IR #E 51 8 - R TR B &K A
option is a director, chief executive or substantial shareholder of the MTERRBIEE FETHAEHETER
Company or any associate of any of them. R REENEE AR -
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Arrangement for directors to purchase shares
or debentures

Save as disclosed in “Share Option Schemes” above, at no time during
the year were rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
share in or debentures of the Company granted to any director of the
Company or their respective spouses or minor children, or were such
rights exercised by them, or was the Company, its holding company or
any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors
of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares
in, or debt securities (including debentures) of the Company or any other
body corporate.

Substantial shareholders’ interests and short
positions in shares and underlying shares

So far as is known to any director or chief executive of the Company, as
at 31 December 2011, the persons or corporations (other than director or
chief executive of the Company) who had interest or short positions in
the shares and underlying shares of the Company or its associated
corporation(s) which were required to be disclosed to the Company under
the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were
recorded in the register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO
were as follows:

Name Capacity/Nature of interest

=% 56 EmtE
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Approximate
percentage of

Number of Shares® shareholding

Zhang International® Beneficial owner

B ERBEAA
CA Dairy Holdings (" Carlyle”)? Beneficial owner
CA Dairy Holdings ([l & |) @ ExnlEBA

Carlyle Asia Partners IIl L.P
REHEE RS

Notes:

(1) Zhang International was held by Mr. Zhang Likun, Mr. Zhang Lihui, Mr.
Zhang Liming, Mr. Zhang Lidian, Mr. Zhang Libo and Ms. She Lifang
(collectively referred to as “Zhang's family”) as their wholly-owned
investment holding company to hold their shares in our Company.

(2)  Carlyle is wholly owned by Carlyle Asia Partners Il L.P.

(3)  “L" denotes long positions.
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Interested in a controlled corporation

16 B R4 A9
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1,826,808,760(L)(f) 52.19%
853,631,240(L)(K) 24.39%
853,631,240(L)(K) 24.39%
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2011, the directors of the
Company are not aware of any other person or corporation having an
interest or short position in shares and underlying shares of the Company
or its associated corporation(s) which would require to be recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of
the SFO.

Purchase, sale or redemption of the Company’s
listed securities

During the year ended 31 December 2011, the Company has made
repurchases of the Company’s shares in Hong Kong Stock Exchange as
set out below.

B EXATIRTEE  R2011F 128318
PAN/N 7§$MT%¥EHE@AiX Bl
R A 5] 3k E R R B &Y R {7 ok AR B8 AR 1
RHEBELARRBIIRERZE S KEE KD
FReREFEENETCLMOERKERE -

HE20MF12AMBILFE ARAESE
EHMCREEARQRRGD W

Total amount
paid (excluding
transaction

Number of shares Purchase price fee and

Repurchase date (2011) repurchased per share commission)

EXNERE

(FTE&EFEE

5 88 B #(2011) EERGHE BEREERE kA2)

Highest (HK$) Lowest (HKS) (HKS)

BE=EE(Ex) EBEEECER (%)

]

10 June 5,000,000 1.85836 1.80309 9,207,020
6 H10H

13 June 5,000,000 1.87905 1.87430 9,389,940
6 H13H

Total 10,000,000 18,596,960

Bt

The repurchase shares were canceled on 7 November 2011 and the
issuing share capital of the Company has been reduced by par value of
the shares repurchased accordingly.

During the year under review, the directors start to purchase the shares
of the Company with a view to increase the net asset value per share and
earning per share of the Group to benefit all shareholders.

Saved as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries

has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities
during the year ended 31 December 2011.
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Continuing connected transactions

Connected persons
(a) JFEREREFRAE (Shantou Zhang’s Investment

Co., Ltd*) (“Zhang’s Investment (Shantou)”)

The entire equity interest in Zhang's Investment (Shantou) is held in
equal shares by 11 individuals, six of whom are members of the
controlling shareholders. Among these members of the controlling
shareholders, Zhang Likun, Zhang Liming, Zhang Lidian and Zhang
Libo are directors and therefore are connected persons of the
Company under Rule 14A.11(1) of the Listing Rules. In addition,
Zhang Lihui is a brother and She Lifang is a sister-in-law of the said
members of the controlling shareholders. Given the close
relationships among Zhang Likun, Zhang Liming, Zhang Lidian,
Zhang Libo, Zhang Lihui and She Lifang, the directors consider it
appropriate to aggregate their interests in Zhang's Investment
(Shantou) in determining whether they together have a majority
control over Zhang's Investment (Shantou). Since Zhang Likun,
Zhang Liming, Zhang Lidian, Zhang Libo, Zhang Lihui and She
Lifang together can exercise more than 50% of the voting power at
general meetings of Zhang's Investment (Shantou), the directors
therefore consider it appropriate to treat Zhang's Investment
(Shantou) as a connected person of the Company under Rules
14A.11(4)(b)(ii) and 14A.11(4)(c)ii) of the Listing Rules.

(b) EFIFHERSEERLE (Haoweijia Food Co., Ltd.*)

(“Haoweijia Food”)

Haoweijia Food is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Zhang's Investment
(Shantou). Since Zhang’s Investment (Shantou) is a connected
person of the Company as detailed above, the directors consider it
appropriate to treat Haoweijia Food as a connected person of the
Company under Rules 14A.11(4)(b)(ii) and 14A.11(4)(c)ii) of the
Listing Rules.
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(c)

The

MR HFREREEERLERBH (Chaoan County Anbu
Yingjia Paper and Plastic Products Factory*) (“Yingjia”)
The entire equity interest in Yingjia is wholly-owned by Zhang
Yuanlong. Zhang Yuanlong is a brother-in-law of Zhang Likun.
Zhang Likun, being a director, will become a connected person of
the Company under Rule 14A.11(1) of the Listing Rules. Since
Zhang Yuanlong, being a brother-in-law of Zhang Likun, can
exercise more than 50% of the voting power at general meetings
of Yingjia, the directors consider it appropriate to treat Yingjia as a
connected person of the Company under Rule 14A.11(4)(c)ii) of
the Listing Rules.

continuing connected transactions

The Haoweijia Purchase Agreement

Haoweijia Food is a manufacturer of preserved fruit products in
China. On 8 October 2010, EEHITFIRMHER AR (Shanghai
Yashili Food Co., Ltd*) (“Yashili (Shanghai)”) entered into the
Haoweijia Purchase Agreement with Haoweijia Food, pursuant to
which Yashili (Shanghai) will purchase preserved fruit products from
Haoweijia Food from Listing Date to 31 December 2012. As one of
the distributors of Haoweijia Food, Yashili (Shanghai) generates
revenue by purchasing such preserved fruit products from Haoweijia
and reselling them to third-party customers. Pursuant to the
Haoweijia Purchase Agreement, the prices at which Yashili (Shanghai)
purchases preserved fruit products from Haoweijia Food are the
same as such prices at which Haoweijia Food sells its preserved fruit
products to independent third parties.

For the year ended 31 December 2011, purchases from Haoweijia
Food under the Haoweijia Purchase Agreement was RMB4,176,289,
which was within the approved cap of RMB6,500,000 as disclosed
in the prospectus of the Company.

Yashili International Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2011

(c)

LB EE SRR R (&
EF))

EENEHRERRTIREZEES -
RILEARFMBMHAR - KFMIEL
FE5REEMARE4A110)
BRARNARNBEEALT - BRET
BEVERRFMM A BEMITE & (E
IR A S RAES %A L EESE
R A RE TR AE 14A.114)0(0)
B SEERLARFBEALBRE -

1. FREBEGZS

TRERBATREREREED-
MR2010F 10888 EBHELRR S
ERAR(EESHLH]) BFKER
mMAIMREBERZE Bt £F
wEF KB T BEBE201294 1248
BTEE TR ERMBERRE
meEATRERBMEHEE 2 —
FEELFBBYTREBEEZSZR
RERUEETFE=ZFTEFMEENK
A RETREBEEHZE  LBET
FRTKRERABERREMNER
BEHOKERABYIE=ZFLEERE
EmMNEBHER -

HE20MF 128318 IEFE RBIE
HREEEHBZRATKRER @A K
A ANRM®A17628970 TR ER
ERAMBEENERELR AR
6,500,0007T Z A °



The Haoweijia Sales Agreement

On 8 October 2010, BMLHMBIEEHNBER AR (Chaoan
Bisheng Decoration and Printing Co., Ltd*) (“Bisheng”) entered into
the Haoweijia Sales Agreement with Haoweijia Food, pursuant to
which Bisheng will sell packaging materials to Haoweijia Food from
Listing Date to 31 December 2012, renewable at the option of
Bisheng for a term of three years and subject to compliance with all
applicable requirements under the Listing Rules.  Pursuant to the
Haoweijia Sales Agreement, Bisheng sells packaging materials to
Haoweijia Food at prices that are not be lower than the prices of
such packaging materials Bisheng sells to independent third parties.

For the year ended 31 December 2011, sales to Haoweijia Food
under the Haoweijia Sales Agreement was RMB2,086,846, which
was within the approved cap of RMB3,000,000 as disclosed in the
Prospectus.

The Chaoan Lease

On 8 October 2010, Bisheng entered into the Chaoan Lease with
Zhang'’s Investment (Shantou), pursuant to which Bisheng leased an
industrial complex in Chaoan County with a gross floor area of
approximately 18,613 square meters (the “Chaoan Premise”),
which Bisheng utilizes for production, storage and ancillary
purposes, from Listing Date to 31 December 2012, renewable at
the option of Bisheng for a term of three years and subject to
compliance with all applicable requirements under the Listing Rules.

The rent payable by Bisheng to Zhang's Investment (Shantou) under
the Chaoan Lease is RMB223,356 per month, or RMB2,680,272 per
annum which is based on a rental rate of RMB12 per square meter.

For the year ended 31 December 2011, the amount of rent paid by
Bisheng to Zhang's Investment (Shantou) under the Chaoan Lease
was RMB2,680,272, which was within the approved cap of
RMB2,680,272 as disclosed in the Prospectus.
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The Shanghai Lease

On 8 October 2010, Yashili (Shanghai) entered into the Shanghai
Lease with Zhang's Investment (Shantou), pursuant to which Yashili
(Shanghai) leased an office in Shanghai of approximately 400
square meters (the “Shanghai Premise”), which Yashili (Shanghai)
utilizes as its office in Shanghai, from Listing Date to 31 December
2012, renewable at the option of Yashili (Shanghai) for a term of
three years and subject to compliance with all applicable
requirements under the Listing Rules.

The rent payable by Yashili (Shanghai) to Zhang's Investment
(Shantou) under the Shanghai Lease is RMB29,200 per month, or
RMB350,400 per annum. For the period from January to October
2010, the rent was RMB5,000 per month.

For the year ended 31 December 2011, the amount of rent paid by
Yashili (Shanghai) to Zhang's Investment (Shantou) under the
Shanghai Lease was RMB350,400, which was within the approved
cap of RMB350,400 as disclosed in the Prospectus.

The Yingjia Purchase Agreement

Yingjia is engaged in the manufacture of plastic products in China.
On 8 October 2010, Yashili (Guangdong) entered into the Yingjia
Purchase Agreement with Yingjia, pursuant to which Yashili
(Guangdong) will purchase plastic spoons and plastic covers from
Yingjia from Listing Date to 31 December 2012, renewable for a
term of three years and subject to compliance with all applicable
requirements under the Listing Rules. We utilize the plastic spoons
and plastic covers we purchase from Yingjia as packaging materials
for our milk powder products. Pursuant to the Yingjia Purchase
Agreement, the prices at which Yashili (Guangdong) purchases
plastic spoons and plastic covers from Yingjia are the same as such
prices at which Yingjia sells such products to independent third
parties.

For the year ended 31 December 2011, purchase from Yingjia
under the Yingjia Purchase Agreement was RMB7,923,944, which
was within the approved cap of RMB12,000,000 as disclosed in the
Prospectus.
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Other than the continuing connected transactions set out above, no
contract of significance has been entered into between the Company or
any of its subsidiaries and the controlling shareholders during the year
ended 31 December 2011

The independent non-executive directors of the Company have reviewed
these connected transactions and confirmed that such transactions were:

— entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group;

— conducted either on normal commercial terms or, if there are not
sufficient comparable transactions to judge whether they are on
normal commercial terms, on terms no less favourable to the Group
than terms available to or from independent third parties; and

— in accordance with the relevant agreement governing them on
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
shareholders of the Company as a whole.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing
connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements Other Than
Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference
to Practice Note 740 “Auditor's Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued his
unqualified letter containing his findings and conclusions in respect of the
continuing connected transactions disclosed by the Group in the Annual
Report in accordance with Main Board Listing Rule 14A.38. A copy of the
auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited.
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Non-compete undertakings

Each of the controlling shareholders has confirmed to the Company of
his/her compliance with the non-compete undertakings provided to the
Company under the Non-competition Deeds (as defined in the
Prospectus). The independent non-executive directors of the Company
have reviewed the status of compliance and confirmed that all the
undertakings under the Non-competition Deeds have been complied with
by the controlling shareholders.

Directors’ interest in competing business

None of the directors is or was interested in any business apart from the
Group’s business, that competes or competed or is or was likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the Group’s business at any
time during the year ended 31 December 2011 and up to and including
the date of this annual report.

Management contracts

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year.

Pre-emptive rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of Cayman Islands where the Company
is incorporated applicable to the Company.

Emolument policy

The Group's emolument policies are based on the merit, qualifications

and competence of individual employees and are reviewed by the
remuneration committee periodically.
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The emoluments of the directors are recommended by the remuneration
committee and are decided by the board, having regard to the Group’s
operating results, individual performance and comparable market
statistics.

The Company has adopted two share option schemes to motivate and
reward its directors and eligible employees. Details of the scheme are set
out in the paragraph headed “Share Option Schemes” above and Note
28 to the consolidated financial statements.

None of the directors waived any emoluments during the year.

Retirement benefits schemes

The employees of the PRC subsidiaries are members of the state-managed
retirement benefits scheme operated by the PRC government. The PRC
subsidiaries are required to contribute certain percentages of basic salaries
of the employees to the retirement benefits scheme to fund the benefits.
The only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefits
scheme is to make the required contributions under the scheme. The
contributions are charged to the consolidated income statements as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the state-managed
retirement benefits scheme.

The Group has no other material obligation for the payment of pension
benefits beyond the annual contributions described above.

For the year ended 31 December 2011, the Group's total contributions to
the retirement benefits schemes charged in the income statement
amounted to RMB14.9 million. Details of the Group's retirement benefits
scheme and the basis of calculation are set out in Note 8 to the financial
statements.
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Major customers and suppliers

Aggregate sales attributable to the Group's largest and five largest
customers were 0.6% and 2.8% of the Group’s total sales respectively.

Aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s largest and five largest
suppliers were 15.5% and 29.5% of the Group’s total purchases
respectively.

At no time during the year did a director, his/her associate(s) or a
shareholder, which to the knowledge of the director owns more than 5%
of the Company’s share capital, have an interest in any of the Group’s
five largest customers and suppliers.

Closure of register of members

()

For determining the entitlement to attend and
vote at the forthcoming annual general meeting
The register of members of the Company will be closed from 29
May 2012 to 30 May 2012, both days inclusive, during which
period no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to be eligible
to attend and vote at the forthcoming annual general meeting,
unregistered holders of shares of the Company should ensure that
all transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong share registrar,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops
1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Wan Chai, Hong Kong for registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on
28 May 2012.
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(ii) For determining the entitlement to the proposed
final dividend
The register of members of the Company will be closed from 5 June
2012 to 6 June 2012, both days inclusive, during which period no
transfer of shares will be registered. In order to be eligible to receive
the proposed final dividend, unregistered holders of shares of the
Company should ensure that all transfer forms accompanied by the
relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s
Hong Kong share registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor
Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong for registration no
later than 4:30 p.m. on 4 June 2012.

Audit committee

The audit committee had reviewed, together with the management and
external auditor, the accounting principles and policies adopted by the
Group and the audited annual consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2011.

Auditor

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2011 have been audited by KPMG, who will retire and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for their reappointment
as auditor of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company.

Sufficiency of public float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this annual report,
the Company has maintained the public float of not less than 23.42% of
the Company’s issued shares pursuant to a waiver granted to us by the
Stock Exchange for the period from the Listing Date to 31 December
2011.
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Report of the Directors (continued)

EEEHE @

Bank loans and other borrowings
Particulars of short-term bank loans of the Group as at 31 December
2011 are set out in Note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.

Other than such short-term bank loans, the Group had no other bank
loans or borrowings.

Summary financial information
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the five financial years ended 31 December 2011 is set out on pages 191

to 192 of this annual report.

On behalf of the Board

Zhang Lidian
Chairman

Hong Kong, 20 March 2012
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Independent Auditor’s Report

cnac

To the Shareholders of Yashili International Holdings Ltd
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Yashili
International Holdings Ltd (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together
the “Group”) set out on pages 85 to 190, which comprise the
consolidated and company balance sheets as at 31 December 2011, and
the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended, and a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and fair
presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the
International Accounting Standard Board and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as
the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audit. This report is made solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)

B 3 % BT | ()

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance as to whether the consolidated financial statements are free
from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgements, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31
December 2011 and of the Group's profit and cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

20 March 2012
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Consolidated Income Statement

BfflER

For the year ended 31 December 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

HE2011FE12A31BLEFEE AARER)

2011 2010

Note RMB’000 RMB’000

Mo 3E AR T AR F T

Turnover B 6 2,957,818 2,954,370
Cost of sales 3 & R R (1,419,512) (1,272,624)
Gross profit EF 1,538,306 1,681,746
Other revenue H b g 25 7(a) 28,714 61,234
Other net loss HE BT (252) (585)
Selling and distribution expenses HENEHEAY (1,061,861) (957,468)
Administrative expenses TEHEX (185,454) (182,823)
Other expenses HiBEx 7(b) (FLY)) (11,536)
Profit from operations KRR 312,996 590,568
Finance income B I A 8(a) 65,123 11,909
Finance costs B 75 Bk 2N 8(a) (2,730) (13,024)
Net finance income/(costs) RIS U A (B A) 62,393 (1,115)
Profit before taxation BR %4 A % F 8 375,389 589,453
Income tax expenses Fr 5 Fi X 9 (66,964) (86,312)

Profit for the year FERF 308,425 503,141

Attributable to: BT ALTEMAER :

Equity shareholders of the Company KANRREFEF A 306,258 502,354
Non-controlling interests FE1E R fE = 2,167 787

Profit for the year FERA 308,425 503,141
Earnings per share BREF RMB Cents RMB Cents
N AR5

Basic AR 13(a) 8.7 16.6
Diluted #E 13(b) 8.6 16.3

Details of dividends payable and proposed to equity shareholders of the
Company attributable to the profit for the year are set out in Note 30(b).

The notes on pages 94 to 190 form part of these financial statements.

BEFEBRERERAT 2011FFR
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

B EEWRER

For the year ended 31 December 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

HE2011FE12A31BEEE (AAREIR)

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income for
the year
Exchange differences on translation of

FEEF
Hit &R & Wi

BESINGBRARNTBERER

financial statements of overseas subsidiaries FrEARERZ58
Total comprehensive income for the year FEHAKF
Attributable to: UTATEEGENRS :
Equity shareholders of the Company ERARIREFEA
Non-controlling interests JEE R =
Total comprehensive income for the year FEHFaKR

The notes on pages 94 to 190 form part of these financial statements.
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2011
RMB’000
ARBTR

308,425

(3,667)

304,758

302,591
2,167

304,758

2010
RMB'000
ARBTT

503,141

483,661

482,874
787

483,661
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

BEHEEEER

As at 31 December 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
M20114512 8318 (AAREFIR)

2011
Note RMB’000
B 5 AR® T
Non-current assets ERBEE

Property, plant and equipment M- BEREE 14 729,525
Intangible assets mILEE 15 5,346
Investment properties AW 16 76,334
Lease prepayments ERNES 17 133,367
Deferred tax assets EEIEE E 18(b) 77,048
Prepayment for acquisition of WHEMZ - BB R EREN 11,016

property, plant and equipment AT K
Other non-current assets HMIERBEE 6,875
1,039,511

Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 20 577,731
Trade and bills receivables B RERZRERZEE 21 52,344
Prepayments and other receivables T8 AT 5% B E A fE MR 22 138,148
Amounts due from related parties JFE Ui B 5 5 3R 08 33(b) 1,816
Restricted bank deposits ZRABITFER 23 72,456
Cash and cash equivalents ReLREFEY 24 2,581,563
Other investments HEMigE 25 180,000
3,604,058

Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables B 5 &k H M ERK 26 720,118
Loans and borrowings B & ER 27 31,359
Amounts due to related parties JE 1< B 3 75 BB 33(b) 1,722

Income tax payables

BT IR B &

18(a) 53,102

806,301

2,797,757

Net current assets REBEEFE
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBER

3,837,268

The notes on pages 94 to 190 form part of these financial statements.
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2010
RMB’000
ARKETTT

706,550
7,278
71,752
136,302
50,780
16,525

3,342

992,529

390,815
192,312
102,000
1,456
42,310
2,759,273

3,488,166

499,948
158,440
4,566
33,200

3,784,541
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Consolidated Balance Sheet (continued)

AHEERER (A

As at 31 December 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
M2011512 8318 (AARKFIR)

2011 2010
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt 5 AR¥ T ARETT
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Deferred income IRIEW S 30,669 42,928
Deferred tax liabilities EEFRIBAE 2,600 11,664
33,269 54,592
Net assets EEFH 3,803,999 3,729,949
Capital and reserves BAR#E
Capital [N 301,463 300,685
Reserves =L 3,501,235 3,430,130
Total equity attributable to equity XA FTRERFEA
shareholders of the Company RS 3,802,698 3,730,815
Non-controlling interests FERER 1,301 (866)
Total equity EREmE 3,803,999 3,729,949
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 20 March  #2 & = & /201243 A 20 B % /& It 1% #E 2%
2012. 5 o
Zhang Lidian Zhang Liming
3 A1 R A
Director Director
EF BF
The notes on pages 94 to 190 form part of these financial statements. FUMEEE10EMTBERATBREN —
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Balance Sheet
EEEER

As at 31 December 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
M20114E12 A31 B (AAREFIR)

2011
Note RMB’000
Mo 3E AR T
Non-current assets kRBEE
Interests in subsidiaries A NN E L s 19 3,231,411
Current assets REBEE
Other receivables H 4th jE W5k 22 PEE]
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEED 24 13,600
13,833
Current liabilities =R
Other payables Hfh FE TR 26 10,788
Net current assets RBEEFHE 3,045
Total assets less current liabilities MEERRBER 3,234,456
Net assets EERE 3,234,456
Capital and reserves B A R 7
Share Capital % 2 30 301,463
Reserves & 30 2,932,993
Total Equity B 3,234,456

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 20 March

2012.

Zhang Lidian

3R F £
Director

EF

The notes on pages 94 to 190 form part of these financial statements.
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Zhang Liming
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Director
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2010
RMB’000
ARKETTT

3,188,180

599
194,801

195,400

182,301
3,370,481

3,370,481

300,685
3,069,796

3,370,481

KEEZ2 201293 208 & f I & RE %
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
EOtERE R

For the year ended 31 December 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

HZE2011F 128318 (LAAREHIR)

Note

i AR®TIL

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

KARREREARS
(Accumulated
Other loss)/ Non-
capital Translation Merger retained controlling Total
reserve reserve reserve earnings Total interests equity
HbEA REERN/

BE  EARE AHREE  (RER) Bt FERER EHEE
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'OO0  RMB'000  RMB'000

ARETL ARBTR ARMTL ARSTI ARBTR ARMTI AR%TR

Note 30(n) ~ Note 30(e)
MEE300)  ME306)

At 1 January 2010

#2010%1518

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income

FRER
EfFaka

Total comprehensive income

Arising from the reorganisation
Issuance of share by share offer
Capitalisation issue
Acquisition of non-controlling interests
Equity-settled share-based

payment transactions

Appropriation to statutory reserves

REMAMES

BRARNEERTRG

-es(4: 3

e PRt b

REBERN
Xz
BAEERE

Balance at 31 December 2010
and 1 January 2011

R20105128318 R
M201E1518

(1.233) ) = (97886) 1278926 11301 1290207
= = = 50235 502,354 787 503,141
— (19480) = — (19480) —  (19480)
— (19480 = 50235 482874 787 483661
= — 1367004 = = = =
= = = — 1981525 — 1981525
(17,046) = = — (7046) (12950  (30,000)
= = = —  453% = 45%
= = = (44,775) = = —
(18279 (1948 1,367,004 359693 3730815 (866) 3,729,049

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income

FRER
HfpirakaE

Bk

= = = 306258 306,258 2,167 308,425

Total comprehensive income

Dividends approved in respect
of the previous year
Purchase of own shares
— Par value paid
— Premium paid

— Transfer between reserves

Shares issued for exercise of Shares option

Equity-settled share-based
payment transactions

Appropriation to statutory reserves

mERA
—mE
—EE
—fEgR
Rin T
BREGERD
xR
BANEEHE

30(b)ii)
30(c)(iv)

- (6) = — 366 — (3667
- () = 306258 302,591 2167 304758
= = — (23469  (23469) - (23469)
_ - — = (819) - (818)
— = = - (15539) - (155%)
— = = = 818 = 818
— = = = 9,362 = 9,362
= = = — 10160 — 10160
— = = (22,167) = = =

Balance at 31 December 2011

B2011E128318

(18279)  (23,149) 1,367,204 409,092 3,802,698 1301 3,803,999

The notes on pages 94 to 190 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

(| 3 7 ))ILER
For the year ended 31 December 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

HE2011FE12A31BLEFEE AARER)

2011 2010
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
FEE ARETR AR T T
Operating activities RETER
Profit before taxation R 35 A1 & A 375,389 589,453
Adjustments for: HEEIEE -
— Depreciation and amortisation —E R 79,157 75,438
— Net loss on disposal of property, —HEME BEK
plant and equipment HREREIEFE 252 585
— Impairment (write back)/loss — B 5 R EMEKRFE
for trade and EAENCACDYZE=ES
other receivables (55) 936
— Write-down of inventories —FERE ER VA 1,137
— Equity-settled share-based —REAERD T
transactions T 5 19,522 4,536
— Interest income — R B YA (44,017) (11,447)
— Interest expense — R ERX 2,730 13,024
— Net realised and unrealised gain —RARBEARN
on financial assets carried at THMEENEER
fair value RABRKZEFE (18,278) (323)
Operating profit before changes in EEESEIHATH
working capital R 417,871 673,339
Change in inventories FE#® (190,087) (14,197)
Change in trade and bills receivables B RERA R EREE
bk 140,023 (114,423)
Change in prepayment and T8 5 5k K H A U 5k )
other receivables (36,148) 47,028
Change in restricted bank deposits ZREBITERES (6,347) 1,898
Change in trade and other payables BHMNEMENRED 230,817 (259,166)
Change in provision for sales return HERDBBEES — (9,023)
Change in deferred income i JE U 25 (12,259) 5,883
Change in amounts due from FEUR B E 7 RIEE B
related parties (360) 17,703
Change in amounts due to JE 1 B 3 5 ROE
related parties (2,844) (5,561)
Cash generated from operations EEESERE 540,666 343,481
Income tax paid EAETEH (82,394) (30,455)
Net cash generated from RETERE
operating activities ReFHE 458,272 313,026
The notes on pages 94 to 190 form part of these financial statements. FUBEFI10EMTBAMBEIHREN —IB
I o
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement (continued)

AHEERER (H)

For the year ended 31 December 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

HE2011FE12A31BEEE (AAREIR)

Investing activities

Interest received

Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment

Proceeds from sales of
other investments

Proceeds from repayment of advances

REED
B HF B
HEME  BFE R
AR R P15 R
HEEMBBREMSHRIEA

72 i e BREE & 3R

2011
Note RMB’'000
P EE AR% T

44,017

944

173,278

(106,536)
(226)

(5,096)
(335,000)

(795)

to the controlling shareholders Fr13 318
Acquisition of property, plant and BEME BER
equipment B
Acquisition of intangible assets BERFEEE
Acquisition of lease prepayments ENHEE
Acquisition of other non-current assets BB HiIEREEE
Acquisition of other investments BEHMKE
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of U B Bt B A )
cash acquired (MR WEMERS)
Other effect from investing activities HiR & EE
Net cash used in investing activities REFEHFFABR S FHE

(229,414)

The notes on pages 94 to 190 form part of these financial statements.
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2010
RMB’000
ARBT T

11,447
3,327
30,255
2,000
(52,721)
(1,795)
(25,337)
(453)

)

(30,000

12,299

(50,978)
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Financing activities

Net proceeds from issuance of shares

Payment for repurchase of shares

Proceeds from loans and borrowings

Change in restricted bank deposits in
relation to bank loans

Acquisition of non-controlling interests

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement (continued)
EHEESRER(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

HE2011FE12A31BLEFEE AARER)

MEED

TATRD PR 1S SR F B

P47 (Bl B8 32 fF

B R R A8 RS R

BERTT (& AR
XRBIRITERED

Yo BB SR % Bl & R R

2011
Note RMB’000
MI5E AR¥ T

(15,538)
36,223

(23,799)
(163,304)
(2,586)
(234,692)

(403,696)

(174,838)

24 2,759,273

(2,872)

Repayments of loans and borrowings EBERRMER

Interest paid [ERNFPSN

Dividends paid BEfRE

Net cash generated from/(used in) RMEETBRE
financing activities FHRE

Net increase in cash and ReRBEEEEY
cash equivalents BT

Cash and cash equivalents at MMB1EHNERER
1 January REEEY

Effect of foreign exchange rate ERSEN
changes 2

Cash and cash equivalents at R12A31EMRER
31 December HeZEY

24 2,581,563

The notes on pages 94 to 190 form part of these financial statements.

BEFEBRERERAT 2011FFR

2010
RMB'000
ARBTT

1,965,829

173,089

90,161

(30,658)
(345,184)

(12,856)

1,840,381

2,102,429

660,628

(3,784)

2,759,273
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B 35 ¥ 3R B R

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  UAREIIR)

1 General Information and Basis of Presentation

Yashili International Holdings Ltd (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 3 June 2010 as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law, Chapter
22, (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands. The address of its registered office is Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2011 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together
referred to as “Group”). The Group is primarily engaged in the
manufacturing and sales of diary and nourishment products.

2 Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with all applicable International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRSs"), which collective term includes all applicable
individual International Financial Reporting Standards,
International Accounting Standards and interpretations issued
by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”),
and disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. These financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (“the Listing
Rules”). A summary of the significant accounting policies
adopted by the Group is set out below.

The IASB has issued certain new and revised IFRSs that are
first effective or available for early adoption of the current
accounting period of the Group and the Company. Note 4
provides information on adoption of new accounting policies
to the extent that they are relevant to the Group for the
current and prior accounting periods reflected in these
financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements

(9]

The financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB"),
rounded to the nearest thousands except per share data
("presentation currency”), which is the reporting currency of
the Group.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
financial statements is the historical cost basis except that
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are stated
at fair value as explained in Note 2(f). The method used to
measure fair value is set out in Note 3.

Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
IFRSs requires management to make judgments, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and various other factors that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results
of which form the basis of making the judgments about
carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of IFRSs
that have significant effect on the financial statements and
major sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in Note
36.

Bt 75 3R R B 5 (D)

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
B 7 R R M EE (88)

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BRBEHEAN

AANREFIR)

2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(d) Basis of consolidation

(i)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group.
Control exists when the Group has the power to govern
the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to
obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing control,
potential voting rights that presently are exercisable are
taken into account.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that
control commences until the date that control ceases.
Intra-group balances and transactions and any
unrealised profits arising from intra-group transactions
are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated
financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting from
intra-group transactions are eliminated in the same way
as unrealised gains but only to the extent that there is
no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the
Company, and in respect of which the Group has not
agreed any additional terms with the holders of those
interests which would result in the Group as a whole
having a contractual obligation in respect of those
interests that meets the definition of a financial liability.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(d) Basis of consolidation (Continued)

(i)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(Continued)

Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated balance sheet within equity, separately
from total equity attributable to the equity shareholders
of the Company. Non-controlling interests in the results
of the Group are presented on the face of the
consolidated income statement and the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income as an allocation of
the total profit or loss and total comprehensive income
for the year between non-controlling interests and the
equity shareholders of the Company.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions, whereby adjustments are made to the
amounts of controlling and non-controlling interests
within consolidated equity to reflect the change in
relative interests, but no adjustments are made to
goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised.

In the Company’s balance sheet, an investment in a
subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment losses (Note

2(1)(ii)).
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
B 7 R R M EE (88)

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BRBEHEAN

AANREFIR)

2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(d) Basis of consolidation (Continued)

(ii)

Business combination
The acquisition method of accounting is used to
account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group.

Under the acquisition method of accounting,
subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on
which control is transferred to the Group. The cost of
an acquisition is measured as the fair value of the assets
given, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred
or assumed at the date of exchange. Identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed
in a business consolidation are measured initially at their
fair values at the acquisition date. Transaction costs in
connection with a business consolidation are expensed
as incurred.

(e) Foreign currency

(i)

(ii)

Functional currency

[tems included in the financial statements of each entity
in the Group are measured using the currency that best
reflects the economic substance of the underlying
events and circumstances relevant to the entity.

Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the
respective functional currencies of group entities at
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies at the reporting date are retranslated to the
functional currency at the exchange rate at that date.

Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation are
recognised in profit or loss. Non-monetary items that
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rate at the
date of the transaction.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(e) Foreign currency (Continued)
(iii) Foreign operations

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are
translated to RMB at exchange rates at the reporting
date. The income and expenses of foreign operations
are translated to RMB at exchange rates at the dates of
the transactions.

Foreign currency differences arising on translation are
recognised in other comprehensive income. For the
purposes of foreign currency translation, the net
investment in a foreign operation includes foreign
currency intra-group balances for which settlement is
neither planned nor likely in the foreseeable future and
foreign currency differences arising from such a
monetary item is recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

When a foreign operation is disposed of, in whole or in
part, the relevant amount of the currency translation
reserve is transferred to the profit or loss as part of the
gain or loss on disposal.

(f) Financial instruments

(i)

Non-derivative financial assets

All financial assets (including assets designated at fair
value through profit or loss) are recognised initially on
the trade date at which the Group becomes a party to
the contractual provisions of the instrument.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
B 7 R R M EE (88)

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BRBEHEAN

AANREFIR)

2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(f) Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

Non-derivative financial assets (Continued)

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the
contractual cash flows on the financial asset in a
transaction in which substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the financial asset are
transferred.

The Group has the following non-derivative financial
assets:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

A financial asset is classified at fair value through profit
or loss if it is classified as held for trading or is
designated as such upon initial recognition. Financial
assets are designated at fair value through profit or loss
if the Group manages such investments and makes
purchase and sale decisions based on their fair value in
accordance with the Group’s documented risk
management or investment strategy. Upon initial
recognition attributable transaction costs are recognised
in profit or loss as incurred. Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss are measured at fair value, and
changes therein are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(f) Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

Non-derivative financial assets (Continued)
Receivables

Receivables are financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. Such assets are recognised initially at fair value
plus any directly attributable transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition receivables are
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less any impairment losses (Note 2(I)(i)).

Receivables comprise trade receivables and prepayments
and other receivables.

Cash and cash equivalent

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other
financial institutions, and short-term, highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within
three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafts
that are repayable on demand and form an integral part
of the Group's cash management are also included as a
component of cash and cash equivalents for the
purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement.

Bt 75 3R R B 5 (D)

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

2 BERE

f) =
(i)

(BEEEAN  RAREIIR)

TR ()

BT A

FITELTHEE (B)

& W 5K TR

J& W R IR A5 TR BB T 5
AERE L KRS EET
HAEENEREE - %F
BEMNMTUAERABEM
EMERRXZHATER - 1)
REERR UK E R ER
) =R K 4% e 3H B S R AE )
B R K2 (B EE20)30) -

FUREEREE S RENK
o FEN R E M AR -

RERBSEEY
RBelkReFBEYVERER
THEAEREFRE  RRTT
K E S B R e s B TF
A REHIR - RE R
KREBERB  EEREBEEA
EREERBEEZIHER
MERTZREBEESE X
THENEAES YEBAKR=
BAREH - RSN
BERME  BREREEY
BRASERSEETA
o E —# o B R IT BN
SERAGRREEFED
AAAGHRERER -

BEAEBRZERERAT 2011F5FH



Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
Bt 7% 3% 3R B &F (48)

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BRBEHEAN

AANREFIR)

2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(f) Financial instruments (Continued)
(ii) Non-derivative financial liabilities

All financial liabilities (including liabilities designated at
fair value through profit or loss) are recognised initially
on the trade date at which the Group becomes a party
to the contractual provisions of the instrument. The
Group derecognises a financial liability when its
contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled or
expire.

The Group's non-derivative financial liabilities include
loans and borrowings and trade and other payables.
Such financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair
value plus any directly attributable transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition these financial liabilities
are measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
g EL R )

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  RAREIIR)

2 BEAREITHER@

(f) Financial instruments (Continued) ) £ T B %®)
(iii) Derivative financial instruments (i) 7TEEHMT A

2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

The Group holds derivative financial instruments to
manage its foreign currency exposure. Derivative
financial instruments are recognised initially at fair
value. At each balance sheet date the fair value is
remeasured. The gain or loss on remeasurement to fair
value is recognised immediately in profit or loss, except
where the derivatives qualify for cash flow hedge
accounting in which case recognition of any resultant
gain or loss depends on the nature of the item being
hedged. Where a derivative financial instrument is
designated as a hedge of the variability in cash flows of
a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable
forecast transaction or the foreign currency risk of a
committed future transaction, the effective portion of
any gains or losses on remeasurement of the derivative
financial instrument to fair value are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated separately in
equity in the hedging reserve. The ineffective portion of
any gain or loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss. During the years ended 31 December 2009 and
2010, the Group's derivative has not been qualified as
effective cash flow hedging. The gain or loss on
remeasurement to fair value is recognised immediately
to profit or loss. Related financial assets/liabilities were
recognised/derecognised on the date the Group
commits to purchase/sell the contract or they expire.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
B 7 R R M EE (88)

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BRBEHEAN

AANREFIR)

2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(g) Property, plant and equipment

(i)

Recognition and measurement

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured
at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses (Note 2(1)(ii)).

Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable
to the acquisition of an asset. The cost of self-
constructed assets includes the cost of materials and
direct labour, any other costs directly attributable to
bringing the asset to a working condition for its
intended use, and the costs of dismantling and
removing the items and restoring the site on which they
are located. Purchased software that is integral to the
functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as
part of that equipment.

When parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, they are
accounted for as separate items (major components) of
property, plant and equipment.

Construction in progress represents property, plant and
equipment under construction, and is stated at cost less
impairment losses (Note 2(I)(ii)).

Cost comprises direct costs of construction during the
construction period. Capitalisation of these costs ceases
and the construction in progress is transferred to
property, plant and equipment when all of the activities
necessary to prepare the assets for their intended use
are substantially complete.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(g) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Reclassification to investment properties
When the use of a property changes from owner-
occupied to investment property, the property is
reclassified as investment property.

Subsequent costs

The cost of replacing part of an item of property, plant
and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of
the item if it is probable that the future economic
benefits embodied within the part will flow to the
Group and its cost can be measured reliably. The costs
of the day-to-day serving of property, plant and
equipment are recognised in profit and loss as incurred.

Depreciation

Depreciation is based on the cost of an asset less its
residual value. Depreciation is recognised in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful
lives of each part of an item of property, plant and
equipment. Buildings held for own use which are
situated on leasehold land are depreciated over the
shorter of the unexpired term of the lease and their
estimated useful lives.

The estimated useful lives of other property, plant and
equipment are as follows:

e Plant and buildings 13-20 years
e Machinery and equipment 5-10 years
e Motor vehicle 5 years
e Office equipment and 5 years

other equipment

Depreciation methods, useful life and residual value are
reassessed at each reporting date.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
Bt 7% 3% 3R B &F (48)

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BRBEHEAN

AANREFIR)

2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

W

(h) Intangible assets
Intangible assets comprise purchased and customised
software which are stated at cost less any impairment losses
and amortised on the straight-line basis over its estimated
useful life of five years.

()

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held either to earn rental
income or for capital appreciation or for both, but not for sale
in the ordinary course of business, use in the production or
supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes.

(i)

(ii)

Recognition and measurement
[tems of investment properties are measured at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (Note

2(1)(ii)).

Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable
to the acquisition of an asset.

Depreciation

Depreciation is based on the cost of an asset less its
residual value. Depreciation is recognised in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful
lives of investment properties. The estimated useful lives
range from 27.5 to 47 years.

Depreciation methods, useful life and residual value are
reassessed at each reporting date.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

()

(k)

)

Lease prepayments

Lease prepayments represent cost of land use rights paid to
the PRC government authorities. Land use rights are stated as
cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses (Note
2(I)i)). Amortisation is recognised in profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the respective period of the rights.

Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. The cost of inventories is based on the
weighted average cost principle, and includes expenditure
incurred in acquiring the inventories and bringing them to
their existing location and condition. In case of manufactured
inventories and work in progress, cost includes an appropriate
share of the production overheads based on normal operating
capacity. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of
completion and selling expenses.

Impairment of assets

(i) Financial assets
A financial asset not carried at fair value through profit
or loss is assessed at each reporting date to determine
whether there is objective evidence that it is impaired. A
financial asset is considered to be impaired if objective
evidence indicates that a loss event had a negative
effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset
that can be estimated reliably.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
B 7 R R M EE (88)

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  UAREIIR)

2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

() Impairment of assets (Continued)
(i)  Financial assets (Continued)

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset
measured at amortised cost is calculated as the
difference between its carrying amount, and the present
value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at
the original effective interest rate. Losses are recognised
in profit or loss and reflected in an allowance account
against receivables. When a subsequent event causes
the amount of impairment loss to decrease in
impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss.

The Group considers evidence of impairment of
receivables at both specific asset and collective level.
Individually significant financial assets are tested for
impairment on an individual basis. The remaining
financial assets are assessed collectively in groups that

share similar credit risk characteristics.

(ii) Non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial
assets, other than inventories and deferred tax asset,
are reviewed at each reporting date to determine
whether there is any indication of impairment. If any
such indication exists then the asset’s recoverable

amount is estimated.

The recoverable amount of assets or cash-generating
unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value
less cost to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and

risks specific to the assets.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

() Impairment of assets (Continued)
(ii) Non-financial assets (Continued)

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount
of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its
recoverable amount. A cash-generating unit is the
smallest identifiable asset group that generates cash
flows that largely are independent from other assets
and groups. Impairment losses are recognised in profit
or loss. Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-
generating units are allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the units
and then to reduce the carrying amount of the other
assets in the unit (group of units) on a pro-rata basis.

Impairment losses recognised in prior periods are
assessed at each reporting date for any indications that
the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An
impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change
in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the
extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined,
net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment
loss had been recognised.

(m) Employee benefits

(i)

Short term employee benefits
Salaries, wages, annual bonuses and staff welfare are
accrued in the year in which the associated services are
rendered by employees of the Group.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
B 7 R R M EE (88)

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BRBEHEAN

AANREFIR)

2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(m) Employee benefits (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Defined contribution retirement plans
Obligations for contributions to local defined
contribution retirement schemes pursuant to the
relevant labour rules and regulations in the PRC are
recognised as an expense in profit or loss when they are
due, except to the extent that they are included in the
cost of inventories not yet recognised as an expense.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised when, and only
when, the Group demonstrably commits itself to
terminate employment or to provide benefits as a result
of voluntary redundancy by having a detailed formal
plan which is without realistic possibility of withdrawal.

Share-based payment transactions

The fair value of share options granted to employees is
recognised as an employee cost with a corresponding
increase in an equity-settled share-based payment
reserve within equity. The fair value is measured at
grant date by using the binomial option pricing model,
taking into account the terms and conditions upon
which the options were granted. Where the employees
have to meet vesting conditions before
becoming unconditionally entitled to the options, the
total estimated fair value of the options is spread over
the vesting period, taking into account the probability
that the options will vest.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(m) Employee benefits (Continued)

(iv) Share-based payment transactions (Continued)
During the vesting period, the number of share options
that is expected to vest is reviewed. Any adjustment to
the cumulative fair value recognised in prior years is
charged/credited to the profit or loss for the year/period
of the review, unless the original employee expenses
qualify for recognition as an asset, with a corresponding
adjustment to the equity-settled share-based payment
reserve. On vesting date, the amount recognised as an
expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of
options that vest (with a corresponding adjustment to
the equity-settled share-based payment reserve) except
where forfeiture is only due to not achieving vesting
conditions that relate to the market price of the
company’s shares. The equity amount is recognised in
the equity-settled share-based payment reserve until
either the option is exercised (when it is transferred to
the share premium account) or the option expires (when
it is released directly to retained earnings).

(n) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised if, as a result of a past event, the
Group has a present legal or constructive obligation that can
be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation.
Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future
cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the liability.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
B 7 R R M EE (88)

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BRBEHEAN

AANREFIR)

2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(n) Provisions and contingent liabilities (Continued)
Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events,
are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability
of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

(o)

Turnover
Revenue recognition

0}

(ii)

Sales of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is measured at the fair
value of the consideration received or receivable, net of
returns and allowances, trade discounts and volume
rebates and excluding value added tax or other sales
taxes. Revenue is recognised when the significant risks
and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the
buyer, recovery of the consideration is probable, the
associated costs and possible return of goods can be
estimated reliably, and there is no continuing
management involvement with the goods. If it is
probable that discounts will be granted and the amount
can be measured reliably, the discount is recognised as
a reduction of revenue as the sales are recognised.

Rental income

Rental income from investment properties is recognised
in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of
the lease.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(p)

(a)

(r)

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the balance sheet
initially when there is reasonable assurance that they will be
received and that the group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them. Grants that compensate the group for
expenses incurred are recognised as revenue in profit or loss
on a systematic basis in the same periods in which the
expenses are incurred. Grants that compensate the group for
the cost of an asset are deducted from the carrying amount
of the asset and consequently are effectively recognised in
profit or loss over the useful life of the asset by way of
reduced depreciation expense.

Operating lease payment

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
lease. Lease incentives received are recognised as an integral
part of the total lease expenses, over the term of the lease.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset which
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for
its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of
that asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period
in which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a
qualifying asset commences when expenditure for the asset is
being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and
activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for its
intended use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation ceases
when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the
qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are interrupted or
complete.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
B 7 R R M EE (88)

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BRBEHEAN

AANREFIR)

2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(s) Finance income and expenses

(t)

Finance income comprises interest income and increase in fair
value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.
Interest income is recognised as it accrues, using the effective
interest method.

Finance expenses comprise interest expense on borrowings,
decreases in fair value of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss.

Foreign currency gains and losses are reported on a net basis.

Research and development costs

Expenditures on an internal research and development project
are classified into expenditures on the research phase and
expenditures on the development phase. Research is original
and planned investigation undertaken with the prospect of
gaining new scientific or technical knowledge and
understanding. Development is the application of research
findings or other knowledge to a plan or design for the
production of new or substantially improved materials,
devices, products or processes before the start of commercial
production or use.

Expenditures on research phase are recognised in profit or
loss when incurred. Expenditures on development phase are
capitalised if development costs can be measured reliably, the
product or process is technically and commercially feasible,
and the Group intends to and has sufficient resources to
complete development. Capitalised development costs are
stated at cost less impairment losses (see Note 2(1))ii)). Other
development expenditures are recognised as expenses in the
period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(u)

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements
in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized
in profit or loss except to the extent that they relate to items
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, in which case the relevant amounts of tax are
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income
for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted
at the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax
payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and
taxable temporary differences respectively, being the
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax bases.
Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax losses and
unused tax credits.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
B 7 R R M EE (58)

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  UAREIIR)

2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(u)

Income tax (Continued)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which the asset can be utilised, are recognised. Future taxable
profits that may support the recognition of deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences include those
that will arise from the reversal of existing taxable temporary
differences, provided those differences relate to the same
taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and are
expected to reverse either in the same period as the expected
reversal of the deductible temporary difference or in periods
into which a tax loss arising from the deferred tax asset can
be carried back or forward. The same criteria are adopted
when determining whether existing taxable temporary
differences support the recognition of deferred tax assets
arising from unused tax losses and credits, that is, those
differences are taken into account if they relate to the same
taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and are
expected to reverse in a period, or periods, in which the tax
loss or credit can be utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets
and liabilities are those temporary differences arising from
goodwill not deductible for tax purposes, the initial
recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither
accounting nor taxable profit (provided they are not part of a
business combination), and temporary differences relating to
investments in subsidiaries to the extent that, in the case of
taxable differences, the group controls the timing of the
reversal and it is probable that the differences will not reverse
in the foreseeable future, or in the case of deductible
differences, unless it is probable that they will reverse in the
future.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
g EL R )

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEHEEAN  RAREIIR)

2 BEREITHER@
(u) FIEBEZE

2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(u) Income tax (Continued)

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based on
the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the
carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.
The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and is reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will
be available to allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any
such reduction is reversed to the extent that it becomes
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available.
Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of
dividends are recognised when the liability to pay the related
dividends is recognised.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each other
and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset against
current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets against deferred
tax liabilities, if the company or the group has the legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current
tax liabilities and the following additional conditions are met:

— in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
company or the group intends either to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously; or

— in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either:

— the same taxable entity; or

— different taxable entities, which, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred
tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled
or recovered, intend to realise the current tax
assets and settle the current tax liabilities on a net
basis or realise and settle simultaneously.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
Bt 7% 3R R B &F (48)

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  UAREIIR)

2 Significant Accounting Policies (continved) 2 EREFHX®

(v) Related parties
(@ A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii)  is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or the Group's parent.

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

()  The entity and the Group are members of the
same Group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a Group of which the other entity is a
member).

(i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
g EL R )

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEHEEAN  RAREIIR)

2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 2 BBARETHER®E
(v) Related parties (Continued) (v) BER &)
(b)  (Continued) b) (&)
(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for vy BEEAAKNEBIMEAK
the benefit of employees of either the Group or EEEMBECELE R
an entity related to the Group. BEFMELHBERE
Mt &l -
(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a vy BEQFRTEATLT
person identified in (a). PRI S B S 2 o
(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant Vi) @OFTATALTHE
influence over the entity or is a member of the BEHREEATESA
key management personnel of the entity (or of a ERIZBEESTD
parent of the entity). AIZEFEEBEAE -
Close members of the family of a person are those ZERANTZREHEORTE
family members who may be expected to influence, or e Z2HERESS 2
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the ZAALTHXEEZE X
entity. RRK B °
(w) Segment reporting (w) 2R EH
Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item FESH R ETERRKATE R
reported in the these financial statements, are identified from MEDEEE LR JIBREZRD
the financial information provided regularly to the Group's RERFAEEZSEEKHEME
most senior executive management for the purposes of DEEAEEREMEEHREET
allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of, the AEBRSRTHREEREABENG
Group's various lines of business and geographical locations. BERMIEE -
Individually material operating segments are not aggregated B EREMS  BARNEELE
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have DETEEHER  EHEB D
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of HEABEUKLESHUARETE SR
the nature of products and services, the nature of production FREUEE AERFEE T
processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used FrEAS R - KSEE RS IRH
to distribute the products or provide the services, and the RGFERAN G EMEEREM
nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments B mEmEL - BIERIER o i 18 Rl
which are not individually material may be aggregated if they WHEBHEEDAERES £
share a majority of these criteria. MR - AR & 25W -
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
Bt 7% 3R R B &F (48)

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  UAREIIR)

3 Determination of Fair Value

A number of the Group's accounting policies and disclosures
require the determination of fair value, for both financial and non-
financial assets and liabilities. Fair values have been determined for
measurement or disclosure purposes based on the following
methods. When applicable, further information about the
assumptions made in determining fair values is disclosed in the
notes specific to that asset or liability.

(a) Property, plant and equipment

The fair value of property, plant and equipment recognised as
a result of a business combination is based on market values.
The market value of property is the estimated amount for
which a property could be exchanged on the date of valuation
between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm’s length
transaction after proper marketing wherein the parties had
each acted knowledgeably and willingly. The fair value of
items of plant, equipment, fixtures and fittings is based on
the market approach and cost approaches using quoted
market prices for similar items when available and
replacement cost when appropriate.

(b) Investment properties
The fair values of investment properties for disclosure purpose
are based on market values, being the estimated amount for
which a property could be exchanged on the date of the
valuation between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an
arm’s length transaction after proper marketing wherein the
parties had each acted knowledgeably and willingly.

(c) Non-derivative financial instruments
Fair value of non-derivative financial instruments carried at
amortised costs, which is determined for disclosure purpose,
is calculated based on the present value of future principal
and interest cash flows, discounted at the market rate of
interest at the reporting date.

The fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or

loss is determined by reference to their quoted closing bid
price at the reporting date.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

3 Determination of Fair Value (continued)

(d) Derivatives

(e)

The fair value of forward exchange contracts is based on their
quoted market prices, if available. If a quoted market price is
not available, then fair value is estimated by discounting the
difference between the contractual forward price and the
current forward price for the residual maturity of the contract
price using a risk-free interest rate (based on government
bonds).

Fair value reflects the credit risk of the instrument and
includes adjustments to take account of the credit risk of the
Group entity and counterparty when appropriate.

Inventories

The fair value of inventories acquired in a business
combination is determined based on the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated
costs of completion and sale, and a reasonable profit margin
based on the effort required to complete and sell the
inventories.

Adoption of New Accounting Policies

The IASB has issued a number of amendments to IFRSs, and one
new Interpretation that are first effective for the current accounting
period of the Group and the Company. Of these, the following
developments are relevant to the Group’s financial statements:

IAS 24 (revised 2009), Related Party Disclosures

Improvements to IFRSs (2010)

The Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation that
is not yet effective for the current accounting period.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
B 7 R R M EE (58)

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  UAREIIR)

4 Adoption of New Accounting Policies (continued)
The impacts of the above developments are discussed below:

o IAS 24 (revised 2009) revises the definition of a related party.
As a result, the Group has re-assessed the identification of
related parties and concluded that the revised definition does
not have any material impact on the Group's related party
disclosures in the current and previous period. IAS 24 (revised
2009) also introduces modified disclosure requirements for
government-related entities. This does not impact the Group
because the Group is not a government-related entity.

. Improvements to IFRSs (2010) omnibus standard introduce a
number of amendments to the disclosure requirements in
IFRS 7, Financial instruments: Disclosures. These amendments
do not have any material impact on the disclosures of the
Group's financial instruments in the financial statements.

5 Segment Reporting

The Group manages its business by product lines. In a manner
consistent with the way in which information is reported internally
to the Group’s senior executive management which has been
identified as the chief operating decision-maker for the purpose of
resource allocation and performance assessment, the Group has
presented the following three reportable segments. No operating
segments have been aggregated to form the following reportable
segments:

o Production and sale of Yashily pediatric milk formula
products: this segment includes development, manufacture
and sale of Yashily pediatric milk formula products and milk
formula for pregnant women in the PRC.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

Segment Reporting (continued)

o Production and sale of Scient pediatric milk formula products:
this segment includes development, manufacture and sale of
Scient pediatric milk formula products and milk formula for
pregnant women in the PRC.

° Production and sale of nutrition products: this segment
includes development, manufacture and sale of milk powder
for adults and teenagers, soymilk powder, rice flour and
cereal products in the PRC.

° Other operations include the production and sale of packing
materials, which mainly serve the Group's internal use, and
sale of surplus raw materials. The results of these operations
are included in the “Others” column.

For the purpose of assessing segment performance and allocating
resources among segments, the senior executive management team
assesses the performance of the operating segments based on a
measure of “reportable segment profit” i.e. “revenue less cost of
sales and selling and distribution expenses”. The Group does not
allocate other revenue, other net income or loss, net finance costs,
expenses other than certain selling and distribution expenses to its
segments, as the senior executive management does not use this
information to allocate resources to or evaluate the performance of
the operating segments. Segment assets and liabilities are not
regularly reported to the Group’s senior executive management and
therefore information of reportable segment assets and liabilities
are not presented in these financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

B 7% 3R 2% B o ()
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  UAREIIR)

5 Segment Reporting (continued) 5 K&
(a) Information about reportable segments (a) EBETEHRIEHHWER

Year ended 31 December 2011
201145 12A31H
Yashily Scient
pediatric pediatric
milk formula milk formula Nutrition

products products products Others Total
i ] e 2
B REME BHREWA
MBER MBER EEm Hits &t

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRE ARBETR AR¥TR ARETR AR¥ TR

Revenue from external AR H

customers WA 1,825,525 608,627 473,312 50,354 2,957,818
Inter-segment revenue 7 BB A U A — — — 136,067 136,067
Reportable segment revenue 7] £ ¥ 5 ¥ U A 1,825,525 608,627 473,312 186,421 3,093,885
Reportable segment profit 7] £ ¥ 5 36 % & 424,678 57,461 137,015 (6,258) 612,896
Segment depreciation DEBITER

and amortisation # 5 31,181 19,259 5,168 2,770 58,378
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)
(BREEHEBAI  LLARKEIITR)

5 Segment Reporting (continued) 5 KEDIw
(a) Information about reportable segments (@) EETEHsBNER ©)
(Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2010
2010512 A31H

Yashily Scient
pediatric pediatric
milk formula  milk formula Nutrition
products products products Others Total

biida gl R 8
BHRET  HRES
MhER  HHES E&Em Hit Bt
RMB'000 RMB'000O  RMB'0O00 ~ RMB'0O00  RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARETT

Revenue from external KEITFFEH
customers @N
Inter-segment revenue 2 BB A U A

Reportable segment revenue 7] £ ¥} 75 2B U A
Reportable segment profit & 2 ¥R %5 & % F

Segment depreciation 73 EBHT & K
and amortisation o

BLFEBRERERARA 2011F5]




Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

B 7% 3R 2% B o ()
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  UAREIIR)

— y»" 7 —
5 RK&EDI @

5 Segment Reporting (continued) K=
(b) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue (b) T2 D IPWABEEBE R
and profit or loss 1 iR
2011 2010
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR® TR ARETTT
Total reportable segment revenue B PN L 3,093,885 3,073,263
Elimination of inter-segment revenue & 4% 9> B &5 Uk A (136,067) (118,893)
Turnover X 2,957,818 2,954,370
Reportable segment profit Al 2 8|5 3 iam F 612,896 831,196
Other revenue and other net oAt YA R H Uy 55 0F BB
income 28,462 60,649
Unallocated amounts: RO ESEE
Selling and distribution expenses PHE R EE Y (136,451) (106,918)
Administrative expenses THAX (185,454) (182,823)
Net finance income/(costs) SFHBUA (R A) 62,393 (1,115)
Other expenses Hib (1Y) (11,536)
Profit before taxation & 5 Al Vs 375,389 589,453

(9]

Geographical information

The Group's revenue is solely from domestic sales during the
year. No export sales were recorded in the years ended 31
December 2010 and 2011. The Group’s senior executive
management periodically review the geographic analysis of
the revenue derived from Yashily and Scient pediatric milk
formula products, which summarises the revenue by different
tiers of cities where the Group’s customers operate. The
classification of the tiers is set out below:

o First-tier cities generally include direct-controlled
municipalities, the highest level of cities under the direct
administration of the PRC central government, and
provincial capital cities, including but not limited to
Beijing, Shanghai, Nanchang, Chongging, Shijiazhuang
and Guangzhou. As there is no official classification,
such classification is determined based on our directors’
knowledge and experience;

Yashili International Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2011

(c) HEESR

REFEHKRAZIBRAEFROA
5 o B £2010F & 20114F12 A 31
AEFEHEHSEOHEERT
e REBHNSHAITHREREASR
EHEMBELA R B E 4 R
T E R ETE S M RA B &
Mo HFRAEERFTE
Fr7E b 48 45 7 & Wk 1 4% B A9 IR
A BAMEDWT

s —HRET-—KREBRE®R
o APERRBEFEEE
BENRSERANT REE
W BERERRRIER
tE - mE BEE AXRH
REN BARRBEETD
B ZE0ERBAKEES
REEMNBENERET



Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

5 Segment Reporting (continued)

(c) Geographical information (Continued)

Second-tier cities generally refer to prefecture-level
cities, the administrative division of the PRC, ranking
below a province and above a county in China’s
administrative structure, including but not limited to
Dongguan, Nanyang, Jiujiang, Mianyang and Foshan.
As there is no official classification, such classification is
determined based on our directors’ knowledge and
experience;

Third-tier cities generally refer to county-level cities, the
county-level administrative divisions of the PRC,
including but not limited to Jinjiang, Yunmeng, Bozhou,
Kunshan and Luohe. As there is no official classification,
such classification is determined based on our directors’
knowledge and experience.

==

N
b ==

Bt 75 3R 3R B 5 ()

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  RAREIIR)

\ 3

BB ()

(o) HEER ()

R mMZERETRRE
ElmR™ - NP BEATTR
REFERERRNE &
EERERRE -EEH -
TRl mREE
BAFDE ZEHEALE
EEERBEHAFENER
EE

=REMIZETBEERT
BERBMHERT  BEET
BRREI E2 -2M B
W EIRA - RSB E T D
B REIEHAREES
RIBEMB N ERET -

Yashily pediatric milk HELREBHRES
formula products MPWER
Revenue derived from KB AT H & By U A
— First-tier cities —— /W
— Second-tier cities — /YW
— Third-tier cities and others — =R M REM
Total AE
Scient pediatric milk EEEY RES
formula products MWWER
Revenue derived from KB AT H[E B9 YA
— First-tier cities —— /W
— Second-tier cities — /YW
— Third-tier cities and others — =R mREM
Total ABET

2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARETT

263,214 306,715
930,782 1,005,652
631,529 503,766
1,825,525 1,816,133
64,494 90,879
437,459 465,895
106,674 67,570
608,627 624,344
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

B 7% 3R 2% B o ()
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  UAREIIR)

6 Turnover

The Group is principally engaged in the manufacturing and sales of
dairy and nourishment products. Turnover represents the sales value
of goods supplied to customers. Turnover excludes sales taxes and

is after deduction of any trade discounts.

The Group's customer base is diversified and no revenue from
transactions with a single customer amounted to 10% or more of

the Group'’s total turnover during the year.

7 Other Revenue and Other Expenses

(a) Other revenue

Government grants (i)
Compensation income (ii)

Rental income

Write-off of trade payables
Reversal of input VAT transfer-out
Others

B #78 B (i)

18 WA (i)
He B A
E B 5 AR
EHEERE HER
H Al

ERE

AEBTEREINGRERREE
REE 2XBEANEPHENE R
MIHEBE Z2XBITEREER
WM HEST -

AEENEFPERZ T RFER -

W EEFE—FFP RS H R
AEREBBERBENI0%IA L -

H At Y 25 K H A B <

(a) Hfbuzs
2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR T ARETT

27,222
4,301
4,206
1,495

22,808
1,202

61,234
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7 Other Revenue and Other Expenses (continued) 7

(a)

(b)

Other revenue (Continued)

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
Bt 7 3Rk R B &F (48)

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  RAREIIR)

Hitlzm kR HAM X

(a) Hbuzs e

(i)  Government grants in form of cash subsidies were () EEHHABRFUAESHED
received from the local government and they are as FERGETFTRBMF@EBIIT
follows:

2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET R ARBTFT

Compensation for expenses incurred ¥ 2 EA X HE#HE 14,797
Compensation for acquisition HEEEEMNME

of assets 5,117

Taxes refund R 7,308

27,222

(i)  Compensation income mainly represented forfeiture iy HWEBAXTZERFARR

received from distributor customers for cross territorial
sales that breached the terms of distribution agreements

EREHEBBEINEE
A& 88 & PR e R

during the year. g
Other expenses (b) HEAtBY %

2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AR T T
Loss on disposal of inventory (i) FEREEEK() 8,009
Others (i) oAb (i) 3,527
11,536

()  Loss on disposal of inventory mainly represented losses () FEBREELXFTZERAR

arising from stocktake loss, disposal of dampened or

deteriorated.

(i)  Others in 2011

(Guangdong)’s suppliers.

include a compensation of (ii)
approximately RMB2 million to one of Yashili

RARK - HERBRERS
BENTFERBRERRY
FHRTEERIRK -

R201MEF EBEE R
BERERETMN —RERE
BHEDNS  HARE200
BIL -
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

Bt 75 3R 3R B 5 ()

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  UAREIIR)

8 Profit before Taxation

Profit before taxation is arrived at after (crediting)/charging:

(a)

(b)

Finance (income)/costs

Finance income

Interest income

Net foreign exchange gain

Net realised and unrealised gains

R 2L N
M B WA
PEE 34, Ui 1 )% B

RHUBEENCDERR

BR i Bl V22 A

BREATDE R TE GEA) /B IA T & B
o

(@) B3 (W A), BR&

2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBETT

(44,017)
(2,828)

on trading assets RERW=FE (18,278)
Net unrealised gain on EHERKRERN
forward contracts W =% 58 =
Sub-total /INE (65,123)
Finance costs B 7 R A
Interest expense FEMAX 2,730
Sub-total Nt 2,730
Net finance (income)/costs BB (AR (62,393)
Staff costs (b) EIT A&
2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR F T
Salaries, wages and other benefits He TENEMET 221,310 181,280
Contributions to defined contribution 5 5 i R KT 21 #Y
retirement schemes e 14,866 12,106
Equity-settled share based MR E R D X HHIF X
payment expenses (Note 28) (B zE28) 10,160 4,536
246,336 197,922

Staff costs included directors’ and senior management’s

remuneration.
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8 Profit before Taxation (continued)

(b) Staff costs (Continued)

(o)

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
Bt 7 3Rk R B &F (48)

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  RAREIIR)

8 KRFAIRAN &)

(b) EI R A ()

Pursuant to the relevant labour rules and regulations in the WET BB S I EELE
PRC, the PRC subsidiaries of the Company have participated ARARWMFPENBAREZMN
in a defined contribution retirement benefit scheme (the B B SERNREHIGER
“Scheme”) organised by the local authority whereby the PRC BRI EI(TZea)) - Bz
subsidiaries are required to make contributions to the Scheme R NN = = =Nl = RN T =B
based on certain percentages of the eligible employee’s BEEREBEINGE2N—TE D
salaries. The local government authority is responsible for the th BE THMZTEMMHER-
entire pension obligations payable to the retired employees. WHBRFREASESRNERKEE X
The Group has no other obligations for payments of RTESEES AEBEKRIKZ X
retirement and other post-retirement benefits of employees FIT it 45 40 B9 L RBA O - R ERIE

other than the contributions described above.

Other items

Cost of inventories (i) (Note 20)
Depreciation:
— Property, plant and
equipment (i) (Note 14)
— Investment properties (Note 16)
Amortisation:
— Lease prepayments (Note 17)
— Intangible assets (Note 15)
— Other non-current assets
Operating lease charges
— Hire of plant, machinery
and properties
Auditors’ remuneration
— Audit and review services
Net loss on disposal of plant and
equipment
Impairment (write-back)/loss
— on trade receivables
— on other receivables
Rentals receivable from investment
properties less direct outgoings (ii)

NERASHEMRAREMNOE
-

(0 HibEH

2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T R ARETTT

FERAG) (K sE20) 1,569,494 1,426,388
e :

—WE - BB REE)

(FF3E14) vARET] 68,881

— B (Mix16) 1,449 1,271
By -

—BEAEE (E17) 2,935 2,485

—\EEEE (WiE15) 2,054 2,044

—HMIERDEE 1,563 757
KeHEB A

—HABE - #eE Rk

W) % 13,252 12,074

%2 ED B &

— B MEBRS 2,530 2,000
LERERZENER

gt 252 585
WA (EE), TBK

— B ZEK (55) 1,170

— H b FE WK — (234)
REWERKES

£ B S () (4,115)

BEFEBRERERAT 2011FFR ,‘ 3 ,‘



Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

B 7% 3R 2% B o ()
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  UAREIIR)

8 Profit before Taxation (continued)

(c) Other items: (Continued)

8 KRFAIRAN &)

(0 HbEE : ()

(i) Cost of inventories includes RMB96,708,000 for the N TFEKABEHZE2011F
year ended 31 December 2011 relating to staff costs NRANBLEFEHARE
and depreciation (2010: RMB77,745,000), which 96,708,0007T * Jy # 8 T AY
amounts are also included in the respective total AEITEBRBQOIOE: A
amounts disclosed above or in Note 8(b) for each of R #77,745,0007C ) © M £

these types of expenses.

& B E A £ XX
FE8(b) 5 SN K BE 1 K IR AR R
P AR ©

(i) Direct outgoing of investment properties are (i) #HZE2011F12A31H IEF
RMB117,000 for the year ended 31 December 2011 B KEYMENEETLE A

(2010: RMB91,000).

9 Income Tax Expense

AR #117,0007T (20104 :
AR #91,0007T) °

9 FEHAX

(a) Taxation in the consolidated statement of comprehensive (a) AHEFEAWTZRANME[RAX

income represents:

Current tax — PRC income tax
Provision for the year

Over provision in respect of prior years
Deferred tax — PRC income tax

2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AR®BTT

B E—FBEREH

F R 102,791 58,126
WA FEBEREE (495) (15)

FriEREEE (35,332) 28,201

Total income tax expense

EERE—FBEFREH 66,964 86,312
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

B 75 3R 2% B & ()
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  RAREIIR)

9 Income Tax Expense (continued) 9 FBHEZw
(b)  Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting profit at b)) TEHRZEZERAREFENS
applicable tax rates: 5% B AR
2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®BTR ARETT

Profit before taxation B 75 B 4 A 375,389 589,453
Notional tax on profit before taxation, BREROE2G)VNHREE ER

calculated at the rates applicable to s FEA MR R EMSE

profits in the tax jurisdictions B BR 0 AT % M 2 & TR IR

concerned (i) to (iii) 90,606 147,363

Over provision in prior year T FEBEEE (495) (15)

Effect of non-deductible expenses EEE A0 4,618 3,260

Effect of preferential tax rates on BENREBIEE MBS

current tax payable (iii) 522 (iii) (3,785) (64,666)
Effect of tax rate differential (iii) %R < = B E (i) (1,859) (11,018)
Change in (recognised)/unrecognised BR),/ RAERELHIERN

temporary differences and tax losses TR =R IEJESTE E’] b (CR:£1)) 1,181
Effect of utilisation of temporary BANGEFERERYE

differences and tax losses EREBIEE TE 127 gé? (19,002) (1,218)

Effect of withholding income tax (iv) FEIRFTIER A Z ( v) 3,436 11,664

Effect of non-taxable income THBRANZE (720) (239)

Income tax expense FieBimx 66,964 86,312

() Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman ) REFSESRRABREX
Islands and the BVI, the Group is not subject to any HENRE AR  AEE
income tax in the Cayman Islands and the BVI. BALHEHRERRBRE

TEEBMNEMMER -

(i) No provision was made for Hong Kong Profits Tax as (i) BRAKBEEHZ20105
the Group did not earn income subject to Hong Kong K201MF12A3NB EFE
Profits Tax for the years ended 31 December 2010 and W EREBUA M EBFE
2011, BEWA  ASBFTRE

BT
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  UAREIIR)

9 Income Tax Expense (continued)

(b)  (Continued)

(i)  Pursuant to the Corporate Income Tax Law of the PRC
passed by the Tenth National People’s Congress on 16
March 2007 (the “New Tax Law"), the statutory income
tax rate of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries is 25% from 1
January 2008. There are transitional preferential tax
treatments available under the New Tax Law and its

relevant regulations.

Guangdong Yashili Group Company Limited (“Yashili
(Guangdong)”), being a manufacturing foreign
investment enterprise (“FIE”), was entitled to a two-year
full exemption from income tax followed by a three-
year 50% reduction in income tax (“2+3 tax holiday”).
Yashili (Guangdong) started its tax holiday in 2006 and
the tax holiday is grandfathered. As a result, it is subject
to income tax at 12.5% in 2010 and 25% from 2011

onwards, respectively.

Scient (Guangzhou) Baby Nourishment Co., Ltd (“Scient
(Guangzhou)”), being a manufacturing FIE established
in Guangzhou Economic and Technological
Development Zone, was entitled to both the 2+3 tax
holiday and a preferential tax rate of 15%. According
to the New Tax Law and its relevant regulations, the
transitional income tax rates are 22%, 24% and 25%
for 2010, 2011 and 2012 onwards, respectively

("transitional rates”).

Yashili International Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2011
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(b)

(%)

(iii)

BEFTEZBEBARARR
KER2007F3 16 HE B
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W RREBDHERE - ER
# + F 82006 5 15 %
B ZeBBATZHBEN
PRI o AL - B M AR
20104 7] #212.5% 1 & &
TR B20114F # 8] % 25%
TR -

MECEM) B4R EEH
ER2E(TERE(EM)]
B TE N A T R B R
R R EERIINERE G
¥ ZEMEZRERTE
R15%H) 12 BB Ko 1R &
MBEREMBBEER ®
20104 ~ 20114 K 20124
BRBREFTSB B ED
B522% ~ 24% K 25% ([1B %
HE]) -
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

Income Tax Expense (continued)

(b)

(Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

(Continued)

Yashili (Zhengzhou) Nourishment Co., Ltd (“Yashili
(Zhengzhou)”), being a manufacturing FIE established in
Zhengzhou Economic and Technological Development
Zone, was entitled to both the 2+3 tax holiday and a
preferential tax rate of 15%. Its tax holiday is
grandfathered and is entitled to the abovementioned
transitional rates. Yashili (Zhengzhou) started its tax
holiday in 2008 and is exempted from income tax for
2009 and subject to income tax at 11%, 12%, 12.5%
and 25% for 2010, 2011, 2012 and from 2013
onwards, respectively.

Pursuant to the New Tax Law and its relevant
regulations, PRC-resident enterprises are levied
withholding tax at 10% on dividends to their non-PRC-
resident corporate investors for profits earned since 1
January 2008. Under the Sino-Hong Kong Double Tax
Arrangement and its relevant regulations, a qualified
Hong Kong tax resident which is the “beneficiary
owner” and holds 25% equity interests or more of a
PRC enterprises is entitled to a reduced withholding tax
rate of 5%. On this basis, the Group has made provision
of withholding income tax on the distributable profits
generated by PRC subsidiaries.

Bt 75 3R R B 5 (D)

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  RAREIIR)

9 FEHHEXZw@

(Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

(%)

HETR(EMN) EERER
AR ([HELFI(EIM)]) BE
B0 N 407 B0 B B [® AR 3L
MAEERINEEEDLE:
ZEEMEZREERHAR
15%HK) 1B B 8 K o J L+ F
(B M BB TZ
ERRS 7=H LdmiB
ERLE o FELF (EI) BER
20084F Rt 2 B HA - W0 R
2009F R FT B H - MR
2010 4F ~ 2011 & ~ 2012 &
}20131% &) BT 15 %4 7% & B
DR A11%  12% * 12.5%
. 25% o

KEFTREREBEBE
oo EERD 52008
F1H18 EBEEAEF M
IHPEEROEREEIR
BB AEUIR10% TEIR AT
B BIBEAMIE SRR
CERBLHERERBE
H O AERBAMBERM
BIExHEAl UHEE—
R EDE5%HU LD
fetE - BIAT @ AR £5%
MIERBEE R EE - K
CSEERTENBARE
& /R DR & A 1E TR
IRFTIS TR -
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
Bt 7% 3% 3R B &F (48)

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  UAREIIR)

10 Directors’ Remuneration

Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to section 161 of the

10 E=MS

REFBERAAGIFEI6IGKENE

Hong Kong Companies Ordinance is as follows: EMemT
Salaries, Equity-settled
allowances Retirement share- based
Directors’  and benefits Discretionary schemes payment 2011
fees in kind bonuses  contributions expenses Total
F¢ 2ER BREtE BRESER®G
EEWS BB Mg AL HE% XX &t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRT AR®TRT AR%TR AR®TX ARETRT AR%®TxR
Executive directors: HTESE:
— Mr. Zhang Likun — SR A
— Mr. Zhang Liming —RABLEE
— Mr. Zhang Lidian — RAEHEE
— Mr. Zhang Libo —RAKEE
— Mr. Zhang Yanpeng (i) — o JiE 15 25 A (i)
Sub-total N
Non-executive directors: FHTES:
— Mr. Luo Yi (iii) — & — % (i)
— Mr. Zhang Chi —RAMEE
— Mr. Zhang Herman —RRE LA
Hsiu Guo (iv) (iv)
Sub-total g
Independent non-executive BV EHITESE :
directors
— Mr. Chen Yongguan —BkREE
— Mr. Yu Shimao —RUEKEE
— Mr. Samuel —EBWEEE
King On Wong
Sub-total INE
Total &
(i) Mr. Wu Xiaonan, an executive director, resigned on 19 April 2011, (i) REMEENR2011F4H19B8 B EH
TESE -
(i)  Mr. Zhang Yanpeng was appointed as executive director at the (iy RIEBLER201MFA2BEREE
annual general meeting on 2 June 2011. BREAE LBEEZEARWNITES -
(i) ~ Mr. Luo Yi, a non-executive director, resigned on 23 November 2011. (i) F‘—EER201MFNNHAHEEH
HITEE—H -
(iv)  Mr. Chang Herman Hsiu-Guo was appointed as non-executive (iv) FOREEER201MFINAEESR

director on 23 November 2011.

Yashili International Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2011
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
Bt 76 3 3% BT & (4E)

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)
(BREEHEBAI  LLARKEIITR)

10 Directors’ Remuneration (continued) 10 EEM S »)
Salaries, Equity-settled
allowances Retirement share- based
Directors’ and benefits  Discretionary schemes payment 2010
fees in kind bonuses  contributions expenses Total
e RERK RRErE REEERH
B2 B BB TEAL xR SRR At
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTT AR®TRE AR®TE ARBTR ARBTT ARETRE

Executive directors: HITES:
— Mr. Zhang Likun — SRR A
— Mr. Zhang Liming —RMEALAE
— Mr. Zhang Lidian —RAHEE
— Mr. Zhang Libo — R EAE
— Mr. Wu Xiaonan (i) —REMEL()
Subtotal N
Non-executive directors: FHTES:
— Mr. Luo Yi (iii) — % — 55 A (i)
— Mr. Zhang Chi — R A
Sub-total Nt
Independent non-executive B FHITES :
directors:
— Mr. Chen Yongguan — Bk R E
— Mr. Yu Shimao —REEEE
— Mr. Samuel
King On Wong — BT RE
Sub-total Nt
Total =5

BLFEBRERERARA 2011F5]




Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
Bt 7% 3% 3R B &F (48)

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  UAREIIR)

11 Individuals with Highest Emoluments "M &EeFHMAL
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, two of them hEEeFTMALTY WEBAEBES
(2010: three) are directors. The aggregate of the emoluments in (2010F : =&) - Z=H(2010F : =
respect of these three (2010: two) individuals are as follows: BB MATHEFBEENT
2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR T ARETT

Salaries and other emoluments HeREMEE 937
Discretionary bonuses BIETE AL 314
Retirement schemes contributions RORET B3R —
1,251
The emoluments of the three (2010: two) individuals with the Z=%Q0I0F: —R)BREFHHA L
highest emoluments are within the following band: HF BN E T -
Number of individuals
AE
2011 2010
RMB500,000 to RMB1,000,000 AR #500,0007T &
A R #1,000,0007T 2
RMB 1,000,000 to RMB2,000,000 AR # 1,000,000 &

A R #2,000,0007T

Yashili International Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2011
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

Profit Attributable to Equity Shareholders
of the Company

The consolidated profit attributable to equity shareholders of the
Company includes a profit/(loss) of RMB233,334,000 (2010:
RMB(3,975,000)) which has been dealt with in the financial state-
ments of the Company.

Details of dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company

B 75 3R 2% B & ()
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  RAREIIR)

12%@E%%%ﬁk@ﬁ%
|

ARARIREREABREEHENDE
—HEHRARR M HRERDEDEF A
R #233,334,00070 (20104 : &5 B A
R #3,975,0007T) °

EHCRARERARAREREAX

are set out in Note 30(b).

Earnings Per Share

(a) Basic earnings per share

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the
consolidated profit attributable to equity shareholders of the
Company of RMB306,258,000 (2010: RMB502,354,000) and
the weighted average of 3,513,399,533 ordinary shares (2010:
3,021,928,767) in issue during the year, calculated as follows:

Weighted average number of ordinary shares

Share issued upon incorporation
(Note 30(c)(i))

Share issued upon Reorganisation
(Note 30(c)(i))

Capitalisation issue (Note 30(c)(ii))

Effect of issuance of shares by
share offer (Note 30(c)(iii))

Share options exercised (Note 30(c)(v))

Shares repurchased (Note 30(c)(iv))

B0 B B B0 S B A FE T 30(b)

13 BREF

() BREXER
BREARBMN TR ARQAR
EEAAEMGLGZIARE
306,258,0007C (20105 : A R #
502,354,0007T) & F A E 817
3 % 3,513,399,533 A% (2010 4 :
3,021,928,767 % ) #9 h1 # F 9 &

FEMT
=B IR B9 0 15 2
2011 2010
No. of shares No. of shares
B 15 % 17
PARE AR S B B 1T M AR 1D
(B FE30(0)(0)) 1
REARETHRG
(Bt 5% 30(0)(0)) 99,999 99,999

& A BT (M 5E30()i))
BB MHEEET

A& 19 1 2 2 (Bt 53 30(c)(ii))
B& 1 32 5 17 4 (Bt 52 30()(v))
% 173 21 88 (B 5 30(c)(iv))

2,925,900,000

2,925,900,000

574,000,000 95,928,767
18,920,081 =
(5,520,548) =

Weighted average number of
ordinary shares during the year
ended 31 December

P A A AR A S 158X

ERNERLERCEN 3,021,928,767

BEFEBRERERAT 2011FFR



Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
Bt 7% 3% 3R B &F (48)

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  UAREIIR)

13 Earnings Per Share (continued)

(b) Diluted earnings per share
The calculation of diluted earnings per share is based on the
consolidated profit attributable to equity shareholders of the
Company of RMB306,258,000 (2010: RMB502,354,000) and
the weighted average of 3,565,287,966 (2010: 3,093,138,808)
ordinary shares (diluted), calculated as follows:

13 BRER @)

(b) BREBER
FREERF IR AN A RER
B AR FIA R # 306,258,000
7L (20104 = A K % 502,354,000
7T ) K 3,565,287,966 % i A% (2010
4F : 3,093,138,808) K Nl # F 13 &

(B8 EmT :
Weighted average number of ordinary shares = AR B0
2011 2010
No. of shares No. of shares
& 12 B& 5
Weighted average number of ordinary R A ESE AT
shares during the year ended T 58 AR Y
31 December before dilution DNHE S5 81 ERNERLREEN 3,021,928,767
Effect of deemed issue of shares under WARIERIBA R A

the Company’s share option scheme
for nil consideration (Note 28)

BREZUNTARE
BT M2 2 (M 7E28) 51,888,433

Weighted average number of
ordinary shares during the year ended
31 December after dilution

REREE R
Bl
In#E S 15 8 3,565,287,966

Yashili International Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2011
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
B 3 R R B = (48D

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)
(BREEHEBAI  LLARKEIITR)

14 Property, Plant and Equipment 14 NFE - -BERRZRE
Machinery Office and
Construction  Plant and and Motor other
in progress  buildings equipment vehicles equipment Total
B E X B R WAER
EEIR B B4 HEE HMRE &5t

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTIT ARBTT ARBTIT ARBTL ARBTT ARBTT

Cost: B
At 1 January 2010 20101 H81H
Additions NE
Transfer from/(to) construction wEa/ (%)

in progress FERIE
Transfer to intangible assets BREEFEE

(Note 15) (i &E15)
Disposals &
Transfer to investment properties EEZIRE Y%

(Note 16) (f5E16)
Reclassification E |
Addition from business eSSl

combination
At 31 December 2010 2010612 A31H
At 1 January 2011 RN2011F1 818 58,487 411,805 335,917 50,290 57,756 914,255
Additions NE 68,253 1,889 19,117 4,458 7,539 101,256
Transfer from/(to) construction gra/(%)

in progress IR (14,208) 459 6,244 1,227 (6,240)
Transfer from intangible assets BRABFEE

(Note 15) (WH5E15) — 103
Disposals HE (EEE)) (4,002)
Transfer to investment properties ~ & =18 & ¥ ¥

(Note 16) (5 16) = (6,456) (6,456)
At 31 December 2011 R2011%E12A318 112,635 407,364 360,115 998,916

BERAERZERERAT 2011FFR



Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

B 7% 3R 2% B o ()
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  UAREIIR)

14 Property, Plant and Equipment (continued) 14 Y% - BENRFZE
Machinery Office and
Construction  Plant and and Motor other
in progress  buildings equipment vehicles equipment Total
B E X B R WAER
EEIR B B4 BBE HMRE &5t

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTIT ARBTT ARBTIT ARBTL ARBTT ARBTT

Accumulated depreciation: 2iiE:

At 1 January 2010 R2010F1R1H — (33,487) (70,982) (21,425) (18,312)  (144,206)
Charge for the year ERFE —  (18246)  (33206)  (7,089)  (10340) (68,881
Written back on disposal & B 83 o) — — 1,664 560 1,727 3,951
Transfer to investment properties & £ 1% & ¥ %

(Note 16) (K3 16) — 1,431 — — — 1,431
Reclassification ENE — 842 273 (1,805) 690 —
At 31 December 2010 2010612 A31H — (49,460)  (102,251) (29,759) (26,235)  (207,705)
At 1 January 2011 R2011FE1 /18 (49,460)  (102,251) (29,759) (26,235)  (207,705)
Charge for the year FRTE (17,735)  (35,083) (6,831)  (11,507)  (71,156)
Written back on disposal LD 58 573 2,032 142 2,805
Transfer to construction EEHE

in progress FEIR 6,155 85 6,240
Transfer to investment properties ~ & =18 & ¥ ¥

(Note 16) (Fft 5% 16) 425 — — — 425
At 31 December 2011 R2011F12A31H (66,712)  (130,606) (34,558) (37,515)  (269,391)
Net book value: BRTEHE
At 31 December 2011 R2011E12A31H 112,635 340,652 229,509 18,002 28,727 729,525
At 31 December 2010 M2010F 12 A31H 58,487 362,345 233,666 20,531 31,521 706,550
No interest on borrowings was capitalised for the year ended 31 HE201MF12A3MHEFEIEMER
December 2011. MEERE -

As of 31 December 2011, the building ownership certificate of R2011F 128318 BERE L &
Yashili (Guangdong) and Yashili (Shanxi)’s plant and buildings with WA H S REREESG EAREK
carrying amount totalling RMB15,666,708 (2010: RMB28,214,000) 15,666,708 T E REFEEERE
have not yet been issued. The directors of the Company do not FT B # % (20104 : A R 28,214,000
foresee any substantial obstacle in obtaining the ownership To) o ANFEEFEE - LEE Lk
certificate of the above mentioned plant and buildings. EREFHNMEREIE LI g8

EFERERER -

The Group’s plant and buildings are located in the PRC under AEBNBREREFANFE - 5
medium-term leases. REIFRAEE -

Yashili International Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2011



Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

Bt 75 3R 3R B 5 ()

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  RAREIIR)

14 Property, Plant and Equipment (continued) 14 Y% - BWERRZ®E®

15

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment pledged to
secure the advances from local governments (Note 26(i)) and
certain bank loans (Note 27) are set out as below:

RIS 3 7 BT A8 SR (MY RE 26(0) BB
TRATER (M E27) MEBERB Y E -

plant and equipment

Carrying amount of pledged property,

BE R EFENREEDT
2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARETT

BEEAME BE X

REHEREE 108,586

Intangible Assets

Cost:

As at the beginning of the year

Addition during the year

Transfer from/(to) construction
in progress (Note 14)

15 BILEE

The Group
rEE

2011 2010
RMB’000
ARBTR

RMB’000
ARETTT

B

R E ]

FRRE

#EEge (R)ERTE
(FfsE14)

As at the end of the year

Accumulated amortisation:
As at the beginning of the year
Charge for the year
Transfer to construction

in progress (Note 14)

HRSEETR
(Pt 5E14)

As at the end of the year

Carrying amount:
As at the end of the year

The intangible assets represented purchased and customised

BREESNHEHENEEE RITRAY
HASBRENEMF B EEHE

software held by the Group. Amortisation of the intangible assets is
included in “Administrative expenses”.

Tiat AT R X -

BEFEBRERERAT 2011FFR ,‘ 43



Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
Bt 7% 3% 3R B &F (48)

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  UAREIIR)

16 REW=

16 Investment Properties

The Group
rE
2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARBTFT
Cost: A
As at the beginning of the year REY) 76,146
Transfer from plant and buildings ERERAMEMETF
(Note 14) (Fff&E14) 6,456
As at the end of the year RERXR 82,602
Accumulated amortisation: E- -
As at the beginning of the year RE (4,394)
Charge for the year FAWE (1,449)
Transfer from plant and buildings EREmEREF
(Note 14) (Ff&E14) (425)
As at the end of the year RER (6,268)
Carrying amount: BREE
As at the end of the year REXR 76,334

The fair value of the investment properties, as determined based on
the valuation analysis on an open market value basis with reference
to market transactions of similar properties, is estimated to be
approximately RMB173,393,404 as at 31 December 2011 (2010:
RMB118,147,000).

WEMENARBEDIZRBREUD
¥NMERS BREGEITUALHE
mERELEET  R2011F12H31
H - REMENLDABEMGTHORA
R #173,393,4047C (2010F : A R
118,147,0007T) °

Yashili International Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2011



Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
Bt 7 3Rk R B &F (48)

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  RAREIIR)

16 Investment Properties (continued) 16 BEWZE »)
The carrying value of investment properties comprises properties: WEERETERIATEARR :
The Group
rE
2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR TR ARETT

In the PRC under a medium-term lease ERBEETRHENRFR 70,093
In the United States of America on EXBEMNBEELH s F

a self-owned land 1,659
Total &5 71,752
The carrying amount of investment properties pledged to secure K201 F12A318 A BEREMEE
the Group's certain bank loans as at 31 December 2011 is nil (2010: RASBRITERAER010F - A
RMB70,093,000). R #70,093,0007T) °

BEFEBRERERAT 2011FFR



Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

Bt 75 3R 3R B 5 ()

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  UAREIIR)

17 Lease Prepayments

17 E{SHEHE

The Group
RE
2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T AR T
Cost: A
As at the beginning of the year RE] 146,460 121,123
Addition during the year FANE = 25,337
As at the end of the year RER 146,460 146,460
Accumulated amortisation: Sty
As at the beginning of the year RE ] (10,158) (7,673)
Charge for the year F A (2,935) (2,485)
As at the end of the year REXR (13,093) (10,158)
Carrying amount: FREE
As at the end of the year REXR 133,367 136,302

Interests in leasehold land represent prepayments of land use rights
premium to the PRC authorities by the Group. The Group's
leasehold land is located in the PRC, on which its manufacturing
plants were built. The Group is granted land use rights for a period

of 50 years.

The carrying amount of lease prepayments pledged to secure the
Group'’s certain bank loans as at 31 December 2011 is nil (2010:

RMB38,418,000).

Yashili International Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2011
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

B 75 3R 2% B & ()
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  RAREIIR)

18 Income Tax in the Consolidated Balance 18 2 EEABRIWFE

Sheet B
(@) Current taxation in the balance sheet ) EEEBRIPVEPHE
represents: 5
The Group
rE
2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARBTFT
Provision for PRC income tax for the year 4 (A /B [ FT 15 %4 55 & 102,791 58,126
— PRC income tax paid —ENHEMER (49,689) (27,180)
— Addition from business combination — EBKAHHEM = 2,254
53,102 33,200
Represented by: Hep e
Income tax payables BNEAIIE B & 53,102 33,200

BEFEBRERERAT 2011FFR ,‘ 4 ;



Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
Bt 7% 3% 3R B &F (48)

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)
(BRBEEBAI  LAARETITR)

18 Income Tax in the Consolidated Balance 18 €1 H&EEBEEXEP VRSB

Sheet (continued) B o)
(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised: (b) CHEBNVEEHBEEER
&8
The Group NE
The components of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised ERAHEERBEANEANE
in the consolidated balance sheet and the movements during EHRBEE/(BE)NAKIES
the year are as follows: RERNGES DT

Loss
arising  Arising from
Provision  from the undistributed

Inventory  Deferred Tax  Expense  forsales melamine earnings of
provision income losses accruals return incident PRC  Others Total
23 803

EHR HE BHRBRH  HKELR
FEER ELk: HEER BREA BESE  HEX REWUE Htt At
RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®E  ARE  AR®  AR®  AR®  AR¥ ARE  AR¥ AR¥

F T Fr Fr F F Fr T F
Deferred tax arising from: ATHEEEEMN
EERE :
At 1 January 2010 20101818
Credited to profit or loss EREPEA
Addition from business combination RAEBAHK
#m
At 31 December 2010 M2010E 128318
At 1 January 2011 R201MFE1A1R 6,613 8,685 (11,664) 5113 39,116
Credited to profit or loss FERHEREA (1,555) 11,012 9,064 5377 35332
At 31 December 2011 R2011E 128318 5,058 19,697 (2,600) 10,490 74,448
2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR ARETTT
Represented by: H @i
Deferred tax assets LT IBE E
Deferred tax liabilities EERIBEAE

Yashili International Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2011



Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

18 Income Tax in the Consolidated Balance
Sheet (Continued)

(9

(d)

Deferred tax assets not recognised

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 2(u)
the Group has not recognised the following deductible
temporary differences and unused tax losses as deferred tax
assets as it is not probable that future taxable income against
which the temporary differences and unused tax losses can be
utilised will be available.

Temporary difference BRERE

Tax losses HMIEBE
—duein 2013 — 20134 3| &
—duein 2014 — 20144 3| Hf
— due in 2015 — 20154 2| £

— due in 2016 and afterwards

—20164F K bA1& B HA

B 75 3R 2% B & ()
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  RAREIIR)

18 eHEEEBRPNME
Bl )

(0 REINEEREEE
4% 9 W A2 2(u) FT 80 & B BOK
AN S B R A TS AL AN
BRABABRABBERRRET
PREEE RERAEETKA
Bl 1 7 R R FE AR Bt U A A b
ARBANEREERRP AR

Total &t

Deferred tax liabilities not recognised

At 31 December 2011, the undistributed profits of some of
the Group’s PRC subsidiaries amounted to RMB502,379,000
(2010: RMB527,775,000). Temporary differences relating to
the undistributed profits of the Group’s certain subsidiaries in
the Mainland China amounted to RMB280,047,000 (2010:
RMB141,788,000). Deferred tax liabilities of RMB14,002,000
(2010: RMB7,089,000) have not been recognised in respect
of the withholding tax that would be payable on the
distribution of these retained profits, as the Company controls
the dividend policy of these subsidiaries in the Mainland
China and the Directors have determined that these profits
are not likely to be distributed in the foreseeable future.

JHER -
201 2010
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T R ARET T
57,524
57,874 151,300
— 1,385
6,291 —
103,845 210,209
(d) RERNELEHIREE

R2011E12A831B BB A E
EETFHEKERRNADRER
A A A R #502,379,0007T (2010
#F: AR #527,775000T ) A
BAAEESE THERRKRENNE
ARAMARSEFMB 2GRN ZE
£ A& A R #280,047,0007T (2010
£ AR #141,788,0007T ) °
R R B E G S B K EER
MEBARMREHE  WAXRA
RIEECETHA RAERE G
TS 7~ & o 1tk 55 A B K B O BT
NEDE MARBERN DA
ERTFHANEAZHMNINETH
X A R #14,002,0007T (2010
F o AR #7,089,0007T) A IE I
REAMG-

BEFEBRERERAT 2011FFR /‘ 4 ;
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(BEEEAN  UAREIIR)

19 Interests in Subsidiaries

The Company

19

R~ B Ry R
KATH

2011
RMB'000
ARBTR

17,549
EWAER: 1Y)

Unlisted shares at cost FELETRG  EEA
Amounts due from subsidiaries NGBS
Total =X

3,231,411

The balances with subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free, and
repayable on demand. These balances are expected to be recovered
after more than one year.

At the date of this report, the Company has direct or indirect
interests in the following subsidiaries. The class of shares held is
ordinary. The particular of those subsidiaries are set out below:

HHBATZMNBTELBER £
BREERMEE - REHBERMN B
B— R -

RAREBH ARARTIMER
ABEAEERIEEED  MEMFR
MBERNREBR - ZEFWE QAN
(CRCINE

Proportion of
ownership interest

BEERBELH
Place of Particulars of Group's Held Held
Incorporation/ registered/ effective by the by a
Name of company establishment  issued capital interest Company  subsidiary Principal activity
H— =X
&F 1 A 32 HMES/ AKEWN MARR Wi 2 R
DR ERB FRL b B ERTKRAFE EBEERESR B®E BE TEEK
. ________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________|
Yashili International Ltd. (“Yashili (BVI)")  British Virgin Us$1 100% 100% — Investment holding
Islands “BVI"
HTFBEEER AR (TYashili BV))) HRBEXHS 1%7T REER
Yashili International Group Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% — 100%  Investment holding
(“Yashili (HK)")
HEEHEREEERAA Bk AT REER
(LR E®R)D
Yashili Hong Kong International Hong Kong HK$1 100% — 100%  Production and
Trading Co., Limited (“Yashili Trading"”) sales of dairy
products
HETHEBBERESHERAA B 18T EHANER R
(HLMES]) B R
Guangdong Yashili Group Company PRC RMB726,105,300 100% — 100%  Production and
Limited (“Yashili (Guangdong)”) (i)&(ii) sales of dairy
products
Vﬁ?ﬁiﬂggﬁﬁﬁ Y AR® EEREE
(TERELA]) 726,105,300 7T A8

,‘ E i O Yashili International Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2011



19 Interests in Subsidiaries (continued)

The Company (Continued)

Place of

Incorporation/
Name of company establishment
18 AR L

ARER R 3 4t B

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
Bt 7 3Rk R B &F (48)

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BREEHEAN

AANREFIR)

19 REEB A RAINER @)

b NUNNCIRE))

Proportion of
ownership interest

Principal activity

TBREHR

Scient (Guangzhou) Baby Nourishment PRC
Co., Ltd. (“Scient (Guangzhou)”) (ii)

BREEMEBHZEERAERD HE
([ B (M) 1) G

Heilongjiang Yashili Dairy Co., Ltd. PRC
("Yashili (Heilongjiang)”) (ii)

EEIRTHNAXZAERRAR HE
(TRETHELFI) Gi)

Yashili (Zhengzhou) Nourishment Co., Ltd  PRC
("Yashili (Zhengzhou)”) (ii)

BT (BN EERBRAR HE
(THE £ F0 (&N 1) (i)

Shanxi Yashili Dairy Co., Ltd. PRC
(“Yashili (Shanxi)") (ii)

IWAEELTFEEERAA HE
(ML) (i)

Chaoan Bisheng Decoration and PRC
Printing Co., Ltd. (“Bisheng”) (ii)

BMRGVBEERZDNEERAR HE
(T8 1) i)

Guangzhou Yugian Import and PRC
Export Trading Co., Ltd. (“Yugian") (ii)

BENREELROBSARRD H

(f%@ﬁij)()

Shanghai Yashili Food Co., Ltd PRC
("Yashili (Shanghai)") (ii)

EERELRERER AR Y

(T &R A (i

BEREZLH
Particulars of Group's Held Held
registered/ effective by the by a
issued capital interest Company  subsidiary
H—%
ZMEER  AEEH HARAT BB AR
BRITREAFE EBEEEXR BA 5E
RMB155,000,000 95% — 95%
AR®
155,000,000 7T
RMB20,080,000 100% — 100%
AR
20,080,000 7T
RMB250,000,000 100% — 100%
AR
250,000,000 7T
RMB30,000,000 100% — 100%
AR
30,000,000
RMB10,800,000 100% — 100%
AR®
10,800,0007T
RMB5,000,000 100% — 100%
AR
5,000,000 7T
RMB2,000,000 100% — 100%

AR®
2,000,0007C

HELFBEREZERERQF

2011 FF 5|

Production and
sales of dairy
products

EERBEE
Am

Production and
sales of dairy
products

EERBEE
@

Production and
sales of dairy
products

EERBEE
@

Production and
sales of dairy
products

EEREE
@

Production and
sales of packing
materials

HERBEE

®iH

Import and export
of dairy products
and related
materials

EROI LR
B

Sales of food
products
HERM
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AANREFIR)

19 Interests in Subsidiaries (continued)

The Company (Continued)

19 REEB A RAINER @)
/NN )

Proportion of

ownership interest

BEREZLH
Held Held
by the by a
Company  subsidiary Principal activity
H—%
HARAT BB AR
BB BE XEER

Place of Particulars of Group's
Incorporation/ registered/ effective
Name of company establishment  issued capital interest
= A2 HMEXR/ EEEH
AR R 3 1t B BRITREAFE EBEEEXR
. ________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________|
Scient International (USA), Inc. United States of US$620,000 100%
("Scient (USA)") America
ZBELERERAR(EERE]) XNBERE 620,000 7T
Chaoan Victory Trading Limited PRC RMB5,000,000 100%
("Victory Trading”) (ii)
L HERKE S ERRF) Y AR®
(TFKES]D) 5,000,000 7C
(i) The company is wholly foreign-owned enterprise established in the

PRC.
These companies are limited liability companies established in the

PRC. The official names of these companies are in Chinese and the
English translation of the names is for reference only.

Yashili International Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2011

(ii)

— 100%  Investment holding
REEK
— 100%  Import and export
of dairy products
and related
materials
EHAIEM
B
ZAT B —RKPRFEKILAIINE B
3
ZERABRRPEKINEBEREE
ﬁﬂoﬁ%ﬂ?%Ei%h%*X
MERXEZELEHRS



Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  RAREIIR)

20 Inventories 20 &
The Group
K&EE
2011 2010
RMB'000 RMB‘000

AR®T R ARETTT

Raw materials R 303,468 220,074
Finished goods X G 156,579 95,935
Work in progress + B R 78,274 40,342
Packing materials BEME 31,172 24,516
Low value consumables KEHEFE R 8,238 9,948
577,731 390,815
Amounts of inventories recognised as expenses and included in the ERERASAXREHFABRSENTER
income statement are analysed as follows: TEOMWT
The Group
rE
2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBTFT
Carrying amount of inventories EHAABATEENFEDN
recognised as REE
— cost of sales —HER K 1,379,171 1,272,624
— selling and distribution expenses (i) — FHE R AR B ) 186,122 144,618
— administrative expenses — TR X 637 —
Write down of inventories FERERX ER VA 1,137
Disposal of inventories FEMmEBRX 393 8,009
1,569,494 1,426,388
(i) Inventories recognised as selling and distribution expenses () EERAEEAECHEHAYINES
represented the cost of purchased baby products which are KBEAEAREBECDEERANE
given away as gift items together with the Group’s products BT B S8 DA B K A9 B R EE Sh Y K
sold. Ko

BEFEBRERERAT 2011FFR



Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  UAREIIR)

21 Trade and Bills Receivables

Bills receivables
Trade receivables
Less: allowance for doubtful debts

e
B 5 WK
B REREME

21 ESRURKRERREE

The Group
REE

2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® T ARETT
1,703
192,172
(1,563)
192,312

An ageing analysis of trade and bills receivables (net of allowance)

by due date is as follows:

Current

Less than 3 months past due

More than 3 months but less than
6 months past due

More than 6 months but less than
12 months past due

More than 12 months but less than
24 months past due

w2318 A
w AR B3 1A B
B E61EA
BmHEEB6(E A
BAR12{8A
mEARR B 1218 A
B 22418 A

5 8 0 % R R (I B R A 1)
RE B AMER ST -

The Group
REH
2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® T ARETT
186,600
4,115
174
244
1,179
5,712
192,312

Yashili International Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2011



Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

21 Trade and Bills Receivables (continued)

The Group's credit policy is set out in Note 31(a).

The movement in the allowance for doubtful debts during the year

is as follows:

21

Bt 75 3R 3R B 5 ()

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  RAREIIR)

BEZRWREEWVRE @
A S L 0 5 B SR LA BE31)

RER REBEOEBWT

The Group
REE

2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® T ARETT

At 1 January ®n1A1H 1,317

Impairment loss recognised B mRRERX 1,170

Written off and reversed Hh 84 K2 ¥ 0] (924)

At 31 December »12H31H 1,563
The ageing analysis of trade and bills receivables that are neither BErsEEmsHERELRRAED

individually nor collectively considered to be impaired are as follows:

Current

Less than 3 months past due

More than 3 months but less than
6 months past due

More than 6 months but less than
12 months past due

More than 12 months but less than
24 months past due

w2318 A
w2 A3E A
BTR6MEA
wERRR R 6 1E A
BR21218A
mHAE 1218 A
BTE24@A

B I REBR R ERZE R D T
T

The Group
&M

2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® T ARET T
186,600
4,000
174
244
1,179
5,597
192,197

BEFEBRERERAT 2011FFR
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(BEEEAN  UAREIIR)

21 Trade and Bills Receivables (continued)

22

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a number
of independent customers that have a good track record with the
Group. Based on past experience, management believes that no
impairment allowance is necessary in respect of these balances as
there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the
balances are still considered fully recoverable. The Group does not
hold any collateral over these balances.

Prepayments and Other Receivables

Prepaid advertising
expenses

Prepayments for purchase
of raw materials

BNESHAX

BERMEENK

Advances to sales offices Btk B S A S
VAT recoverable FHEMEER
Others HAi

At 31 December 12H31H

AR®T T

27,109

4,017
2,444
73,940
30,638

Yashili International Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2011

21 ESEWRARNERERE»

BEEYEEHRENREKES S
BYRPAR REEFPEAKEK
FRETESER REBELR &
B ER BB AR F &SR IRER
BHESRERRBMAAZEHKE - K&
3 8 i bt B A RIS B A R o

22 FET R E b FE WK

The Group The Company
& A H
2011 2010 2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000

ARETT AR®BTRT ARBTT



23 Restricted Bank Deposits

Pledged for
— issuing bank acceptances
— issuing letters of credit
— bank loans

Frozen deposits (i)

EEMARTIIEIA:
—FRERITALESR — 11,124

—BERTTER

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

B 75 3R 2% B & ()
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  RAREIIR)

23 XRHIBITER

The Group
rEE
2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARETT

28,331 10,860
34,719 10,920
9,406 9,406

At 31 December

72,456 42,310

(i)

Certain deposits of RMB5,806,000 were frozen by a local PRC
court on 13 June 2009 in relation to two pending litigations
between Yashili (Guangdong) and one of its suppliers. In
addition, further deposits of RMB3,600,000 were frozen on 9
June 2010 by the PRC court. However, according to a court
decision dated 29 December 2009, the supplier was required
to pay RMB6,375,000 to Yashili (Guangdong) as a
compensation for the melamine-contaminated raw materials
sold by the supplier to Yashili (Guangdong) in 2008. After
consulting the Company’s PRC legal advisor, the directors of
the Company are of the view that the frozen deposits are
fully recoverable and no provision is necessary as at 31
December 2011.

2009F 6 H13 8 + R Bl #1 75 )E B
MERBETFEE A —REER
ZHEBERFR RESTHEXK
A R #5,806,0007T © L5+
i 5 5K B 20106 A9 H # —
R EETF AR 3,600,0007T °
AT - AR HR AT 7 20094F 12 A 29
AEHME R HEREMER
M+ F 5 AR #6,375,0007T
E AL ER A 2008 F A B R HE+
FMHEZE =ZBEBRSENEM
BEmE - EFREADF AR
ERBR AR EERAEWR
EWFRAE2EWE - R20114F
12 A3V A B AIRER -

BEFEBRERERAT 2011FFR



Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  UAREIIR)

24 Cash and Cash Equivalents 24 BENEESEEY
The Group The Company
rEH b NN
2011 2010 2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRE ARBTIT ARBTR ARETT

Cash on hand EFRE 1,472 818 — —
Cash at bank RITIER 2,580,091 2,758,455 13,600 194,801

2,581,563 2,759,273 13,600 194,801

25 Other Investments 25 Hfik&E

The Group
rEE

2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AR®TT

Financial assets designated at fair value NAREBEFEBEEZEEHFA
through profit or loss EHEZNEREE

180,000

,‘ Yashili International Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2011



26 Trade and Other Payables

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

B 75 3R 2% B & ()
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  RAREIIR)

26 E5 R HMEMNR

The Group The Company
rEE A H
2011 2010 2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRE ARBTIT ARBTR ARETT

Trade payables (i) B 5 &3 (3) 287,807 231,421 —
Bills payables (ii) A NEE ()

(Note 31(d)) (Bt 3E31(d)) — 11,124 —
Advances from customers ZEIENR 255,465 71,651 —
Accrued payroll fEstE & 43,274 37,936 —
Other taxes payable H b B IE 29,245 38,870 —
Advances from local Hb 77 BT B G

government (ii) 31,000 30,000 —
Pledged deposits from WL P H) R F

customers 29,625 30,205 — —
Amount due to a subsidiary JE 1B B A B R E — — 10,788 10,788
Other payables and H b e N B AT

accruals (iii) & A (iii) 43,702 48,741 = 2,311

720,118 10,788 13,099
(i)  The credit period granted by the suppliers ranges from 30 iy HEFEEHEEHNFII0BE
days to 90 days. An ageing analysis of trade payables by due WEHATE -BFEMNFIZIEA
date is as follows: HERE DN T -
The Group
rE
2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000

Due within 1 month or on demand
Due after 1 month but within 3 months
Due after 3 months but within 6 months

Due after 6 months

AR®T R ARET T

—EARAANIZEEK 81,991 66,940
—RBABE=EAA 174,375 147,153
=EAZBEAREANA 29,756 17,328
~ME A & 1,685 —

287,807 231,421

BEFEBRERERAT 2011FFR



Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  UAREIIR)

26 Trade and Other Payables (continued)

(i) At 31 December 2011, an advance of RMB30,000,000 was
from the People’s Government of Ying County (2010:
RMB30,000,000), which borne a fixed interest rate of 5.76%
per annum and was secured by Yashili (Shanxi)’s plant and
machinery as disclosed in Note 14. There were no fixed
repayment terms for the advances as at 31 December 2011.

(i)  Other payables and accruals mainly consist of payables for
acquisition of non-current assets and other accrued expenses.

27 Loans and Borrowings

At 31 December, the bank loans were repayable as follows:

26

27

EFREMESR @

(i M2011F128318 REEH
AR BEF K AR ¥30,000,000
T g #mQo10F: A R OB
30,000,000) @ # [ F F # X
5.76% &t 8. - I &k a0 B sE 1470 H
= DAL PR A A A R B R S
R - R2011F12 31 B %
BRIV EETERY -

(i) HtRENRAEEAERIESR

WHRIERSEEREMBEFHX
HY FE 3K

BERRAEK

R12A318  |RITERNEEF AW
T

The Group
REH
2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AREF T
Within 1 year or on demand —FRFIREK 158,440
The Group
KEE
2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR T
Bank loans denominated in RITER
— United States dollar (“US dollar”) (i) — A EITTEHE®) 130,000
— RMB — AR E 17,437
— HK dollar — BB E 11,003
158,440

(i)  The bank loans carried weighted average interest rates of 3.43%
per annum as at 31 December 2011 (2010: 2.74%).

Yashili International Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2011

() M2011F12A8318 BT ER
W INREF Y FE R K343%EF B
(20104 : 2.74%) °



Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

28 Equity-settled Share-based Transaction

Yashili (Guangdong) adopted a share option scheme on 1 January
2009 (the “2009 Employee Share Option Scheme™), to invite certain
eligible participants to take up options (the “2009 Employee Share
Options”) to subscribe for the to-be-listed company at an exercise
price of RMB0.85 per share. Total 9,360,000 share options were
granted and 2 directors of the Company and 148 employees of the
Group accepted the 2009 Employee Share Options.

On 1 August 2010, Yashili (Guangdong) further granted 3,597,600
share options (the “2010 Employee Share Options”) to 31 eligible
employees of the Group for subscribing shares of the Company at
an exercise price of RMB11 per share (the “2010 Employee Share
Option Scheme”). Both the 2009 and 2010 Employee Share
Options will be forfeited when the grantee ceases to be an
employee of the Group for reasons other than death, ill-health or
retirement.

The 2009 and 2010 Employee Share Options originally granted by
Yashili (Guangdong) to the grantees were exchanged into the Pre-
IPO Share Options of the Company on 8 October 2010. Accordingly,
12,957,600 shares options under the 2009 and 2010 Employee
Share Option Schemes were converted into 94,975,662 share
options of the Company with substantially the same terms and
conditions, except that the respective exercise prices were adjusted
on a proportionate basis, being RMBO0.11 in respect of the 2009
Employee Share Options and RMB1.84 in respect of the 2010
Employee Share Options. The conversion of the share options was
considered as a modification to the 2009 and the 2010 Share
Option Schemes. The modification did not result in any incremental
value in respect of the fair value of the share options at the date of
modification. Each of the Pre-IPO share option has a vesting period
of two months to fifty months, commencing from the listing date.
Each option gives the holder the right to subscribe for one ordinary
share of the Company and is settled gross in shares.

Bt 75 3 2= Y = (AR

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  RAREIIR)

28 REGEROD XIS

R LR PR2009F1 818 H 4R
8 B R #E & 2 ([20094F 12 B B8 IR 1
) UBBETAERLZEEEMN
B (2000F B EBERE]D - Uik
TEBEBRARK0SSS TRES T L
mARRRD - B & A 9,360,000
PERE MARRKNMUESRERA
SEM148%E BB M2009F E B
% o

BRETFN2010FE8 18— 41
KEE3THE EREEBR 3,597,600
MEBRRE(2010F EEBRE] - L
BOIFEESBRARBEI TRELRRQR
BB ([2010F B E BB REATEID) »
20094 N 20104 &2 B 8 A% #E 15 18 7R &
SAEFH - BRSKGRKRAINEIE AR
THAAEENEERERX-

& 3 R 1A A AR R92009
2010 1 B i I # 7R 201010 H 8
BELRBAEAANRNERNAMEER
BE AR #E - (] L 0 20094F K 20104 1€
B A% 5T 2038 T #912,957,60017 B A%
ERBERBARIERRIEGELRE
94,975,662 13 7 A 7] K & A% 4 - 16 48
RAITEE JHIRL B F LA E - 2009F
EEBEREAARYO011TT 2010
FTREEREAARK184TT B
BE A% 4 4 4R 1R ¥ 2009 M 20105 (B B
BRI BT - ZIBFT LT EE
EHEBREAABENSTBHNE
BN - S EXRAHESHERED
FEHALLTRARERBEAZRETE
ATE - SBRELTHEEAENR
BE AR R A — IR R AR N DA% () B B8 4

= o
7t

BEAEBRZERERAT 2011F5FH
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(BEEEAN  UAREIIR)

28 Equity-settled Share-based Transaction 28 RELERH IR Z @

(Continued)
On 29 August 2011, the Company further granted 48,148,214 AKRBR201MFE8H29B8 # — F AR
share options (the “2011 Employee Share Options”) to 39 eligible SE39% & A% E B X 148,148,214
employees of the Group for subscribing shares of the Company at MIERZE(20MFEREREBRE] - U
an exercise price of HK$1.5 per share. The 2011 Employee Share RITEEBESREBEISTIRELARF
Options will be forfeited when the grantee ceases to be an B ([2011FE EREARER &) -
employee of the Group for reasons other that death, ill-health or 0NEEEBREHBENAZIARS
retirement. W BRNERUINNERTHB AR
SEMEERELX-
(i) The terms and conditions of the Share Options are as follows: () ERENEREEFET
Contractual
Number of Share Options granted life of
ERHENBRER options years
Date granted Vesting date Expiry date Director Employee Total a8
BEAH TRAH BB Bz ®E8 - i IR 1 o 40
|
2009 and 2010
Employee Share
Options
2009%2010{E&
BBMRE -
1 January 2009 two months after 15 days after vesting date 3,396,367 11,308,644 14,705,011 2.20
1 November 2010
200961818 2010611 B1BE%MMEAR AT A ER158
1 August 2010 two months after 15 days after vesting date — 4,290,121 4,290,121 0.62
1 November 2010
2010F8A1H 2010F 11 R1BEMEAR AI{TREBE18158
1 January 2009 fourteen months after 15 days after vesting date 3,396,367 11,308,644 14,705,011 3.20
1 November 2010
20091 A1H 2010 M ATRZ+I@EA  AITEAHEKISA
1 August 2010 fourteen months after 15 days after vesting date — 4,290,121 4,290,121 1.62
1 November 2010
201068A1H 2010 1M A1H&+I@EAR  AITEEBKISH
1 January 2009 twenty-six months after 15 days after vesting date 3,396,367 11,308,644 14,705,011 4.20
1 November 2010
200961 A18 201011 A1R% AIfTREBEE158
—Z+XfEA

Yashili International Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2011



28 Equity-settled Share-based Transaction 28 REZAERH (T

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
Bt 7 3Rk R B &F (48)

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BREEHEAN

AANREFIR)

X5

(Continued)
(i)  (Continued) W (&)
Contractual
Number of Share Options granted life of
ERENEREHE options years
Date granted Vesting date Expiry date Director Employee Total A%
BHAS THEAH EmAH Ex B8 st BREFH
2009 and 2010
Employee Share
Options
(Continued)
2009%%2010{E&
B (8
1 August 2010 twenty-six months after 15 days after vesting date — 4,290,121 4,290,121 2.62
1 November 2010
201068 A1H 2010611 A1 B AT R #5158
—+XfEA
1 January 2009 thirty-eight months after 15 days after vesting date 3,396,367 11,308,644 14,705,011 5.20
1 November 2010
200961 A1H 2010611 A1B% AI{TRER 158
=+ NER
1 August 2010 thirty-eight months after 15 days after vesting date — 4,290,121 4,290,121 3.62
1 November 2010
201048 A1H 201011 A1B% ATRERAERZISA
=+N\f@A
1 January 2009 fifty months after 15 days after vesting date 3,396,367 11,308,645 14,705,012 6.20
1 November 2010
20091 A1H 20108 M AVRERTER AT EBEH%ZI5E
1 August 2010 fifty months after 15 days after vesting date — 4,290,122 4,290,122 4.62
1 November 2010
201048 A 1H 20106 M AVRERTMER AT BEH%ZI5H
16,981,835 77,993,827 94,975,662
2011
Employee Share
Options
01MFEEERE:
29 August 2011 29 August 2011 7 October 2020 — 12,037,054 12,037,054 9
201148 H29H 201148 H298 2020F10A78
29 August 2011 29 August 2012 7 October 2020 — 12,037,054 12,037,054 9
201148 H29H 20128 A29H 2020F10A 78
29 August 2011 29 August 2013 7 October 2020 — 12,037,054 12,037,054 9
20119 8H29H 20138 A29H 2020F10A7H
29 August 2011 29 August 2014 7 October 2020 — 12,037,052 12,037,052 9
20114 8H29H 20148 A29H 2020F10A7H
— 48,148,214 48,148,214
16,981,835 126,142,041 143,123,876
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
Bt 7% 3% 3R B &F (48)

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BRBEHEAN

AANREFIR)

P

28 Equity-settled Share-based Transaction 28 RELERH IR Z @

(Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

The number and weighted average exercise prices of share
options are as follows:

(ii)

B AR 40 B B R AR 497 165
m

Year ended 31 December
BE12A31MBLEE

2011 2010
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise exercise
price per Number of price per Number
share options share options
BRINEF R IEF
HITEE BRERE BITEE BREXRE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBF T AR¥ETT
Outstanding at FEERITE
the beginning of the year 94,601,115 0.11 73,525,056
Granted during the year FARAEREY 48,148,214 1.84 21,450,606
Forfeited during the year FRAREITH (4,869,260) 0.94 (374,547)
Exercised during the year FERITHE (18,920,081) = =
Outstanding at the end FREKRITE
of the year 118,959,988 0.50 94,601,115

The Pre-IPO Share Options outstanding at 31 December 2011
weighted average remaining expected life 1.2 years (2010: 2.2
years).

The Share Option issued in 2011 outstanding at 31 December
2011 weighted average remaining expected life 8.8 years (2010:
nil).

Fair value of share options and assumptions:

The fair value of services received in return for the Share
Options is measured by reference to the fair value of Pre-IPO
Share Options and the 2011 Employee Share Options granted.
The estimated fair value of the Pre-IPO Share Options and the
2011 Employee Share Options is measured based on a
binomial option pricing model. The contractual life of the
share option is used as an input into this model.
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(iii)

R201ME12A3MTB M AKTTHEH
RAFEERERERNINETEY
TR TEEF 5 2129 (20104 ¢
228)

R2011E12A31B E K 1TER
2011 6 B9 A R4 &9 ON 4 7 15 T 84
TEHAF R A8.84F (20104 : &)

BEEAABERER:

1R A IR 1B A ) A8 T M B A
RBN XA BEDEZERED
B B R R B 6 B BB RO &2 2011
FREERENAA(EBEFE-
BRAFZEEMBRENMGTQ
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

Bt 75 3R 3R B 5 ()

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  RAREIIR)

P

28 Equity-settled Share-based Transaction 28 RELERH IR Z @

(Continued)

(iii)

(Continued)

Fair value per share at measurement date

R EEHMNERAAEE

Exercise price per option

FIBREITEE

Expected volatility (expressed as weighted
average volatility used in the modelling
under binomial lattice model)

TEEIR B (AR ZEA B
P ER AR D0 7 19 % 18 51 7R )

Option life (expressed as weighted average life

used in the modelling under binomial
lattice model)
EREFHUAR-EAMBEELR
FRER A It ¥ 9 IR 1B 51 7R)
Expected dividends
TEHA R B
Risk-free interest rate
i 3 B ) 2=

2011
employee
share options
20115
EEBRE

HKD1.42
7B 1.42
HKD1.50
78 ¥ 1.50

48.02%

48.02%

CACET

94
3.50%
3.50%
1.66%
1.66%

The expected volatility is based on the average of the weekly
historical volatility of comparable companies with period
commensurate to the option life. Expected dividends are
based on management’s best estimation. The risk-free rate is
referenced to the yields of Exchange Fund Notes with similar

duration as at the grant date.

Except for the conditions mentioned above, there were no
other market conditions and service conditions associated
with the Pre-IPO Share Option and the 2011 Employee Share

Options.

(i) (&)
2010 2009
employee employee
share options share options
20104 20094F
2 B B 2 8 B
RMB10.25 RMB2.06
AR®10.25 AR#2.06
RMB11.00 RMBO0.85
AR®11.00 AR¥0.85
39.1%-59.90% 61.10%
39.1%-59.90% 61.01%
2.62 years 4.2 years
2624 424
4.90% 4.90%
4.90% 4.90%

1.78% t0 2.51%
1.78% £2.51%

1.78% t0 2.51%
1.78% £2.51%

T8 HY % B J0 AR 1% BB Bk F AR R
HTIE LA R K 5B E LK E
Bh-BEHREDIREEEEN
REMGMBL -EBRRANEXTZ
ERETHBAHRABLAINE
ESEHFONE-

B b SCRTat @& o - B ER ER
HERAAHABEERR201MFEEE
5 A% 48 AE B A b TS AR L K AR
TEAGEE -
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  UAREIIR)

29 Deferred Income

The Group
REH
2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T ARET T

Balance at the beginning of the year F 47 42,928 37,045
Received during the year F 9 UER = 11,000
Amortisation for the year F (12,259) (5,117)
Total &5t 30,669 42,928

Deferred income represented the government grants received for
acquisition of new plant and for certain technical innovation and
production line expansion projects. These grants are deferred over
the useful lives of relevant assets and the amount recognised as
“Other revenue” in 2011 is RMB6,759,000 (2010: RMB5,117,000)
and compensation for expenses incurred as “other revenue” in
2011 is RMB5,500,000.
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FEEWSIERBET®RE LB T Il
BT R EESEREBESHRITE
- ZEMPREBEENAFERSF
HANELEAR  R201MTERERAEIH
a8 £ 58 A A R 6,759,000
(20104 : AR ¥5,117,0007T) R ¥ &
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
Bt 7% 3Rk R B &F (48)

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEHEEAN  RAREIIR)

30 Capital, Reserves and Dividends 30 RA - RERKE
(a) Movements in components of equity () ZHERILLNES
The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances AEBAHESHNSHEXI D H
of each component of the Group’s consolidated equity is set VBB RABREHNEEREE RS G
out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. BREHRR - BEAL R ER
Details of the changes in the Company’s individual BB ER o P A ) B R R Ay
components of equity between the beginning and the end of FEBFEHIWOT -

the year are set out below:

The Company KR F
Equity-
settled
Capital share
Share Share redemption  Merger Translation based Accumulated Total
capital premium reserve  reserve reserve payment losses equity
REEE
BE IR 12 3% 14

BA BRHEE BORE S6EE EXRE #fE REER BRAE
RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'O00 RMB'000  RMB'O00 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000
AR® ARE AR® AR® AR%E AR® AR%E  AR®

T T Tt T Tt Tt Fit Tt
e
Balance at 3 June 2010 "2010F6 A3H

(date of incorporation) (A S B 8)
B 4 Bh = — — — — — — —
Total comprehensive income 4R A& WS 485 — — — — (64,330) — (3,975)  (68,305)
Shares issued upon REARETHRG
reorganisation 9 — — 1,449,863 — — — 1,449,872
Share issued by share offer BERMHEESETRG 49,312 1,932,213 — = = = — 1,981,525
Capitalisation issue BRI ET 251,364 (251,364) — — — — — —
Equity-settle share-based RIS E R G
payments YRS = — — — — 7,389 — 7,389
Balance at 31 December 2010 74201012 A31H
W 7 8 300,685 1,680,849 — 1,449,863 (64,330) 7,389 (3,975) 3,370,481
Balance at 1 January 2011 R2011EFE1A18
B 7 55 300,685 1,680,849 1,449,863 (64,330) 7,389 (3,975) 3,370,481
Total comprehensive income R4 W A% —  (138,651) — 233,334 94,683
Dividends declared and paid A BB F 5 B2
during the year (234,692) (234,692)
Share issued for exercised R = 11718
of Share options (7,360) 9,362
Purchase of own shares & 3 21 B
— Par value paid —EE (818)
— Premium paid — & E (15,538)
— transfer between reserves  — f& i1 — 818
Equity-settle share-based EHRMD I EE
payments — 10,160

Balance at 31 December 2011 742011412 A31H
EOEE o3 301,463 1,680,437 1,449,863 (202,981) (5.333) 3,234,456
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  UAREIIR)

30 Capital, Reserves and Dividends (continued 30 R RERKRE @
(b) Dividends (b) BE
(i)  Dividends payable and proposed to equity shareholders i) ENMEKEZRERELRQARK
of the Company attributable to the profit for the year: HEREAEARNEERBENOT :
The Group
rE
2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT ARET T

Final dividend proposed after REHFBEERRBRE

the balance sheet date ERETBEBRARE

of RMB5.68 cents per 5.6873

ordinary share (2010: RMB7 cents) (2010%F : ARKT7S) 234,692
The final dividend proposed after the end of the balance RNEHEBHRBBERAKRERE
sheet date has not been recognised as a liability at the TAEFHEEEREBE -
balance sheet date.

(i) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the (ih EHEMPTHFEEEBANM
Company attributable to the previous financial year, EXRBBRFERND I AR
approved and paid during the year: SRHFRRGDERREZRE

The Group
rEH
2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARETT

Final dividend in respect of A6 4 KR - Y
the previous financial year, BT RFELBARE
approved and paid ERTBERARETS
during the year, of RMB7 cents (REBEBESIIRE)

(distributed at equivalent value of
HK$8 cents) per ordinary share
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Bt 7% 3Rk R B &F (48)

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEHEEAN  RAREIIR)

30 Capital, Reserves and Dividends (continued 30 R RERKRE @
(c) Share capital () B
Authorised and issued share capital FEERE BITIRA
2011
No. of shares
‘000 RMB’000
FBR AR¥Tx
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of FREEIBITLH
HK$0.1 each (i) LB () 10,000,000 861,600
Ordinary shares, issued ERTRAZEBER:
and fully paid:
Shares issued upon AR B B 1T 80 AR 1D ()
the reorganisation (i) 100 9
Capitalisation issue (i) B AR AL B 17 (i) 2,925,900 251,364
Shares issued by share i 1B IR 1 B & 1T AR 1A (i)
offer (iii) 574,000 49,312
Shares repurchased (iv) & 19 B B (iv) (10,000) (818)
Share options exercised (v) AR &1 TR () 18,920 1,596
At 31 December »W12HA31H 3,508,920 301,463
(i) The Company was incorporated on 3 June 2010 with (i) A A 7 R2010F6A3H
authorised capital of 3,800,000 shares at HK$0.10 per MK AFEBRA A
share. As part of the Reorganisation, the authorised 3,800,000F% & & ® B A
capital of the Company was increased to 0108 TG - EREMR
HK$1,000,000,000 divided into 10,000,000,000 shares B —#HD - AR B HDEE K
of HK$0.10 each. 7K 2 %= 1,000,000,00% 7T -

43 /10,000,000 i% &F f% @ &
0.10 TR 1D ©

HEFEBRERERAT 2011FFR



Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
B 7 R R M EE (58)

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BRBEHEAN

AANREFIR)

30 Capital, Reserves and Dividends (continued)

(c) Share capital (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Pursuant to the resolution of the Company’s
shareholder passed on 8 October 2010, the authorised
share capital of the Company was increased from
HK$380,000 to HK$1,000,000,000; in addition,
2,925,900,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each were
issued at par value to the shareholders of the Company
as of 8 October 2010 by way of capitalization of
HK$292,590,000 (equivalent to RMB251,364,000) from
the Company’s share premium account.

The shares of the Company were listed on the Stock
Exchange on 1 November 2010, with a total number of
3,500,000,000 shares, among which 644,000,000
shares (18.4% of the total number of shares of the
Company) were issued to the public, comprising
574,000,000 new shares and 70,000,000 sale shares.
The gross proceeds received by the Company from the
global offering were approximately HK$2,411 million.
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30 RA - REREKRE @
() BA=)

(ii)

(iii)

B A QAR ER20109F
10A8HBBEMARER K
A &) HY % 7E IR 7N B3380,000
7 JT 1 A0 2 1,000,000,000
JTo AN BB R
AR HEERBER
292,590,000 T ( 8 & »
A K #251,364,0007T ) E
&K KRR R20108 10
AeHZEEREREETT
2,925,900,000 f% & & ® &
0B TH EBAR -

S

KRN EH KD E R20104F
MATH £ X LM
48 8 /3,500,000,000 f% A&
7 - H f1644,000,000 i% (15
KRN AR 42 EH Y 18.4%)
BOITRAABRAL EF
£ #5574,000,000 f% 7 % &
70,000,000 % 5 & B {9 o A<
ARIWE A2 REBEEN
BRBHEBELHA24NEE
T °



Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
g EL R )

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEHEEAN  RAREIIR)

30 Capital, Reserves and Dividends (continued 30 R RERKRE @

(c) Share capital (Continued) () A& @)
(iv) Purchase of own shares and cancellation (iv) BR17 0] Rt

On 10 June and 13 June 2011, the Company totally
repurchased its own ordinary shares of 10,000,000
shares at aggregate price (including transaction fee and
commission) of HK$18,692,000 (equivalent to
RMB15,509,000).

The repurchased shares were cancelled and accordingly
the issued share capital of the Company was reduced
by the nominal value of these shares. An amount
equivalent to the par value of the shares cancelled of
HK$1,000,000 (equivalent to RMB818,000) was
transferred to the capital redemption reserve. The
premium and transaction cost paid on the repurchase
and cancellation of the shares of HK$17,728,000
(equivalent to RMB14,720,000) was charged to
reserves.

M2011%F6 8108 &6 4813
H AXARAHERNERY
/) ¥ 38 A% 10,000,000 % » 42
BER(EFEEBRAR) A
18,692,0007 7t (#H & ©¥ A
R #15,509,0007T ) * ¥ 2
B R a A 0k -

ElERMOEBEHE mA
AR ZEBEITRAINE M
EREZELBERMNE
B XHEBRHOMmMESDE
1,000,000C (&£ B A R #
818,0007T) 8 A fi% 17 Bl B &
o BLE N ROTHER G T
T EERR S KAE
#17,728,000t (S E AR
#14,720,0007T ) B £ f# &
A0 o

BEREBRZERERAT 2011F5FH
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(BRBEHEAN

AANREFIR)

30 Capital, Reserves and Dividends (continued)

(c) Share capital (Continued)
(v) Share options exercised

During the year, pursuant to the Company’'s share
option schemes (note 28), options were exercised to
subscribe for 18,920,081 (2010: nil) ordinary shares in
the Company at a consideration of HK$11,098,000
(equivalent to RMB9,362,000) (2010: RMB nil) of which
RMB7,766,000 (2010: RMB nil) was credited into the
share premium account. RMB7,360,000 (2010: RMB nil)
has been transferred from the equity-settled share-
based payment reserve to share premium account. As
at 31 December 2011, the total number of shares which
may be issued upon the exercise of all options
outstanding from the Company’s share option schemes
is 118,959,988 (31 December 2010: 94,601,115).

(d) Share premium
The excess of the issued price net of any issuance expenses
over the par value of the shares issued has been credited to
the share premium account of the Company.

Under the Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman Islands,
the funds in the share premium account of the Company are
distributable to the shareholders of the Company provided
that immediately following the date on which the dividend is
proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position
to pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.
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30 RA - REREKRE @
() BA=)

() BROZTTHE

RAEE - ARBARRGH
A% HE 5t 21 (P 5£28) 1T BB
% # - 5] B3R 818,920,081
A (2010 : T) AR A E
B 1B A11,098,0007%
7T (2 & % A R #9,362,000
7T )(2010F : A R #& =
JL) * H P AR #7,766,000
7T (2010F : ARBZT L)
ARG RE AR
7,360,000 7T (2010 = A
REZILEERELER
NENREERZRHE
e 2011 F12H318
fisi A A &) B5 A% #E 5T 2 # BT
EHATENRERERET
7 - BIA] T 31T R AR 19 4B &
118,959,988 % (2010412
HA31H :94,601,1150%) °

(d) BRE=E
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

30 Capital, Reserves and Dividends (continued)

(e)

(f)

(9)

(h)

()

Merger reserve

As part of the Reorganisation, the then shareholders of Yashili
(Guangdong) transferred their equity interests in Yashili
(Guangdong) to Yashili (HK) on 2 July 2010. A merger reserve
of RMB1,367,204,000 was resulted from these transfers for
the purposes of the consolidated financial statements.

PRC statutory reserves

PRC statutory reserves were established in accordance with
the relevant PRC rules and regulations and the articles of
association of the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC.
Transfers to the reserves were approved by the board of
directors.

Equity-settled share-based payment reserve
Equity-settled share-based payment reserve represents the fair
value of the actual or estimated number if unexercised share
options granted to employees of the Group in accordance
with the accounting policy adopted for share-based payments
in Note 2(m)(iv).

Translation reserve

Translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences
arising from the translation of the financial statements of
foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with in accordance
with the accounting policy set out in Note 2(e)(iii).

Distributable reserve

The aggregate amount of distributable reserve of the
Company at 31 December 2011 is RMB1,675,104,000 (2010:
RMB1,676,874,000). After the balance sheet date the
directors proposed a final dividend of RMB5.68 cents per
ordinary share, amounting to RMB200,103,000. This dividend
has not been recognised as a liability at the balance sheet
date.

Bt 5 R R B 5 ()

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEHEEAN  RAREIIR)

30 R RERKRE @

(e)

(f)

(9)

(h)

0]

EPtEE

MR2010F7H2H  E R # + 7
ERMNBERERESEEERELF
MESEERNELNEE (EA
EHEN—HD - AHREBEARE
1,367,204,0007T & 7% 8 & m &=
/_:Eo

FBAE f#

o B E (8 Ty IR AR B R AR
R B SRR A AR B BB A
) B 4L 8% B8 72 40 B BR ST - 1) 4
MEBRDEEAMEREIE -

REGERO N HE
BEMBRELSERND I REEE
BT AKERES O RITERRE
B R A 5T 8B 1R MY RE 2(m)(iv) A
AR XA RAN G RRE
MAREE-

BmE#E
BEBRRERAREBINEED
MBRERMEENMAINEZ
BR o R i 1 JY AR ¥ BT 5E 2(e) i) AT
R BERERE -

Al 4 75 Kk &

AN A B R201ME12A8318 &
AS>EREELEERARE
1,675,104,000 7t (2010 F A
R #1,676,874,0007T ) o B F 4
A EFg2 AR EER
AR®S687 BIRE AR
200,103,0007T ° Z E B E R F 4
A AERBAME-
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  UAREIIR)

31 Financial Risk Management and Fair Value

Exposure to credit, liquidity and market risk arises in normal course
of the Group’s business. The Group’s exposure to these risks and
the financial risk management policies and practices used by the
Group to manage these risks are described below.

(a) Credit risk
The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and
other receivables. Exposure to the credit risks are monitored
by management on an ongoing basis.

In respects of trade receivables, the Group has established a
credit policy in place: fixed credits are granted to supermarkets
and the periods range from 60 to 90 days; temporary credits
are offered on transaction-by- transaction basis to distributor
customers who have been trading with the Group for many
years and have a good trading record and the credit periods
range from 10 to 90 days. Special credit is granted to credit-
worthy distributor customers when the Group promotes
certain line of products. All the credits offered are unsecured.
Full advances are required for sales to other customers. The
Group regularly reviews ageing analysis of the trade
receivables to monitor the credit exposure.

Majority of the Group's customers have been trading with the
Group for years and the Group did not record significant bad
debts losses during 2010 and 2011. At balance sheet dates,
the Group has a certain concentration of credit risk of the
trade receivables, the top five trade debtors represented
27.1% of total trade receivables as at 31 December 2011 (2010:
13.9%). All the trade receivables are due from customers
with good trade record and no impairment allowance is made
against these customers.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the
carrying amount of each financial asset in the consolidated
balance sheets. The Group does not provide any other
guarantees which would expose the Group to credit risk.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

31 Financial Risk Management and Fair Value
(Continued)

(b) Liquidity risk
The Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as
far as possible, that the Group, as a whole has always
maintained sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when they
fall due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without
incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the
Group’s reputation.

The following table presents the earliest contractual
settlement dates of the Group’s financial liabilities at the
balance sheet dates, which are based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows and the earliest date the Group can
be required to repay.

B EREER QRS

Bt 75 3R 3R B 5 ()

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  RAREIIR)

]
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\

(b) RBETEAR

AEBEERDESNHIARE
AREERAESEERER —RE
BABATRERBERBARBE
T UNmEHEIBEE MBA
EETAEMNEBERINEREE
AEENEE -

TREJIAKENSBRABERE
EHANKFANBERSE BT
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SEREREREENRE BB
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B 7% 3R 2% B o ()
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  UAREIIR)

31 Financial Risk Management and Fair Value 31 BIBREREER A AEBE

(Continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (Continued)
The following are the contractual maturities of financial
liabilities (excluding advances from customers and derivative
financial liabilities), including estimated interest payments and
excluding the impact of netting agreements:

(&)

(b) RBELE &)
ULTEeREBETRERFE
NHRETEeMAaE) NEOE
HA BREGAFNEREERTE
EkangE:

AEE

2011 Contractual undiscounted cash outflow

0MNEFEANBRERITBRESRE

The Group
Within
1 year or
on demand
—FAR
BER
RMB’'000
AR® TR
Loans and borrowings B EER 31,473
Amounts due to related FET B8 5 BUA
parties 1,722
Trade and other B 5 REMEMNRK
payables (excluded (TBREEP
advances from customers) SEENEY) 464,653
At 31 December ®12A31H 497,848
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More than
1 year but Carrying
less than amount at
2 years Total 31 December
BB—FE
DRME At AR E B

RMB’000  RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRE AR®TR AR®TR

31,473 31,359

1,722 1,722

464,653 464,653
497,848 497,734
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

(Continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (Continued)

(9]

Bt 75 3R 3R B 5 ()

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  RAREIIR)

BHEREERAAEE

(&)

(b) RBESEK &)

2010 Contractual undiscounted cash outflow

2010 A MR BRITRBATR

More than
Within 1 year but Carrying
1 year or less than amount at
on demand 2 years Total 31 December
—FRyk BE—FE
RER LRWEF #Et FREE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBETT ARBTRT ARBTT ARETT

Loans and borrowings ERRER 159,753 — 159,753 158,440
Amounts due to JE 5 RE B 5 BB

related parties 4,566 — 4,566 4,566
Trade and other B 5 I H M FE T 3K

payables (excluded (TEFEERP

advances from customers) SEENE-Y) 428,297 — 428,297 428,297
At 31 December R128318 592,616 — 592616 591,303
Market risk (0 mHERK

Increasing market fluctuations may result in significant cash-
flow and profit volatility risk for the Group. The Group’s
income or the values of its holding of financial instruments
are affected by changes in commodity price of raw materials,
foreign exchange rate and interest rate. The objective of
market risk management is to manage and control market
risk exposures within the acceptable parameters, while
minimising the costs on managing the risk.

The Group seeks to manage and control the market risks
primarily through its regular operating and financial activities.
All such transactions are carried out within the guidelines set
by the Board of Directors.

MENBEMATEEEERAKE
MERESRE Mg M KB =R
o REBEHNWAREMFEN
ERMIANEBEEXIRME DR
B EXRMNENEHTE -
TMHERAREENBREREERE
HMmZRARRAEENERZ
A - [ R ORE & I R B B B o

AEBETEFREATERE MM
BEE  SRERRZEG TSR
RoMBEZERGNREZEM
HIE R FE Bl ETT
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
B 7 R R M EE (88)

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BRBEHEAN

AANREFIR)

31 Financial Risk Management and Fair Value

(Continued)

(c) Market risk (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Commodity price risk

Raw materials and packing materials are the major
materials of the Group’s products which accounted for
more than 85% of total cost of sales. Fluctuation on
commodity price of raw materials and packing materials
will have significant impact on the Group’s earnings,
cash flows as well as the value of inventories. The
Group minimises the cost of materials by centralising
purchase of raw materials for the Group and self-
production of plastic bags and iron jars. The Group
historically has not entered into any commodity
derivative instruments to hedge the potential
commodity price changes.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate profile

Except for bank deposits with stable interest rates and
other investment, the Group has no other significant
interest-bearing assets.

The Group does not account for any fixed interest rate
financial assets or liabilities at fair value in the year,
neither does the Group obtain any loans and
borrowings at variable interest rates. Accordingly, the
Group's finance income and expenses, operating and
financing cashflow are substantially independent of
changes in market rates.

The interest rates and terms of loans and borrowings
are disclosed in Note 27.

Sensitivity analysis

As at 31 December 2011, if interest rates on deposits
with banks had been 27 basis points higher/lower with
all other variables held constant, profit after tax for the
year and retained profits would have been
RMB6,089,000 (2010: RMB7,238,000) higher/lower,
respectively, mainly as a result of higher/lower interest
income on deposits with banks.
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31 MBEREERAAEE

(%)

() mERAEE)

(i)

(ii)

7 im 18 15 B 2

R RBREMHSAE
BEMMEIEME  HEE
PN 42 FE8185% © IR A A
REREMEBOERERS
SHAEENARN BHER
ERFEEEEXRNEAY
E-AEEBETREBEAR
SENEMHRBITEE
5B R K i R K B R AR
Ao REBBEYET LA
] 7 @ 67 £ T B DA ¥ 8
EEmERES -

R = [ 2

NEEH
BRHAEREMEXWRTHE
AR EAMLES  NEEY
BHMEKRGFEEE-

AEBL AR AFERA
7t B B & 2 & E [ B E F
ReMEEXBBEAR &K
SETTARARFEMTH
MEERRER Bt - &
e BRGNS
X RERKREBEEHERER
ERBBIR TSN XK

M EMERARERDF
HATA P 5E27 3 B% -

BRE D

B E2011E12A318 [F &£
E-FBEMATERZEH#
BAE WRITHERF X
AR 2TEES  FE
BREEEMRRSE ARG
g5 R m 6w AR
6,089,000 7T (20104 : A R
#7,238,000T) * EE AR
SRATTF ZF B U A0, R
DETE o



Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

Bt 75 3R 3R B 5 ()

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

31 Financial Risk Management and Fair Value 31

(Continued)

(c) Market risk (Continued)
(iii) Foreign currency risk

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk primarily
on bank deposits, other receivable and bank loan of the
operations to which the transactions relate. The
currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily Hong

Kong dollars and US dollars.

The Group's assets and liabilities denominated in US
dollars as at 31 December are set out below:

Cash and cash equivalents
Other receivables

Trade payables

Bank loans

BehkBeEFEEY
Ho A & WK
B 5 RN
RITER

Gross exposure arising
from recognised assets
and liabilities

Notional principal amounts
of forward contracts

ERREERABIED
B

EHRANNBREAT

Net exposure arising from
recognised assets
and liabilities

ERAEERAEIIEN
7% [

(BEEEAN  RAREIIR)

BEEREERAAEBE

mERkE &)
(iii) S # 2 f

AN B/ HNE [E B E E K
BUINEHBZRITRE
FHMEREARBITE
FoRNEREEBRERZ 2
BEEB LN EY - 5|
e EEITEZABBRE
7_|:o

AEBERI1I2A3THHBE
TR EEERGEHY WD
T

The Group
rx&E
2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR T
32,508 2,646
— 121
(6,522) (8,459)
(31,017) (17,437)
(23,129)
10,961
(12,168)

BEFEBRERERAT 2011FFR



Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
Bt 7% 3% 3R B &F (48)

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  UAREIIR)

31 Financial Risk Management and Fair Value
(Continued)

(c) Market risk (Continued)
(iii) Foreign currency risk (Continued)

The Group received approximately HK$2.4 billion from
the global offering. In order to mitigate the exchange
risk arising from the appreciation in the value of
Renminbi against HK dollars, the Company converted
major into RMB. The following table set out the Group’s
financial assets and liabilities denominated in HK dollars
as at 31 December.

31 BHEABEERRAREE

(&)

() mMEBRAK =)
(iii) S5 2 (1)
7R £ M U ER B & BB B
BERIELEN BB B
TT o ARIE A RS s T A
EmHINERR - AR R A
A TS R IEE MR AR
Mo TR YA EE N2
A3BUBTHENS®

BEERAE-
The Group
AEHE
2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AR T T
Cash and cash equivalents ReRkRReZEED 251,644
Bank loans RITE R (11,003)
Other receivables H A FE UK 698
Other payables H b fE 1 5K (2,957)
Net exposure arising ERRAEERAMESIEN
from recognised assets F BB
and liabilities 238,382
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
Bt 7 3Rk R B &F (48)

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  RAREIIR)

31 Financial Risk Management and Fair Value 31 BIBREREER A AEBE

(Continued) (%)
(c) Market risk (Continued) () miBZERAK &
(iii) Foreign currency risk (Continued) (i) Sh#E R feg (48)
Sensitivity analysis BRE D
The foreign currency sensitivity analysis is calculated HNEE S BX FE 5 #T TH AR IR AN
based on the major net foreign currency exposure of EEREEHNEENE
the Group as at the balance sheets dates, assuming 5% FRBITE(REARE
shift of RMB against US dollars and Hong Kong dollars. HETEBITLAESY I )
S -
Results from a 5% strengthening of the RMB against ARBHZETRAT EFA
US dollars and HK dollars on the profit after tax and 5% - HEZ=12A3181LF
retained profits as at 31 December are shown below. E R BRI RF RMKN12A
This analysis assumes that all other variables, in BMTENRBREMNNZEN
particular interest rates, remain constant. Teolt DM BREME LM
SRR EMNE) R

Increase/(decrease) on profit after
tax and retained profit

2, Od) BRBIREFIR

RERF
2011 2010
Effect in RMB RMB’000 RMB'000
DARBSHENTE ARBTR AR®ETT

US Dollar ETT 456
HK Dollar B (11,919)
A 5% weakening of the RMB against US dollars and HK ARBHETRBTHA
dollars as at the same dates would have had the equal R EETB®S%EAHEEE
but opposite effect. HREBER -

BEFEBRERERAT 2011FFR



Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
Bt 7% 3% 3R B &F (48)

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  UAREIIR)

31 Financial Risk Management and Fair Value 31 BIBREREER A AEBE

(Continued) (%&)

(d) EXEHE

(d) Capital management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for
other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group uses different measures including adjusted net
debt-to-equity ratios to monitor its capital. Net debt is

SHEREANBERA/RELRS
FiFEOEE S ARBRRREM
BERALTRHE®RENE R
FELERNEBARKE KNK
7 o

AEBEEATRER BELH
BFEBREALE UERHEER

Ko FEHUNAGHEERABRMN
THREE(BRERKE RN
EENMRE)BRRE RRITHER
(TERBERENRTESRFE
Bh -BEXNAHEEAGBR
IR BRERBAER(BIAR
AREREARGEEEZERD HE

calculated as total borrowings (including loans and
borrowings and bills payable), as shown in the consolidated
balance sheet less cash and bank deposits (excluding frozen
bank deposits). Total capital is calculated as equity holder’s
funds (i.e. total equity attributable to equity holders of the
Company), as shown in the consolidated balance sheet.

B -
The Group
rE
2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET R ARBTFT
Loans and borrowings (Note 27) B3k & A8 5 (Y 5E27) 31,359 158,440
Bills payable (Note 26) FE T =& (Kt EE26) — 11,124
Total borrowings FENEEAN 31,359 169,564
Less: Cash and cash equivalents W ReERREEEY
(Note 24) (BI=E24) 2,581,563 2,759,273
Pledged bank deposits (Note 23) BEEHIRITHER (M EE23) 63,050 32,904
Net debt FER (2,613,254) (2,622,613)
Total equity attributable to RRAFIRREGERERE
shareholders of the Company 3,802,698 3,730,815
Adjusted net debt-to-equity ratio KRB FEEERL (0.69) (0.70)

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to
externally imposed capital requirements.

RRR REEMANERRHEZRER
SMEBFEINEY B AR ESK
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

31 Financial Risk Management and Fair Value
(Continued)

(e) Fair value
The carrying amounts of all financial assets and liabilities
carried at amortised cost approximate their respective fair
values as at 31 December 2010 and 2011 due to the short
maturities of these instruments.

(f) Estimation of fair values
The following summaries the major methods and assumptions
used in estimating the fair values of financial instruments.

(i) Securities
Fair value is based on quoted market price at the
balance sheet date without any deduction for
transaction costs.

(ii) Derivatives
Forward exchange contracts are either marked to
market using listed market prices or by discounting the
contractual forward price and deducting the current
spot rate.

(iii) Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
The fair value is estimated as the present value of future
cash flows, discounted at current market interest rates
for similar financial instruments.

B 75 3R 2% B & ()
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  RAREIIR)

BHEREER A LEE
(%)

(e) DREE
FrEREHEKNTINENSREE
FEENEAEEEESZER
2010 K201 F12A31H M A
AEBEEE RAZRZEITAN
EIEAR AR H -

() 2REENEESE

TX*E%L%””\M‘&I REE

MEBZTARBR

(i) &&*F
/Aﬁ{ﬁfﬁﬁﬁz%%ﬁ B &
BHREGME T8RS
XA

(i) #T£T A
EHNEAH IR LTS
B RFRAHEHER
YHBBITHEEER -

(iii) #EE A K &>
iR ERRE R GE A
/Lf,\TEZ%*;Kiﬁﬁﬂwim
RBE ZEUSRTANSE
RECEIES K
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
Bt 7% 3% 3R B &F (48)

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  UAREIIR)

32 Commitments

(a)

Capital commitments, outstanding at 31 December not
provided for in the financial statements were as follows:

Contracted for 254

32 EE

(@ MI1I2A3NBEEXBEELRTER
IR R BENEARRENT

The Group
rEE
2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR T ARETT

11,226

At 31 December, the total future minimum lease payments
under non-cancellable operating leases in respect of land and
properties were payable as follows:

Within one year —F A
After one year but within five years —FRERFA
After five years hFiE

(b) MI12A318H TABUEKEEHE
TH T 5L R Y% B A R 2R &

BEEHEWT
The Group
REE
2011 2010
RMB'000 RMB’000

AR T ARETT

12,125 11,479
10,757 11,533
3,350 6,031

26,232 29,043

The Group leases a number of land and properties under
operating leases. The leases run for period from one to
twenty-six years, certain of the leases are with an option to
renew when all terms are renegotiated. None of the leases
includes contingent rentals.

Yashili International Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2011
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
Bt 7 3Rk R B &F (48)

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  RAREIIR)

33 Material Related Party Transactions 33 EABERFRS
During the year ended 31 December 2011, the directors are of the REE201MF12A3MBIEFE R
view that related parties of the Group include the following EERAEAEENBEEABIEATA
individuals/companies. /NI
Name of related party Relationship
BELES e

Mr. Zhang Likun, Mr. Zhang Lihui, Mr. Zhang Liming,
Mr. Zhang Lidian, Mr. Zhang Libo and

Ms. She Lifang (collectively referred to as “Zhang's Family”) the Controlling Shareholders
SRFHRSAE RFESL A - RFBELEA - RFMELE -

RMEEERKES X+ (GEBAIKRKRK] AR R
Shantou Zhang's Investment Co., Ltd.

(“Zhang's Investment”) (“SIUZBSR CIRE BRRAA]") (i) Under common control of the Controlling Shareholders
AWEERKIEEBR QB ([REFRE D) 12 AR AR R B FE R 2
Haoweijia Food Co., Ltd. (“Haoweijia Food")

(BERFRERMARAA) () Under common control of the Controlling Shareholder
BRiFrRERMARAR(THFRERSD®) PR IR AR SR B FE B4
Chaoan County Anbu Yingjia Paper and Under the control of a close family member of a director

Plastic Products Factory (“Yingjia”) of the Company
e G iR g EARB R mR ([ &£ 3) REARAR —HREENHRBIES
()  The official name of the entity is in Chinese. The English () EREFZWMAPXERE EX

translation of the name is for reference only. EHEHRS2E

BEAEBRZERERAT 2011F5FH



Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

B 7% 3R 2% B o ()
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  UAREIIR)

33 Material Related Party Transactions (continved) 33

Particulars of significant transactions between the Group and the
above related parties during the year are as follows:

(a) Recurring transactions

Sale of packing materials to HESEMMET
Haoweijia Food FIRER M@

Purchase of preserved fruit products BEFRERMEE
from Haoweijia Food RRE

Rent of property and plant BERKIEEHEMER
from the Zhang's Investment B

Purchase of plastic spoons and covers BEEEBEBRGRER
from Yingjia =F

BERXBERIRS @)

AEBEN EEETRABBEADN
BEARSHBWT :

(a) BEMEXRS

The Group
rE
2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T R ARETT

2,572
5,004
2,789

6,093

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that the
above related party transactions were conducted on normal
commercial terms in the ordinary course of business.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

B 75 3R 2% B & ()
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  RAREIIR)

33 Material Related Party Transactions (continves) 33 B XKEEEF X H (%)

(b) Balances with related parties (b) EEREE R &R
(i) Amounts due from related parties () EWEELE
The Group
rEE
2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARETT
Trade related 2 5 HEERIE
— Haoweijia Food — R ERR 1,432
Other receivables from H b & R IE
— Haoweijia Food —IFRER R 24
1,456
(i) Amounts due to related parties (i) EEELE
The Group
AEH
2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BT R AR®ET T
Trade related 2 5 RIE
— Yingjia — & 1,157
— Haoweijia Food —IFRER R 3,356
Advance to Zhang's Investment & 1< 5k X 3% & 53
Other payable to Zhang's HiEMNKRRKKRE
Investment —
4,566
The amounts due from/to related parties as at 31 Br BBy & 5B AN - FR20M
December 2011 were expected to be recovered/repaid F12A318 & W TE B
within one year. EHRBEEBHER —FA

Wm EEFAERRTHE
BH/BEFBROER
e

BEFEBRERERAT 2011FFR ,‘ ;



Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
Bt 7% 3% 3R B &F (48)

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  UAREIIR)

34

35

36

Non-adjusted Post Balance Sheet Events

Final dividend

After the balance sheet date the directors proposed a final dividend.
Further details are disclosed in Note 30(b).

Parent and Ultimate Holding Company

At 31 December 2011, the directors consider the immediate parent
and ultimate holding company of the Group to be Zhang
International investment Ltd., which is incorporated in BVI with
limited liability and beneficially owned by Zhang's Family. This entity
does not produce financial statements available for public use.

Accounting Judgements and Estimates
Key sources of estimation uncertainty are as follows:

(i) Impairment loss for trade and other
receivables
As explained in Note 2(l), the Group makes impairment loss
for trade and other receivables based on the Group's
estimates of the present value of the estimated future cash
flow. Given the uncertainties involved in estimating the future
cash flow of individual customer, the actual recoverable
amount may be higher or lower than that estimated at the
balance sheet date.

(ii) Provision for inventories

As explained in Note 2(k), the Group’s inventories are stated
at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Based on the
Group’s recent experience and the nature of the inventories,
the Group makes estimates of the selling prices, the costs of
completion in case for work in progress, and the costs to be
incurred in selling the inventories. Uncertainty exists in these
estimations.
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34

35

36

KPARGHEHBARSER

%?+.%
&n
%

‘EHEH ’é EEERERARAER
B o FHADE BHEUR MY RE30(b) ©

BRAAIRGRERR A

R2011F12R31H  BEERRNEBE
TEHEAMA LT HRRREERSE
EMAERETAARKEBREEAR
RABAKSENEBY AR R&ERIE
BRAR - Z BRI ERE RIS Ww K H
NRER -

AR
T EEHTREENEENT :

() EZREMERIBNRE
B8
WM EE20) Pt - NERERIBEH Y
EEFARAESRENREFELH
fbEt E B R EMEKKEH
AR B 1R - R A EHE B E P R
ARBAERES R AEERE
WERAKRESEAESRHE

REEEHZ b5
(i) FERE

B R FT A - AN B FE A
AR BRFEME ZREE
SRR o RIBA SR E T IR & S 1r
EME AKEREE EEM
SEIRAREERFERELNK
AELGE - ZFR/ A FETHE
EE -



Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

36 Accounting Judgements and Estimates
(Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Impairment loss for property, plant and
equipment

As explained in Note 2(l), the Group’s makes impairment loss
for property, plant and equipment based on the Group's
estimates of the recoverable amount. Uncertainty exists in
these estimations.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences and tax losses are recognised to the extent that it
is probable that future taxable income will be available
against which deductible temporary differences and tax losses
can be utilised. The outcome of their actual utilisation may be
different.

Bt 75 3R 3R B 5 ()

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  RAREIIR)

36 =T H B R e

(iii)

(iv)

ME BERRBHRE

B8

IEERE20) P - AR EARFE &

AERSENGEAEYE  BE
REEHRERBE - ZEMHE

BIFETHEEME -

EEBBEE

A A HURE B E R R
BRETEHRBEEIAAIER R
KERBUA R A 8H A R E
RUHEEZBEEREERRRER -
HERMANGERAESEHRT
A o

BEAEBRZERERAT 2011F5FH /‘



Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEEAN  UAREIIR)

37 Possible Impact of Amendments, New 37 BZ2011512A831H1&F
Standards and Interpretations issued but EHE BMHmERERNIE
not yet Effective for the Year ended 31 A HEARZEMNIA
December 2011 =&

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the IASB has BERLZEUBREAERD BEg
issued a number of amendments and Interpretations and new ST EeD BMZHEEZ20114F
standards which are not yet effective for the year ended 31 NRANBLEFERRERNBEZEY
December 2011 and which have not been adopted in these R EREMAOIEE]  FHEEZ
financial statements. These include the following which may be BoT3AEANEBRABNER -

relevant to the Group.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after

RUTEHR2AMBNSTHBER
|

Amendments to IAS 12, Income taxes 1 January 2012
(BBt ERDE12RANERT  FEH 201241 A1 H
Amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of financial statements 1 July 2012
(EF g ERDE1RANERT - BB HRERATIHK 2012F7A1H
IFRS 9, Financial Instruments 1 January 2013
(BRMBHREEIDFIRK M ITA 20131 A 1H
IFRS 10, Consolidated financial statements 1 January 2013
(BRI B B s 5 2ERIDSE105% - & S Sk 20131 A1H
IFRS 13, Fair value measurement 1 January 2013
(BRI MmEERDE I3 A BENE 201341 A1H
IAS 27,Separate financial statements (2011) 1 January 2013
(EBR s ERDE275  EFM B MK 201351 A1 H
Revised IAS 19, employee benefits 1 January 2013
RIZETCREBR T ERADE 195 - BERF 20131 A1H
The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the AEEBFAETEZEFE uﬁEHﬂE’\E—W
impact of these amendments is expected to be in the period of FERBENTZ - Bl AEERA
initial application. So far it has concluded that the adoption of them EMZEEITTRAEEAEENK
is unlikely to have a significant impact on the Group’s results of EHEBERVBRAENEATE -

operations and financial position.
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Five - Year Financial Summary

A FHBEE

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for FHEKEZMBRERTBREZ AEE B
the last five financial years, as extracted from the published audited A REEAHI%E BERBEWET -
financial statements and the Prospectus, is set out below.

The table below sets forth our summary income statement information Tk #7| A EBRFRBABH KRS EHE
for the periods indicated: K

Year ended 31 December
BE12A31BLEE

RMB million ARBEET 2007 2008 2009 2010
Turnover EER 2,957.8
Cost of sales 35 & B A (1,419.5)
Gross profit ES| 1,538.3
Other revenue EH U A 28.7
Other net (loss)/income Hi (BB1E), W %58 ()]
Selling and distribution costs ﬁﬁ%&%& kAR (1,061.9)
Administrative expenses THHEX (185.5)
Other expenses HEHX (X))
Profit/(loss) from operations wERA (&) 313.0
Finance income B 5 Uz A 65.1
Finance costs B 75 B AR (2.7)
Net finance income/(expense) BRI A (B A ) JF 58 62.4
Profit/(loss) before income tax SRR N 1D

(E1#8)
Income tax expense Frisfim X
Profit/(loss) from continuing BEKESEBRRN,

operations (B#E)
Discontinued operation ZQiZ@M%ﬁ%
Loss from discontinued operation RS EGER
(net of income tax) (TDIS%F)T ")

Profit/(loss) for the year FEHF(EE)
Profit/(loss) attributable to AR AL RER,

(E#)
Equity holders of the Company RRARREREA
Non-controlling interests FE 12 e =
Profit/(loss) for the year FEHF(E8)

BEREBRZRERAIA 2011F5H ,‘ ,‘




Five - Year Financial Summary (continued)

T FEMBHRE (&)

The table sets forth our summary balance sheet information as of 31
December 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010 and 2011:

RMB million

ARBBRET

2007

T K # 5l 7K &= B 722007 4 - 20084 + 2009
£ 2010 R2011E12ANEBHNEERRE
ERBER:

As of 31 December
M®12A31H

2008 2009 2010 2011

Non-current assets EREBEE 731.4 1,056.8 1,007.1 992.5 1,039.5
Current assets mENEE 939.3 856.2 1,216.4 3,488.2 3,604.1
Current liabilities Uk R=RE 1,050.9 1,886.2 896.2 696.2 806.3
Net current assets/(liabilities) RBEE/(AE)FHE (111.6)  (1,030.0) 320.2  2,792.0 ENLEYE]
Total assets less current liabilities & E R AT E & 619.8 26.8 1,327.3 3,784.5 3,837.3

The financial information for each of the three years ended 31 December
2009 has been prepared upon the Reorganisation as if the group
structure, at the time when the Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange,
had been in existence throughout the years concerned. The results for
each of the three years ended 31 December 2009, and the assets and
liabilities as at 31 December 2007, 2008 and 2009 have been extracted

from the Prospectus.
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